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Leading the way through
sustainable mining and
dynamic thinking

Setting
...a uniquely pioneering role
Millions of years ago the earth was busy creating what
would become one of our greatest assets. This would
change our lives forever….Abundant vegetation was
converted into the most economically viable source
of energy known to humankind. Relatively easy to
extract and easy to convert into energy, “COAL” as
we know it, now generates almost half of the world’s
electricity.

Wescoal Holdings Limited mines, processes, supplies, sells and
distributes coal. In FY16 revenues exceeded R1.5 billion with
total coal sales approaching four million tons on an annualised
basis. Listed on the main board of the JSE, its key strategic thrust
is to be a leading coal miner with a sustainable resource base
and a coal trading operation
Khanyisa, Intibane and flagship Elandspruit Collieries provide
the core production for the mining company. In excess of
80 percent of Wescoal product is supplied to Eskom as part of
the company’s long-term strategy. In establishing Eskom as its
major client Wescoal took into cognisance that it is estimated the
utility would need around 200 Mtpa of coal by 2018 and that
South Africa would need 40 more coal mines at an investment
of R110 billion (M&G 11 March 2009).

From a tiny flame into a gigantic
furnace, this huge
energy resource has
changed the way we
live.
From the most
humble, to the
enormous cities, this
vast resource ignites our world
into endless possibilities, no
less on the African continent.

Wescoal aims to grow within this market
with the immediate goal of becoming the
leading junior coal miner in South Africa.
To help meet this demand Elandspruit
is realising a steady state production of
2Mtpa while both Khanyisa and Intibane,
which are close to Eskom’s Kendal Power
Station and export rail sidings, make their
own contributions.

The Wescoal approach is to enhance our environmental protection policies which together with our
aggressive safety audits and social responsibility programmes forms the backbone of our ongoing
sustainability for the group.
Wescoal has embarked upon a strategy to position the company as an employer of choice, focusing
on a number of initiatives including aiming for zero lost time injuries, enhancement of the working
environment and a more inclusive process for staff.
Management’s aim is to see the group impact positively on all stakeholders and contribute to the
development and growth of South Africa by extracting and marketing resources in a sustainable and
responsible manner.
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the scene…
The history of coal mining in South Africa is closely linked to the economic
development of our country. It started in the Eastern Cape in 1864 expanding
to KwaZulu-Natal and the Witwatersrand in the 1880s as first the discovery
of diamonds and then gold fuelled this growth.

Today coal’s vital role in South Africa’s
energy-economy delivers 70 percent
of the primary energy consumption,
93 percent of electricity generation and
30 percent of petroleum liquid fuels.

In the middle of the last century, the country entered a
period of major economic development with power
stations being built to supply energy to the
expanding industrial infrastructure and
growing urban population. Coal mining
companies also developed an export
market leading to South Africa’s role as a
major international supplier of coal.

….and it is in this scenario
that Wescoal is carving
itself a pioneering
and unique role in
contributing to the
demand for cost effective
energy and improving the
lives of all South Africans.

The Elandspruit mine, 8km from Middelburg in Mpumulanga is the
flagship mine for the mining division providing enormous potential to the
sustainability and profitability of the Group. Elandspruit has mineable
in situ reserves of approximately 34 million tons and an expected lifespan
of up to 15 years. It is close to Wescoal’s coal processing plant which
completes the cycle in providing quality product to clients.
The Wescoal Trading Division is a strategic distribution company that
specialises in the supply of bulk and bagged coal by road and rail to diverse
customers and industries throughout South Africa and neighbouring
countries. It places Wescoal in a unique position of servicing the domestic
market together with a mining division.

The Coal Distribution Centre in Bellville
in the Western Cape is the first of
its kind ‘carbon capture’ site where
switching transportation from road to
rail eliminates emissions of 350 road
vehicles. The product does not go to
ground
during
transportation,
transhipment
or
bulk storage during
this process.

Wescoal is an integral part of the value chain which coal provides for the South African economy in
employment, income, energy supply and contribution to GDP. It has as such, embraced the country’s
constitutional and legislative provisions for redressing historical socio-economic inequality and discrimination
central to government’s economic transformation strategy of empowering Historically Disadvantaged South
Africans (HDSAs).
The Group continues to consolidate and increase profits, growth and sustainability under a new and
highly experienced management team that has adopted a focussed approach to reviewing opportunities,
business systems and risks, and alignment with best practice.
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Scope of report
Wescoal Holdings Limited (“Wescoal” or “the Group”) operates in
South Africa and is involved in the mining, processing, supply, sales
and distribution of coal and coal-related products.
This report includes the consolidated annual financial statements
of Wescoal Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries for the financial
year from 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016. The previous year’s
annual financial statements were published in September 2015.
In addition, the report comprises feedback from the Chairman and
CEO, as well as reports on the activities and performance of the
Group and sustainability assessment. A resources summary, which
is SAMREC compliant is carried in full on the Wescoal website
www.wescoal.com/our-business/resources-statement.php.
These are all discussed in conjunction with an evaluation of risks within
the Group and the communication and interaction with stakeholders.
External financial assurance for the annual financial statements
was provided by the Group’s independent external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. The financial statements were prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
the requirements of the South African Companies Act, No 71 of 2008,
and regulations of the JSE Limited (JSE).

Any queries regarding this Integrated Annual Report or its
contents should be directed to:

Bothwell Mazarura
Chief Financial Officer

Tel: +27 11 049 8611 I Fax: 011 570 5848
Email: bothwell@wescoal.com
Head Office: 1st Floor Cypress Place, 142 Western Service
Road, Woodmead.

Board responsibility statement
The Wescoal Board of directors confirms its responsibility for
the integrity of the Integrated Annual Report, the content
of which has been collectively assessed by the directors who
believe that all material issues have been addressed and are
fairly presented.

Robinson Ramaite
Non-executive Chairperson
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GROUP
OVERVIEW
Wescoal at a glance
Wescoal Holdings Limited is involved in the mining, processing,
supply, sales and distribution of coal and coal-related products.
Its profitability is derived from two divisions, namely Mining
and Trading. The Mining Division consists of three mines and a
processing plant located in the Mpumalanga province and the
Trading Division is made up of five depots countrywide and a
logistics network covering southern Africa.
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Milestones

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Financial
[FY15: 15.4cps]
[FY15: 15.7cps]
[FY15: R46.2m]
[FY15: 43%]

GROSS PROFIT
increased to

R251.7 million
(2015: R219.6 million)

OPERATIONAL
EBITDA

up 42%

Sustainability

• B
 EE shareholding increased to over 40%
• Operationalised Elandspruit Colliery
• Finalised terms of long-term Eskom offtake contract for Elandspruit
• Obtained water use licenses at Intibane
and Khanyisa
• Khanyisa life of mine extended to around
2020

• E
 xcellent safety record
• Dust and noise level
lowered

Corporate governance

Operational

Safety,
health and
environment

OPERATIONS

• HEPS up 76% to 27.1 cps
• EPS up 67% to 26.2 cps
• Operating profit up
118% to R100.9m
• Improved gearing ratio
to 29%

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Shareholders
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GROUP OVERVIEW (continued)

Mission

Vision
Our vision is to be the
leading junior coal
miner with a sustainable
resource base and a coal
trading operation.

2005
July:
Wescoal Holdings
Limited, listed
successfully on the
AltX Board
of the JSE

Our mission is to mine,
process and market
coal and coal-related
products.

2007

2008

2009

2010

March:
Mineral Recoveries
acquired the
technology licences
to upsize coal
fines into saleable
products

April:
Chandler purchased
the business of
Atlantis and Express

June:
Wescoal purchased
prospecting rights
from Proudafrique

July:
Wescoal moved
its listing to the
JSE Main Board,
Mining, sub-sector
Coal

HISTORY
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October:
The mining
operations at
Heuwelfontein
were bought to
establish Khanyisa
Colliery near Kendal
in Mpumalanga
with in situ coal
resources of
4.5 million tons
December:
First coal is mined
and extracted from
Khanyisa Colliery

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Leadership
OPERATIONS

Values

Corporate governance

Wescoal is dedicated to:
• Development of employees;
• Maintenance and promotion of
their safety and health;
• Creation of a culture of trust and
respect; and
• Respect for the environment and
the communities.

We strive for wealth creation
for all stakeholders and the
country as a whole.

2014

July:
Awarded mining
licences for Intibane
Colliery

April:
Intibane Colliery
awarded Water
Use Licence and
commences mining

July:
Extension of life of
mine at Intibane to
2016

July:
Wescoal entered
into various
transactions with
Xstrata to increase
life of the mine by
15 years

November:
Wescoal acquired
MacPhail business

August:
Wescoal acquired
processing plant

2015
April:
Elandspruit Water
Use Licence issued

July:
First coal from
Elandspruit Colliery
November:
Rights issue raised
R52-million

2016
January:
Khanyisa’s Life of
Mine extended by
three to four years

December:
Intibane Colliery
issued a Water Use
License
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wescoal’s roots in the coal business go back more than
8 decades.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

2013

Sustainability

2012
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GROUP OVERVIEW (continued)

Business
PROFILE
Group ownership

Holdings Limited
100
%

100
%

100
%

Wescoal Mining
(Pty) Ltd

Wescoal Mineral
Recoveries (Pty) Ltd

Wescoal Trading
(Pty) Ltd
previously Chandler Coal (Pty) Ltd)

100
%

100
%

Proudafrique (Pty) Ltd

Blanford 006 (Pty) Ltd

100
%

100
%

Wescoal Exploration
(Pty) Ltd

JJP companies

(JJP) GED 16 (van gedeelte 2) van
Vlakvarkfontein 213 (Pty) Limited
(JJP) GED 6 (van gedeelte 2) van
Vlakvarkfontein 213 (Pty) Limited
(JJP) RES GED 2 van plaas
Vlakvarkfontein 213 (Pty) Ltd

Strategic intent
Sustainable coal mining business which delivers value to stakeholders throughout the business cycle in the context of the
economy and our natural, social and political environment. Wescoal has grown its coal mining assets and extended the life
of mines to provide the Group with a consistent and meaningful source of product. The company will continue building on
its assets that include three collieries, processing plant and trading business.
Deliver financial growth
Be the leading junior coal miner with sustainable resources
Cautious growth ambition with controlled costs
Maintain focus on Safety, Health and Environment (SHE) a priority
Develop and enhance relationships with customers and stakeholders
Become an HDSA controlled Group
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Six capitals

Risks and mitigations
Update

HDSA
ownership
of Wescoal

•

Process to achieve HSDA control by December 2016
is progressing

•
•

HDSA ownership increased to over 40%

Wescoal
funding

•
•
•

Raised R52m of Share Capital in November 2015

•
•

Gearing reduced from 43% to 29%

•
•
•

Commitment to Eskom re: HSDA 50%+ ownership

•

Wescoal’s strategy is for long-term off-take
agreements secured a five-year ESKOM contract
during August 2016

•

Coal export plan developed which targets up to
1Mtpa exports in the medium term

High reliance
on Eskom
coal supply
contracts

Consider alternative long-term debt funding options
Repay/refinance expensive short term debt

Multi-pronged Eskom engagement strategy
Development of non-Eskom revenue streams

Commitment to ESOP as part of overall plan to
increase HDSA ownership

Significant debt reliant on long-term off-take
agreements with customers, the group secured
R73.5m funding with Investec during August 2016.

Mining

Corporate governance

Response

OPERATIONS

Risk

Leadership

Wescoal is focussing on creating value through its business model going forward by adhering to the Six Capitals
which encapsulate quantitative and qualitative information of the organisation’s activities.  The Capitals – natural,
manufactured, intellectual, human, social and financial – show how the company‘ draws on capital inputs and
through its activities transforms them into outputs.

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Khanyisa Colliery (in Mpumalanga, west of Ogies, in close proximity to Kendal Power Station and sidings on the rail network)

Elandspruit Colliery (in Mpumalanga, close to Middelburg)
Wescoal Processing Plant (in Mpumalanga, close to Middelburg and close to sidings on the rail network)

Trading is a leading coal distributor in South Africa with a network that extends to neighbouring countries. It is a strategic
distribution company that specialises in the supply of coal by road and rail to the point of consumption, to diverse customers and
industries throughout South Africa, including blue chip companies ranging from power generation to manufacturing sectors.
The company offers a complete range of coal products, including small nuts, industrial peas and duff at its operations countrywide.
Its products and services include:

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Trading

Sustainability

Intibane Colliery (in Mpumalanga, west of Ogies, in close proximity to Kendal Power Station and sidings on the rail network)

Sourcing suitable coal product for clients
Securing the delivery of product as and when required

Securing markets for new producers such as other junior coal miners
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Technical support for steam generation
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GROUP OVERVIEW (continued)

mpumalaNga
gauteng
north west
swaziland

free state

kwazulu-natal

Wescoal Mining areas of
activity
Wescoal Trading depots
• Isando
• Pretoria
• Worcester
• Bellville LQ facility
• Stanger offloading site

eastern cape

FIVE

depots
western cape

THREE
mines

distribution nation-wide and
to neighbouring countries

ONE

processing plant

Geographic
footprint
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2016

GROUP OVERVIEW

09

Leadership
OPERATIONS
Corporate governance

Groblersdal

Dullstroom
Machadadorp

Waterval Boven

Middelburg
Wescoal Elandspruit Mine

Wescoal Processing
Khanyisa Complex

Intibane Complex

mpumalaNga

Bethal
Ermelo

Increasing
use of rail
to reduce
carbon
footprint

Silverbank

Standerton
Piet Retief
Verblyden

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Balfour

Sustainability

Belfast

Witbank

Wakkerstroom

Shareholders
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LEADERSHIP
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Leadership
OPERATIONS
Corporate governance
Sustainability

Human capital –

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Wescoal realises competencies,
capabilities and experience
aligned with the organisation’s
governance framework, risk
management and ethical
values. The leadership
understands, develops and
implements the organisation’s
strategy through management
and collaboration.

Shareholders
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LEADERSHIP (continued)

Chairman’s message

The outstanding
“
financial and

operational
achievements speak
for themselves. Most
importantly they say
to the market: ‘Wescoal
is well positioned for
sustainable growth
off a robust platform’,
and to shareholders:
‘The confidence you
have placed in the
transformation process
and the team is now
paying dividends.

Robinson Ramaite
Non-executive chairman

The key
strategic
thrust

remains to be a leading
junior coal miner with a
sustainable resource
base

Priority is
given to
health and
safety
throughout the
operations

We strive to

benefit the
community

where our footprint
impacts on
their lives

Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2016

diversity and
Transformation
are key goals

”
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Leadership

Wescoal has successfully undertaken the process of transforming
from an entrepreneurial entity to a corporate enterprise with a
robust balance sheet allied to a strategy focused on sustainability.
This approach is anchored by a best practice paradigm in the
entrepreneurial spirit and feed the company’s appetite for
growth and development.

The process for me as chairman is highly satisfying and FY16
features as a good year – a top line highlight in my spell as nonexecutive chairman as it must be for all Wescoal stakeholders.

The transformation and diversity taking place within Wescoal
on a number of levels is well advanced. Not only is this
indicative in the executive management team, it is also found
in the 42 percent black-owned equity; but also in gender parity
particularly at Board level where Wescoal performs well above
the industry average.

Wescoal is uniquely positioned as both a miner and supplier of
coal with the Trading Division a leader in market distribution.
Here too, wherever possible, the cleaner transporting of coal via
rail is our transport method of choice.
Finally, as we move into a new era for the Group, sincere thanks
to my Board for their unswerving support, dedication and input
which during this period has demanded exceptionally long hours.
I also encourage the executive team having completed their first
year at the ‘coal face’ to redouble their efforts in meeting the
challenges that growth in the organisation presents.
I also extend my thanks to all shareholders and other stakeholders
who have actively contributed when it counts to Wescoal to
bring the FY16 to a successful conclusion.

Shareholders
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Our key strategic thrust remains to be a leading junior coal miner
with a sustainable resource base and a coal trading operation
but this does not exclude opportunities in a challenging business
environment where Wescoal sees itself as a significant participant
in the consolidation of the junior coal sector.

The country depends heavily on coal as a source of economic
value, employment and energy. The commodity contributed
over eight percent to the GDP and is the third largest employer
according to Stats SA. Wescoal is making its contribution in
this arena and at the same time we focus on restoring mined
land to its original state and take great care to ensure the
local communities are not affected by operations while finding
benefit where our footprint impacts on their lives.

Sustainability

CEO Waheed Sulaiman and his new executive team have
delivered a positive result of increased headline earnings per
share (HEPS) and a profit allowing Wescoal to declare a dividend.
In essence we were able to deliver on our commitment to create
value and to provide satisfactory returns for shareholders with
Wescoal now in a good position to be able to take advantage of
growth opportunities going forward.

Priority is given to the health and safety of every employee. The
Group’s efforts at every level have brought about a very low rate
of lost-time injuries and no fatalities in the past two years. This
approach, coupled with environmental best practices, dictates
the passage to becoming an employer of choice.

Corporate governance

In the year under review, the company has proved a beacon
in an industry beset by difficulties on all fronts with the added
stresses of the global commodity slowdown.

The Wescoal platform for sustainability is being built on the
Six Capitals which encapsulate quantitative and qualitative
information of the organisation’s activities as a strategy for
creating real and sustainable value.

OPERATIONS

A corporate enterprise with an
appetite for growth
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LEADERSHIP (continued)

Chief Executive Officer’s report

The BEE
“
shareholding has
increased to over 40%
and it is Wescoal’s
declared intention to
reach over 50% HDSA
ownership by the end
of 2016.

”

Waheed Sulaiman
Chief Executive Officer

KHANYISA
LIFE OF MINE
EXTENDED
3 TO 4
YEARS

EARNINGS
PER SHARE

up

69%

HDSA
OWNERSHIP

over

Sustainability focus adds value for
stakeholders
Wescoal has focused on building a sustainable business by
implementing best practice found in the essential six capitals –
manufactured; human; social; natural; intellectual and financial
with a view to impacting positively on all its stakeholders
throughout the business cycle.
The approach has resonated with shareholders and local
communities alike, the former in the form of added share
value and the latter in being provided with long-term security
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40%

in a harmonious, safe working place with due concern and
application to environmental needs.
Wescoal is once again starting to flex its muscles as a leading
junior coal miner despite the global pressure on the mining
industry, and coal in particular. The company has come through a
watershed year with its fair share of challenges. In the operational
arena it brought the flagship Elandspruit Colliery successfully
online without any major health and safety incidents in keeping
with the high standards set at its other collieries.
Financially, we have made significant progress through the
introduction of cost-effective efficiencies; careful cash flow

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Leadership

management and cost-cutting. This has resulted in reducing
overall debt and freeing up working capital.
The first six months’ efforts were primarily directed at
operationalising Elandspruit which culminated in the extraction
of first coal during July followed by building up to an annualised
monthly production of two million tons of ROM a year.

Intibane Colliery Water Use Licence has been granted and we
are in discussions with various parties to finalise an appropriate
coal supply contract. Site activity has been ramped up and
production will be increased to its steady state target of more
than 50kt per month ROM. Potential exists to extend this
resource through acquisitions from neighbouring mineral right
holders.

The future
We will continue implementing our risk-based approach to
managing the business and assessing growth opportunities in a
considered fashion. We will focus on managing costs to ensure
a solid platform and stability for the Group and predictable
delivery in the operations as a priority. Growth initiatives will be
skewed towards diversifying existing revenue streams.
Implementation of the strategy to position Wescoal as a
preferred employer continues and our commitment to safe,
sustainable business practices remain a cornerstone of our
operations.

Conclusion and appreciation
On behalf of the Board of directors and the Executive Committee,
I wish to thank all our stakeholders; our management team
and employees for their commitment to ensuring growth on
a platform of efficiencies and hard work; our customers and
suppliers for their continued support and our shareholders for
their confidence and investment in Wescoal.

Shareholders
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Wescoal Trading met expectations despite a difficult and volatile
environment. Multiple business interruptions and financial
stresses experienced by non-Eskom domestic coal consumers
impacted negatively on the division resulting in reduced overall
revenues. It also had to contend with increased credit risk and
continued pressure on operating margins. Cost-cutting and
productivity initiatives continue to bear fruit with limited success
in securing long-term coal supply contracts. In the face of these
realities and pressures, the trading business model continues to
evolve and adapt.

In summary, the Group has made substantial strides in
operational delivery, managing risk and laying the foundation
for a solid, sustainable business. This bodes well for the future
of Wescoal.

Sustainability

Regulatory authorities are assessing various submissions and
licensing applications in respect of mining activities at Khanyisa.
During the year, we successfully concluded the acquisition of
additional resources from neighbouring mining right holders
which will potentially extend Life of Mine by three to four years.
Commencement of mining is subject to standard regulatory
approvals from the DMR.

The Wescoal management team has seen a transformation
during FY16. Group functions, such as human resources
and legal, previously outsourced, are now staffed by skilled
permanent employees. The finance team has also been
strengthened through appointment of highly trained and
experienced key personnel. This has resulted in a much stronger
management talent pool and better alignment with industry
best practice.

Corporate governance

In November 2015, R52 million share capital was raised. These
funds were used to de-risk and expedite key elements of the
Elandspruit project which continues to deliver on its promises
with a steady state production of 2Mtpa. Benefits of this initiative
are evidenced in the group’s results. Elandspruit and continued
coal supply contracts to Eskom formed the foundation for
Wescoal’s performance.

Ramaite is the single largest Wescoal shareholder and the
non-executive Chairman. He is a former Director-General of
the Department of Public Service and Administration and sits
on a number of boards of other listed companies. The BEE
shareholding has increased to over 40% and it is Wescoal’s
declared intention to reach over 50% HDSA ownership by the
end of 2016.

OPERATIONS

Full year financial performance more than offset a muted first
six months. The results are encouraging and point to a bright
Wescoal future. Revenue was slightly down to R1 590 million
but HEPS increased by 76% to 27.1cps, EPS was up 67% to
26.2cps and operational EBITDA rose by 42% to R152 million
compared to 2015.

Wescoal’s transformation to BEE ownership began in 2007 with
a successful partnership with Waterberg Portion Proprietary
Limited (WPP). After the WPP dissolved, Robinson Ramaite and
other former members continued their investment in Wescoal,
holding 31.59% in March 2014. The relationship with these
shareholders is strong and based on business principles and
they continue to reaffirm their intention to increase their stake
in Wescoal.
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LEADERSHIP (continued)

Board of Directors
The core of the new and
younger management team has
brought a revitalised energy
coupled to broadened expertise
to the group. The disciplines
of legal, focused operational
financial management and
human capital have been added
to the extensive experience in
the production, mining, supply,
sales and distribution of coal.

Dr Humphrey
Mathe
Independent Director

Kosie
Pansegrouw

IZAK
van der walt

Non-independent
Director

Acting Chief
Financial Officer

Teresita
van Gaalen
Lead Independent
Director

Waheed
Sulaiman
Acting Chief
Executive Officer
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Robinson
Ramaite
Non-executive
Chairperson
(Non-independent)

Kabela
Maroga
Independent
Director

Robinson Ramaite

Waheed Sulaiman

Chief Executive Officer
BSc Chemical Engineering University of Cape Town and BCom
University of South Africa.
Years with the Group: 1

Izak van der Walt

Kosie Pansegrouw

Years with the Group: 7
Responsibilities at Wescoal: Member of the Board and
Audit Committee, Chairperson of the Remuneration and
Nominations Committee
Teresita is the principal consultant at tvg&associates specialising
in strategic development, business expansion and transformation.
As the Chief Executive of Changan southern Africa she was tasked
with rebuilding the Group and expanding the brand footprint. She
upgraded the representation footprint and skills levels for MAN,
TATA and Honda, heading up Commercial Motors in Botswana.
Teresita was Managing Director of Subaru Southern Africa for
the Barloworld Group where she also served on the Automotive
Executive Management Board.

Bothwell Mazarura (Post FY16 appointment)
Executive Director – Chief Financial Officer
Chartered Accountant (B.Acc.Sci)

Position: Executive Director – Chief Financial Officer

Experience: Bothwell previously held various senior financial
roles at Lonmin Plc from 2010, including Head of Group
Finance, Head of Treasury and Acting Chief Financial Officer.
Prior to joining Lonmin, he was a Partner at Deloitte, a position
he had held since 2002. Bothwell also spent some time in
the United Kingdom working for Deloitte. He also serves
the Cancer Association of South Africa (CANSA) as a nonexecutive director chairing the Audit and Risk Committee for
the organisation.

Thivha Tshithavhane (Post FY16 appointment)
Executive Director – Business Development
(BSC Chemical Engineering (UCT), MDP (Unisa))

Position: Executive Director – Business Development

Experience: Thivha is a chemical Engineer with operational,
process design and project management experience in the
mineral processing industry spanning over 12 years. He has
proven ability to manage multi-disciplinary projects and mining
production operations while holding Senior Management
positions (as Plant manager, Operations Manager and Works
manager) with Xstrata Alloys (Glencore Alloys). He has
extensive experience in minerals projects development, mineral
processing, plant design, and plant construction. He was
General Manager of United Manganese of Kalahari (UMK); an
operation consisting of opencast mine with a processing plant.

Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors
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Independent Non-Executive Director
MSc – Rhodes University, PhD – University of Natal
Years with the Group: 3
Responsibilities at Wescoal: Member of the Board,
Chairperson of the Social and Ethics Committee
Humphrey is a qualified geologist who is currently the CEO of
Tranter Resources (Pty) Ltd. Previously he was the CEO of Scinta
South Africa (Pty) Ltd, a coal resources company; the Executive
General Manager: Corporate Services at Exxaro Resources Limited;
and, prior to that, COO and Executive Director of Eyesizwe Coal
(Pty) Ltd, where he was in charge of the Eyesizwe coal mines and
growth opportunities. He has worked in the mining industry all his
life, and has in excess of 36 years’ experience.

Strategic Marketing. Unisa, Communications ‘CPRP’. Damelin,
Leadership and Executive Development. Gordon Institute
of Business Science, International Executive Development
Programme (IEDP). Escuela Superior de Administración
y Dirección de Empresas (ESADE), Madrid, Spain
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Dr Humphrey Mathe

Lead Independent Non-Executive Director
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Non-Independent Non-Executive Director
BCom (Accounting) – Rand Afrikaans University.
Years with the Group: 19
Responsibilities at Wescoal: Member of the Board, Audit
and Remuneration and Nominations committees.
Kosie is the Managing Director of Guvon Investments (Pty) Ltd, a
diversified company with direct and indirect investment in property
management and development, tourism, laundry, dry cleaning
and transport. He has vast business experience and serves on the
boards of various companies.

Teresita van Gaalen

Corporate governance

Acting Chief Financial Officer
Chartered Accountant (SA), holding BCompt, BCompt
Honours and CTA qualifications. He completed articles with
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Years with the Group: 1
Responsibilities at Wescoal: In addition to financial
reporting, treasury and funding of the business, strategic
execution and related controls to optimise financial
performance of the business, the key responsibilities
include the IT function, Insurance and Enterprise Risk
Management.
Izak has 14 years of experience in the mining industry with BHP
Billiton in various finance, capital investment, project management
and procurement roles spanning across Africa, Australia and
Singapore. Most recently served as divisional Financial Director to
the manufacturing business of Dawn Ltd.

Independent Non-Executive Director
Chartered Accountant, BCom (Financial Accounting) – University
of Pretoria, BCompt Hons/Certificate in the Theory of Accounting
– University of KwaZulu-Natal, Graduate Diploma in Engineering
(Mining Engineering) – University of the Witwatersrand.
Years with the Group: 2
Responsibilities at Wescoal: Member of the Board,
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
Kabela is a qualified chartered accountant with more than 13
years’ experience in the corporate financial environment. She has
held management positions in various sectors and is currently the
managing Director of Kabela Consulting. She was the Chairman
of Interactive Intelligence South Africa and is now Chairman of
KEW ICT Outsourcing and serves on several other boards including
Corridor Mining Resources, Sefateng Chrome and Recycling and
Economic Development Initiative of South Africa (REDISA).

OPERATIONS

Responsibilities at Wescoal: Waheed Sulaiman is the Chief
Executive Officer of Wescoal Holdings Limited.
Prior to this he filled the role of Wescoal Commercial and Strategy
Director. Before joining Wescoal he worked in various roles at BHP
Billiton’s South African operations.

Kabela Maroga

Leadership

Non-Executive Chairman
Master of Management (Public and Development Management)
– University of the Witwatersrand, BJuris – University of the North
Years with the Group: 9
Responsibilities at Wescoal: Chairman of the Board
Robinson is a former Director-General of the Department of
Public Service and Administration and a former advisor to various
ministers of parliament. He has been involved in the mining sector
for more than 10 years and sits on the boards of various listed and
non-listed companies.
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All details regarding the geology,
topography, climate, rainfall,
drainage, veld type, land type and
land use are contained in the full
Resources Statement at
http://www.wescoal.com/downloads/2016/Wescoal%20Resource%20Statement%20_May2016_Final.pdf
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2016
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Leadership

Operating Context

OPERATIONS
Corporate governance

Wescoal Holdings Limited mines,
processes, supplies, sells and
distributes coal. In 2016 revenues
were R1 590 billion with total coal
sales approaching four million tons
on an annualised basis. Listed on
the main board of the JSE, its key
strategic thrust is to be a leading
coal miner with a sustainable
resource base and a coal trading
operation.

Sustainability
ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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Mining Locality
Wescoal Mining primarily operates
in the Mpumalanga province
of South Africa in the Ogies,
eMalahleni and Middelburg areas.
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Machadadorp

Waterval Boven

Middelburg
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Belfast

Witbank
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Khanyisa Complex
The complex is located some 10km west of Ogies in
Mpumalanga. It comprises portions of the farm Heuvelfontein
215 IR. The location of the complex is 26.042950°S latitude and
28.973325°E longitude.

The Department of Water and Sanitation awarded a WUL to
Elandspruit in May 2015 allowing for development of the mine
under all the necessary compliance requirements. Diesel Power
was then appointed mining contractor and site establishment
started late May 2015 with the first overburden blast during
July. The first ROM was taken out of the box-cut during July
2015 to the stockpile on Elandspruit.
During early August 2015, sufficient ROM was stockpiled
at Elandspruit to initiate full production at Processing.
On 10 August, ROM from the box-cut was transported
to Wescoal Processing some 19km away for treatment.
On 31 August, the first of four short-term supply agreements
was finalised and during the second week of September,
Wescoal started delivering product to Eskom power stations.

A Water Use Licence (WUL) for the total integrated area has
been awarded.

During March 2016, the development of the box-cut was
completed and Elandspruit equipped to produce to its steady
state planned capacity of +165 000 tons ROM per month.

The Khanyisa Complex was on care and maintenance for the
majority of the FY16 while the WUL and other legal processes
were completed. A significant amount of backlog rehabilitation
was also done during this period.

Intibane Complex is located some 14km west of Ogies in
Mpumalanga. It comprises portions of the farm Vlakvarkfontein
213 IR, and covers an area of 167.78ha. The Intibane 2 area is
located adjacent and immediately to the north of the current
Intibane Colliery (Intibane 1). The R555 road passes to the north
of the property. The Kendal Power Station is situated 13km
east of the property. The location of the colliery is 26.059267°S
latitude and 28.888322°E longitude.

Elandspruit
The Elandspruit Mine is located eight kilometres west of
the town Middelburg. The site is approximately 200km
from Johannesburg. It comprises of portions of the farm
Elandspruit 291 JS.

The Wescoal Processing Plant is located approximately 19km
south of the town Middelburg. The processing facility is
currently the primary coal processing facility for the Elandspruit
Mine, but can be utilised for upgrading of ROM in the vicinity
if ever needed. The plant was purchased from Muhanga during
2014 and since then Wescoal has carried out various upgrades
and made changes to accommodate its customers’ product
quality and quantity requirements.
A major upgrade and improvement to the plant was the
addition of a radial stacker conveyor, designed to stockpile
more than 18 000 tons of finished product destined for Eskom
and Wescoal’s Quattro – Export customers.
The combined installed ROM treatment capacity is now proven
to be more than 175 000 tons per month. The upgrades to the
raw coal handling section enable more than 210 000 tons per
month to be crushed.
Wescoal’s market includes Eskom, exports and domestic endusers of small nuts, peas, grains and duff.

Resource executive summary

Sustainability

A WUL was awarded to Intibane 2 in December 2015. Intibane 2
ROM extraction will be possible, utilising mostly the same
infrastructure as for the initial mine. Wescoal is in continuous
discussions with Eskom to secure a supply agreement, but has
secured off-take agreements with various end users for its ROM.

Processing
Corporate governance

Intibane Complex

OPERATIONS

The process of consolidation of the Khanyisa Mining Complex
has been initiated. An application for consolidating the mining
rights of Catwalk and Triangle areas with Khanyisa is being
assessed by the DMR. The application is underpinned by a joint
venture in respect of the Triangle area, the mining right to which
will be incorporated with Khanyisa. Approval is pending the
finalization of the integrated EMP for the area and commercial
agreements relevant to the joint venture.

Leadership

The Khanyisa Complex comprises the previous Khayisa mining
area, the Catwalk- and the Tri-Angle area.

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited (Wescoal), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Wescoal Holdings Limited, is a coal mining and
exploration company with thermal coal assets located in the
Mpumalanga province of South Africa.
ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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DS Coetzee has been commissioned by Wescoal to produce
a Competent Person’s Report on the coal resources of the
following assets:

•

Khanyisa Complex, consisting of:

–– Khanyisa Colliery (mined out 2015/2016 financial year);
–– Catwalk; and
–– Triangle Project.

•

Intibane Complex, consisting of:

•
•

Wescoal Elandspruit Mine, and

–– Intibane Colliery (mined out 2015/2016 financial year); and
–– Intibane 2.
additional future opportunities and projects

–– Silverbank and Verblyden

Khanyisa Colliery and Intibane Colliery were mined out during
the 2015 – 2016 financial year. Only the tons mined for the
financial year and reconciliation will therefore be included
in this, May 2016, statement. During the year under review,
much progress has been made to extend the life of the mining
areas. Formal announcements to that effect will be made when
relevant.
Wescoal has written confirmation from DS Coetzee; PhD
Geology; Pr. Sci. Nat. Consulting Geologist; South African
Council for Natural Scientific Professions (SACNASP 400136/00);
746 29th Avenue, Villieria, Pretoria, South Africa that the
information disclosed herein, is compliant with the SAMREC
code and the required Table 1 and Section 12 requirements.
Confirming also that it may be published in the form and
context in which it was intended.
Table 1 below is a summary of the coal resources discussed in
the report. For full details of the resource statements, please go
to http://wescoal.com/downloads/reports/Wescoal_Resource_
Statement%20_May2016_Final.pdf.

Table 1: Summary of Wescoal’s Coal Resources
PROJECT

CLASSIFICATION

STATUS

Khanyisa
Catwalk
Triangle
Intibane Colliery
Intibane 2
Wescoal Elandspruit Mine OC
Wescoal Elandspruit Mine UG

N/A
Measured
Measured
N/A
Measured
Measured
Measured

Mined out (2015)
Care and maintenance
Pre-development
Mined out (2015)
Operating mine
Operating mine
Pre-development

Total

Measured

The author independently reviewed the coal resource estimates
prepared by Wescoal’s consultants for inclusion in the report,
and was confident that the coal resources contained in the
report was an accurate reflection of the coal in the ground
based upon current information.
These coal resources have been defined in accordance with
the SAMREC Code. The SAMREC Code requires the use of the
South African National Standard: South African Guide to the
Systematic Evaluation of Coal Resources and Coal Reserves
(SANS10320:2004) when classifying and reporting coal
resources and reserves in South Africa. SANS10320:2004 uses
the principle of relative distances from boreholes with quality
data for the classification of coal resources. This standard was
utilised by Wescoal’s consultants for all the projects.

GTIS (Mt)

TTIS (Mt)

MTIS (Mt)

–
1.51
11.18
–
3.06
27.30
11.21

–
1.28
10.05
–
2.60
24.57
10.42

–
1.28
10.05
–
2.60
24.57
8.51

54.26

48.92

47.01

Khanyisa Complex
The Khanyisa Complex refers to the combination of the Khanyisa
Colliery, Catwalk and Triangle resource areas. All the required
applications to combine the various areas into one mining right
area, the Khanyisa Complex, have been submitted to the DMR
for approval. A Water Use Licence (WUL 03/B20F/AGJ/4627) has
been granted for the integrated Khanyisa Complex.

Khanyisa Colliery
The colliery is located some 10km west of the town Ogies, in the
Mpumalanga province, South Africa and comprises portions of
portions 96, 97 and 103 of the farm Heuvelfontein 215 IR, and
covers an area of 212ha.
The Khanyisa Colliery was mined out during the 2015 – 2016
financial year. Going forward, the remaining 2 Seam Pillar Project
resource (partially portion 103; remaining pillars of previously
underground mining area) (Table 2) will be incorporated into the
Catwalk project for practical purposes.
The remaining Pillar Project resource decreased as a result of a
refined calculation and eventually 0.05Mt TTIS was incorporated
into the 2 Seam Roof Coal category and 0.05Mt TTIS into the
2 Seam Pillars category of the Catwalk resource.

Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2016

GROUP OVERVIEW

23

Table 2: Reconciliation of total and mineable tonnes in situ coal resources – Khanyisa Colliery
KHANYISA COLLIERY TTIS and MTIS RESOURCE TONNAGES – MARCH 2016

Seam

2016

TTIS Mined
(Mt)
(Mt)

Class

2 Seam OC Measured
2 Seam PP Measured

0
0.28

0.01
0.08

0.28

0.09

Raw Qualities (Air Dry)

Remaining Remaining
TTIS
Area
(Mt)
(Ha)
0
0

TTIS MTIS
(Mt) (Mt)

0
0.21

0
0

0
0

0.21

0

0

C.V.
RD (MJ/kg)

ASH
(%)

IM
(%)

VOL
(%)

TS
(%)

Catwalk is located some 10km west of the town Ogies, in the
Mpumalanga province, South Africa. It comprises portions of
the farm Heuvelfontein 215 IR, and covers an area of 81.70ha
immediately to the south of the Pillar Project. Tonnages and raw
coal qualities are summarised in Table 3.

The Company has on 29 May 2015 applied to the DMR, in terms
of section 102 of the MPRDA, for Ministerial consent to include
the Catwalk area into the Khanyisa mining right area.

The Catwalk resource now includes the Pillar Project resource,
which was formerly part of the Khanyisa Colliery resource. It was
incorporated partly into the 2 Seam Roof Coal category (0.05Mt
TTIS) and partly into the 2 Seam Pillars category (0.05Mt TTIS) of
the Catwalk resource.

CATWALK GTIS, TTIS and MTIS RESOURCE TONNAGES – MARCH 2016
Raw Coal Qualities (Air Dry)
Class

Area
(Ha)

GTIS
(Mt)

Geo
Loss

TTIS
(Mt)

MTIS
(Mt)

RD

C.V.
(MJ/kg)

ASH
(%)

IM
(%)

VOL
(%)

TS
(%)

2 Seam in situ
2 Seam Roof Coal
2 Seam Pillars
Excluded
Sterilised

Measured
Measured
Measured
N/A
N/A

3.87
37.68
11.08
0.60
7.56

0.27
0.74
0.50
0.22
0.21

15%
15%
15%
N/A
15%

0.23
0.63
0.43
0.17
0.19

0.23
0.63
0.43
0.17
0.19

1.49
1.56
1.55
N/A
N/A

24.8
22.2
23.1
N/A
N/A

19.1
25.1
24.1
N/A
N/A

2.0
3.9
3.3
N/A
N/A

23.6
20.9
22.4
N/A
N/A

0.8
1.1
1.1
N/A
N/A
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Table 3: Gross, total and mineable tonnes in situ coal resources – Catwalk

Corporate governance

The results obtained from 44 boreholes originally drilled
to calculate the Sarie Marais (partially portion 103;
within opencast mining area) and the Pillar Project
(partially portion 103; remaining pillars of previously
underground mining area) resources as well as boreholes SM79,
SM81 – SM88 that were drilled in 2014 were utilised to calculate
the resource of the newly defined Catwalk, to be mined utilising
opencast methods.

All the seams exceed the minimum thickness that can be mined
by opencast methods, hence no thickness cut-offs are applied.
The values of the critical quality parameters, namely calorific
value, ash content, inherent moisture content, volatile matter
content and total sulphur content as reflected in Table 3, implies
that all the coal meets or can be blended to meet the quality
criteria of the specific markets, therefore no quality cut-offs are
applied.

OPERATIONS

Catwalk
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Triangle Project
Triangle Project is located some 10km west of the town Ogies, in
the Mpumalanga province, South Africa. It comprises portions
of portions 11 and 103 of the farm Heuvelfontein 215 IR, and
covers an area of 55.60ha. The Triangle area is located adjacent
and immediately to the north of the current Khanyisa Colliery.
Tonnages and raw coal qualities are summarised in Table 4.

All the seams exceed the minimum thickness that can be mined
by opencast methods, hence no thickness cut-offs are applied.
The values of the critical quality parameters, namely calorific
value, ash content, inherent moisture content, volatile matter
content and total sulphur content as reflected in Table 4, implies
that all the coal meets or can be blended to meet the quality
criteria of the specific markets, therefore no quality cut-offs are
applied.

The results obtained from three historically and 13 recently
drilled boreholes were used to calculate the resource of the
newly defined Triangles area (Table 4), to be mined partly by
opencast methods and partly by underground methods should
permission be obtained to mine within the 100 metre restricted
areas from the pipeline servitudes passing through the property.

Table 4: Gross, total and mineable tonnes in situ coal resources – Triangle Project
TRIANGLES GTIS, TTIS and MTIS RESOURCE TONNAGES – MARCH 2016
Raw Coal Qualities (Air Dry)
Seam

Class

Area
(Ha)

GTIS
(Mt)

Geo
Loss

TTIS
(Mt)

MTIS
(Mt)

RD

C.V.
(MJ/kg)

ASH
(%)

IM
(%)

VOL
(%)

TS
(%)

4U Seam
4L Seam
2 Seam

Measured
Measured
Measured

51.5
51.5
55.6

3.21
2.80
5.17

10%
10%
10%

2.88
2.52
4.65

2.88
2.52
4.65

1.72
1.54
1.61

17.27
22.77
20.66

38.5
23.2
29.1

3.3
4.0
3.4

17.2
23.5
21.3

0.9
1.5
1.1

55.6

11.18

10.05

10.05

Total

Intibane Complex

Intibane Colliery (or Intibane 1)

The Intibane Complex refers to the consolidation of the
current mining right relating to portion 16 of the farm
Vlakvarkfontein 213 IR, referred to as Intibane Colliery and the
newly obtained mining right in respect of portion 2 of the farm
Vlakvarkfontein 213 IR, known as Intibane 2. A water use licence
(WUL 04/B20F/GJ/4181) has been granted for the Intibane
Complex (December 2015).

The Intibane Colliery resource was mined out by opencast
methods during the 2015 – 2016 financial year (Table 5).

Table 5: Reconciliation of total and mineable tonnes in situ coal resources – Intibane Colliery
INTIBANE COLLIERY TTIS and MTIS RESOURCE TONNAGES – MARCH 2016
2015

Seam

Class

4 Seam Measured
2 Seam Measured

2016

TTIS Mined
(Mt)
(Mt)
0
0

0.03
0.09

0

0.12

Remain
Area
Excluded
(Ha) Remaining TTIS (Mt)
0
0

Raw Qualities (Air Dry)
TTIS MTIS
(Mt) (Mt)

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

0

0
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Intibane 2

The Intibane 2 resource statement for portion 2 of the farm
Vlakvarkfontein 213 IR was prepared based on a resource model
created in Model Maker®, Surfer® and Micromine® by GM
Geotech. The entire asset will be mined by opencast methods.
A physical database was compiled from 22 boreholes drilled
under the supervision of, and described by, Gerhard Mulder
from GM Geotech in August 2013.

A Mining Right for Intibane 2 (MP30/5/1/1/2/476MR) was
granted to Minthiro Mining Proprietary Limited on 20 June
2010. A section 11 and subsequent section 102 process is in
progress; applications for the consent of the minister to amend
rights, permits, programmes and plans in terms of section(s) 11
and 102 of the MPRDA was submitted on 11 June 2015.

OPERATIONS

Coal resources as modelled and calculated up to 31 March 2016
are reported for Intibane 2. Total tonnes in situ coal resources are
reported for 4 Seam and 2 Seam. Cut-offs were applied to the

mining rights boundaries, the seam sub-outcrops and the limit
of weathering. All the seams exceed the minimum thickness
that can be mined by opencast methods, hence no thickness
cut-offs are applied. The values of the critical quality parameters,
namely calorific value, ash content, inherent moisture content,
volatile matter content and total sulphur content as reflected
in Table 6, implies that all the coal meets, or can be blended to
meet, the quality criteria of the specific markets, therefore no
quality cut-offs are applied. Tonnages and raw coal qualities are
summarised in Table 6.

Leadership

Intibane 2 is located some 14km west of the town Ogies, in
the Mpumalanga province, South Africa. It comprises partly of
portion 2 of the farm Vlakvarkfontein 213 IR, and covers an
area of 167.78ha. The Intibane 2 area is located adjacent and
immediately to the north of the current Intibane Colliery.

Table 6: Reconciliation of total and mineable tonnes in situ coal resources – Intibane 2
INTIBANE 2 – TTIS and MTIS RESOURCE TONNAGES – MARCH 2016

Seam

Class

4 Seam Measured
2 Seam Measured

2016

TTIS
(Mt) Mined
0.23
3.05

0.13
0.39

3.28

0.52

Remain
Area
Excluded
(Ha) Remaining TTIS (Mt)
10.97
28.84

Raw Qualities (Air Dry)
TTIS MTIS
(Mt) (Mt)

0.09
2.66

0.31
2.26

0.31
2.26

2.75

2.60

2.60

C.V. ASH
RD (MJ/kg) (%)
1.52
1.66

22.8
18.9

21.6
33.4

IM VOL
(%)
(%)

TS
(%)

3.9
3.2

1.1
1.0

23.7
21.4

Corporate governance

2015

Sustainability
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Elandspruit Mine
Wescoal Elandspruit Mine is located eight kilometres west of the
town Middelburg in the Mpumalanga province of South Africa.
The site is approximately 200km from the city of Johannesburg.
It comprises portions 29, 30, 32, 33, 34, 36, and 40, all of the
farm Elandspruit 291 JS. A water use licence (WUL 04/B11J/
ACGIG/3057) has been granted for the Elandspruit Mine.

The baseline coal resources were reported for 4 Lower, 3, 2 Upper,
2 Lower and 1 Seams are in “May 2014, Wescoal Elandspruit
Coal Resource Report”. The model was refined since May 2014.
Cut-offs were applied to the mining rights boundaries, the seam
sub-outcrops, the limit of weathering and cut-off seam thickness
of 0.5m for 4 Lower, 2 Upper, 2 Lower and 1 Seams and 0.3m
for 3 Seam. The values of the critical quality parameters, namely
calorific value, ash content, inherent moisture content, volatile
matter content and total sulphur content as reflected in Table 7,
implies that all the coal meets or can be blended to meet the
quality criteria of the specific markets, therefore no quality cutoffs are applied.

The Wescoal Elandspruit Mine resource statement for portions 29,
30, 32, 33, 34, 36, and 40, all of the farm Elandspruit 291 JS was
prepared based on a resource model created in Geovia MinexTM
from base principles by CD van Niekerk, a geologist at Gemecs.
A physical database was compiled from 149 historical boreholes
and 33 more recent boreholes, at the time, drilled under
the supervision of and described by Gerhard Mulder from
GM Geotech. Samples from the first Tselentis programme
(“ELA” boreholes) were analysed at least three different laboratories
including Tans-Tugela, Middelburg and North Natal. At that time
the South African National Accreditation System (“SANAS”) did
not exist. Samples from the second Tselentis programme were
submitted to Middelburg Laboratory and McLachlan & Lazar
Proprietary Limited (now known as Inspectorate M&L), which
is currently SANAS accredited (Facility Accreditation No. T0313
complying with ISO/IEC 17025:2005). It is not known which
laboratory analysed samples from the Xstrata drilling programme.

Float and sink analysis results on selected boreholes are, however,
available. Recalculated tonnages and raw coal qualities as at
31 March 2016 are summarised in Table 7.
An additional 23 boreholes were drilled during the 2015 – 2016
financial year under the supervision of and described by Gerhard
Mulder from GM Geotech.
The mining operations will be partly opencast and partly
underground in different parts of the property depending on strip
ratios.

Table 7: Recalculated total and mineable tonnes in situ coal resources – Wescoal Elandspruit Mine
WESCCOAL ELANDSPRUIT MINE – RECALCULATED TTIS and MTIS RESOURCE TONNAGES – MARCH 2016
2016

2016

Raw Qualities (Air Dry)

*Recalculated
Baseline TTIS
Remaining*Remaining MTIS
(Mt) Mined Area (Ha)
TTIS (Mt) (Mt)

C.V.
( M J / ASH
(%)
RD kg)

IM
(%)

VOL
(%)

TS
(%)

17.9
14.9

3.6
3.0

21.3
31.1

0.9
3.1

20.78
14.88
21.72
21.85

29.9
43.4
28.3
28.5

3.0
2.5
2.9
2.7

19.9
18.6
20.7
22.1

0.8
0.9
0.8
0.9

1.40 25.10
1.40 26.82
1.52 21.79
1.55 23.1
1.53 22.1

18.6
16.6
27.9
25.4
28.9

3.3
2.5
2.7
2.5
2.2

21.2
31.0
22.8
22.9
22.6

1.0
3.2
1.5
1.1
0.9

Seam

Class

4L Seam OC
3 Seam OC
2 Seam
Merged OC
2U Seam OC
2L Seam OC
1 Seam OC

Measured
Measured

1.37
0.70

0.01
0.01

107.4
55.3

1.36
0.69

1.36
0.69

1.42 25.35
1.38 27.38

Measured
Measured
Measured
Measured

5.06
3.22
5.01
10.55

0.68
0.00
0.00
0.64

335.7
205.6
366.5
752.6

4.38
3.22
5.01
9.91

4.38
3.22
5.01
9.91

1.59
1.71
1.53
1.54

25.91

1.34

0.98
0.55
3.09
2.07
3.73

0
0
0
0
0

Total underground

10.42

0

Total resource

36.33

Total opencast
4L Seam UG
3 Seam UG
2U Seam UG
2L Seam UG
1 Seam UG

Measured
Measured
Measured
Measured
Measured

24.57 24.57
77.2
44.6
197.3
151.3
269.2
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0.98
0.55
3.09
2.07
3.73

0.21
0.00
3.09
2.07
3.14

10.42

8.51

33.99

33.08
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Executive and operational management team
Chief Executive Officer
BSc Chemical Engineering University of Cape Town and BCom
University of South Africa.
Years with the Group: 1
Waheed Sulaiman is the Chief Executive Officer of Wescoal Holdings
Limited. Prior to this he filled the role of Wescoal Commercial and
Strategy Director. Before joining Wescoal he worked in various roles at
BHP Billiton’s South African operations.

Vikesh Dhanooklal

Vikesh holds BA and LLB degrees from the University of KwaZuluNatal, and is an admitted Attorney of the High Court of South Africa,
with over 16 years of post-admission experience. He previously held
positions in the field of Mining and Property Law with two major
mining houses.

Bongani Hlope

Bongani Hlophe has been appointed Group Human Resources
Executive for Wescoal Holdings Limited. He brings 15 years HR
experience in mining, banking, petroleum and civils projects to the
position of heading up the HR division.

Ettienne Strydom

Business Development & Projects Manager: Wescoal Mining
BCom Financial Management. Strategic Financial Analysis at
Harvard Business School.
Years with the Group: 5
Ettienne began his career in consulting as Programme
Director/Manager, Business Integration Specialist and Business
Development Manager at Deloitte Consulting, T-Systems and BHP
Billiton respectively. He was Programme Manager for the Sasol
IM Oryx Project in Qatar responsible for the technical, functional
design and implementation work of the business structures and
systems. He held senior positions in Lonmin and has consulted
with companies in the mining field.

Dutch Botes

Head of Wescoal Mining
Years with the Group: 5

Sustainability

Dutch is a qualified mining, electrical and mechanical engineer who
has over 34 years’ experience in the mining sector. He was the Chief
Executive Officer at Umcebo Mining, a significant junior coal mining
house. While in his position at Umcebo Mining, Dutch successfully
brought six new coal mines into production, including an underground
operation at Klippan Colliery. Prior to joining Umcebo Mining, he was
General Manager at various BHP Billiton Energy Coal South Africa
operations, including Middelburg Mines, Khutala Colliery, Optimum
Colliery, Koornfontein Mines and Delmas Colliery. He was also General
Manager of Hotazel Manganese Mines, an operation consisting of
underground and opencast mines with various processing plants,
including a sinter operation.

Corporate governance

Head: Group Human Resources
Started in 2015.

General Manager Operations: Wescoal Mining
National Diploma in Coal Mining; National Higher Diploma in
Coal Mining; B-Tech Mining Engineering qualification and a Mine
Manager’s Certificate of Competency.
Years with the Group Wescoal: 4
Bonani has extensive coal mining experience, having previously
worked at BHP Billiton Middelburg Mine and with HCI Coal.
In addition he was employed as Coal Supply Unit Manager at
Eskom for three-and-a-half years He is a member of SACMA
(South African Colliery Managers Association).

OPERATIONS

Group Legal Adviser & Company Secretary
Started in 2015.

Bonani Siko

Leadership

Waheed Sulaiman

Mike Berry

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Head of Wescoal Trading
Chartered Accountant
Years with the Group: 16
Mike is a Chartered Accountant by profession with five years’
experience in Corporate Finance and an additional five years’
experience in Mergers and Acquisitions and Corporate Recovery. For
the past 19 years Mike has been involved in the Coal Merchant and
Distribution industry.

Shareholders
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Capital outcomes report (continued)

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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Leadership

STAKEHOLDERS

OPERATIONS

• Evaluation is constantly
under review at Group
level as well as in the
Mining and Trading
divisions including site
visits for shareholders
and media

Corporate governance
Sustainability

Active
Corporate
Social
Investment
initiatives

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Shareholders
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Stakeholders
A stakeholder evaluation is constantly under review at Group level as well as
in the Mining and Trading divisions.
This Integrated Annual Report addresses only the high-level initiatives.
Engagement with stakeholders takes various forms, including informal
meetings, calls, customer meetings, staff meetings, communities, newsletters
and formal meetings with regulators.
Stakeholders

Engagement

Material issues raised

• Interim and final results

• Long-term life of mines
• Earnings and sustainability

presentations and
teleconferences

• An active website is in place
• Dissemination of information
Shareholders

of the company

• Dividend payments and
succession planning

through a defined contact list

• Mergers and acquisitions
• Calls with strategic shareholders • HDSA
if and when required
• BEE
• Regular site visits and investor

Action
• A concerted effort to change the focus of

the business from predominantly a coal
trading company to a coal mining company
is in progress

• Assets are actively being increased
• Additional executive management has been
added to support succession planning and
corporate activity initiatives

open days to mining facilities

• Regular engagements with key
shareholders

• Active corporate social

investment (CSI) initiatives

• Community participation and
assistance

• Meetings with representatives
from organisations supported

Communities
and civil society

• Active assistance and

support once mining
operations at a particular
site are completed and
rehabilitated

• Active and financial support

• Support for local sports teams by supplying

soccer and netball kits, soccer boots, netball
shoes, balls, nets and other accessories
and equipment

• Ongoing sponsorship and support for

administrator (for 12 months)
and upgraded school gardens

Embalenhle Primary School through
provision of stationery, painting and
renovations, upgrading of ablution facilities.

• Donation amounting to

R25 000 to White Rose Hospice

• Compliance with DMR

administrative requirements,
reporting, correspondence,
formal meetings and feedback
sessions

Regulators

of grading of roads for accessibility of the
villages, especially after heavy rains or
erosion
sports grounds

Imbalenhle Primary School
children to and from school;
electricity units for the school
(every month).

• Payment of the school

Government
and
municipalities

chicken farm at Khanyisa

• Support of the Kendal community in terms

• Ongoing maintenance and grading of

• 2014 to 2016: Transporting

• Conference participation
• Meetings
• Industry body representation

• The ongoing running and support of the

• Transformation and

compliance with municipal
regulations remain key
drivers for Wescoal,
especially where operations
could impact communities

• Regulatory compliance

• Department of Mineral
Resources

• Department of Water Affairs

• Wescoal is committed to transformation and
has publicly stated its objective of becoming
HDSA controlled by December 2016

• Meetings with representatives of

municipalities whenever necessary

• Regular communication is maintained with
the DMR

• Monthly monitoring by consultants
• Annual reports are submitted, and

additional reports are submitted whenever
required by the DMR

• DMR visits and audits ensure constant
communication with the DMR

• Whenever necessary, remedial action and
rectification measures are implemented
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Stakeholders

Engagement
• Compliance with legislation:

employment

•
•
•
•
•
Employees

Communication
Training
Quarterly staff newsletter
Employee benefits
Regular briefing sessions to
workforce

• Promoting equal

employment opportunities
and fair treatment

• Prohibiting unfair

Action
• Eliminate unfair discrimination
• Employment Equity Policy
• Ensure that the Disciplinary Code and

other company policies address channels of
correction for unfair discrimination

discrimination

• Awareness of rules

• Ensure that there are no barriers to

and regulations in
the workplace

Leadership

–– Employment equity (EE)
–– Basic conditions of

Material issues raised
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employment equity

• Affirmative action measures
• EE reports in terms of the
Employment Equity Act,
No 55 of 1998

holidays, leave, termination
of employment

• Communication structures

in place to keep employees
informed

Department of Labour on progress of
EE plan

• Display BCEA at the workplace
• Ensure that a policy is in place to regulate
these conditions

• Pre-shift team talks, monthly forums, staff
newsletter

• Training plan in place to ensure competency
and development

OPERATIONS

• Regulation of working time,

• Annual submission of EE reports to the

• Employee competency
• Training
• Employee Benefits

Trade unions

• Advance economic interaction
• Development, social,
justice, labour practices
and democratisation of the
workplace transformation

• Media are invited to attend
interim and final results
presentations

Media

• One-on-one engagement with

• Collective bargaining
• Consultation in

• Recognition agreement conferring
bargaining rights and level

• Formation of Group EE Forum on

transformation

transformation

• Communications with

• One-on-one engagement with financial

all Wescoal publics on
the latest company
developments

and trade editors and journalists to ensure
that Wescoal’s strategy is well received and
accurately reported

Contractors

Suppliers

Financiers

• Discrepancies in outcomes – • Continual monitoring takes place to ensure

• Formalised business dealings,

• Competitive pricing

• Conscious effort to meet expectations

• Product quality

• Product quality from both the Mining and

• Database of suppliers kept

• Overseen across the Group and

• Delivery of products

• On time delivery is strived for across

• Loan agreements and

• Wescoal has kept its providers of finance

(SLAs), outsourced contract
agreements

meetings, telephone
conversations, credit checks
and reviews

• One-on-one business dealings,
presentations on product
features and correspondence

• Formal meetings, updated

status meetings and feedback
sessions

Good relationships and
production according to
planning

SLAs and outsourced contracts are adhered
to and followed – Daily reports, weekly
production monitoring meetings and
monthly reporting against plan

structures

and maintained

financing facilities to
Wescoal

where applicable

Trading divisions is continually monitored.
On the Trading side, the vast knowledge of
the quality of coal for various applications is
applied to continually monitor, record, and
address to improve service deliveries
updated accordingly

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Customers

• Service Level Agreements

Sustainability

• Circulation of press releases
• Media alerts through SENS announcements
• Monitoring of media exposure

financial and trade editors

• Regular site visits

Corporate governance

Programme

both divisions
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Shareholders

informed of all developments within the
company pertaining to credit requirements
vs overdraft requirements and the process
for settling debt
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Board committees and governance
Introduction

Chairperson

Wescoal’s Board of directors supports the principles of the
Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct (the Code) contained
in the King Code of Governance Principles and King report on
Governance (King III). Wescoal acknowledges the importance
of sound corporate governance and the guidelines set out in
the Code, (www.wescoal.co.za).

The non-executive Chairperson, who is not independent,
is Robinson Ramaite. The Board delegates its responsibility
for ensuring the effectiveness of governance practices to
the Chairperson. He leads the Board and is responsible for
representing the Board to shareholders. As required in terms of
the Listings Requirements of the JSE, the role of the Chairperson
is separate from that of the Chief Executive Officer.

Statement of compliance
The Listings Requirements of the JSE require that companies
report on the extent to which they comply with the principles
incorporated in the Code. The Code recommends that the
Chairperson be an independent non-executive director. It is
the Board’s opinion that as the Chief Executive Officer and the
non-executive Chairperson’s roles are separate; there is a clear
division of responsibilities at the head of the company, which
ensures a balance of power and authority, such that no one
individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.
A detailed internal assessment of the application of King
III principles and current levels of compliance is available on
Wescoal’s website (www.wescoal.com), (http://www.wescoal.
com/downloads/2016/WESCOAL-HOLDINGS-LIMITED-KING-IIICOMPLIANCE-ANALYSIS2016_V4.pdf)

Board of directors
The Board retains full and effective control over the company.
Apart from regular meetings, additional meetings are arranged,
when necessary, to review strategy, planning, operations, financial
performance, risk and capital expenditure human resources and
environmental management. The Board is also responsible for
monitoring the activities of executive management.

Appointments to the Board
The Board has adopted a policy setting out the procedures for
appointments to the Board. Such appointments are formal and
transparent and a matter for the Board as a whole, assisted by the
Remuneration and Nominations Committee.
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To further strengthen the Board, Teresita van Gaalen is the lead
independent non-executive director.

Composition of the Board
The Board comprised three executive directors and five nonexecutive directors in the period under review. The nonexecutive directors are free to make their own decisions and
judgements. They enjoy no benefits from the company for their
services as directors other than their fees, potential capital gains
and dividends on their interests in ordinary shares and options.
The non-executive directors are high-calibre professionals and
sufficient in number for their views to carry significant weight
in the Board’s deliberations and decisions. The guidelines
contained in the Listings Requirements of the JSE were used to
test the category most applicable to each Director. The names
and biographical details of each of the directors are set out on
page 17 of this Integrated Annual Report.

Company secretary
Vikesh Dhanooklal was appointed as Company Secretary on
23 of November 2015. The Board is satisfied that the Company
Secretary is suitably qualified, competent and experienced
to provide guidance in matters relating to governance and
that all directors have access to the Company Secretary. The
Company Secretary is not a director of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and the Board is satisfied that an arm’s length
relationship exists.

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Board meetings held during and subsequent to the financial year ended 31 March 2016
1 June

18 Jun

2015

2015

2015

2015

2015
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19 Oct

5 Nov

13 Nov

2 Mar

17 Mar

2015

2015

2015

2015

2016

2016













Apology

































Apology



Apology





Apology











































































Eleven Board meetings were held during the financial year
ended March 2016. Board meetings are convened by formal
notices incorporating a detailed agenda.

Board committees
While the Board remains accountable and responsible for
the performance and affairs of the Group, it is assisted in
the discharge of its duties by a number of sub-committees
as follows:
Audit and Risk Committee;
Remuneration and Nominations Committee;
Social and Ethics Committee; and
Project and Investments Committee.

The Independent Board

A process of deep transformation at the core of the organisation
brings about new pressures.
Maturation of the changing business model demands focus
on securing long-term stability to deliver value to a broader
society as well as all stakeholders and stockholders alike and
this has placed increasing responsibility on the Board to act in
an anticipatory and proactive manner across its portfolios, as
well as in its duty of care and oversight and while carrying out
and discharging fiduciary duties.
These responsibilities also demand more time and attention
particularly where there is the introduction of new core
strategies alongside growth and expansion plans that are
allied to board duties as is the case at Wescoal today. As an
example, in keeping with today’s organisational behaviour and
best practice, engaging with senior managers on critical issues
facing the company demands increased interaction between
the Board and across to members of the management team
below executive level with the CEO playing a pivotal role in
this process based on transparency and a two-way sharing of
information.

Shareholders
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The Independent Board is positioned by the Board of Directors
to preside over corporate activities for good governance and
where necessary to preside where any possible conflict of
interest that may exist, where regulations call for an independent
governing body. It comprises independent non‑executive
directors who are not active shareholders and who are not
affiliated with the executives of the firm, directors who have no
business dealings with the company. The Independent Board
is expected to provide vigilant oversight to mitigate risk to
promote shareholder value and in the period under review dealt
with the Rights issue. The Independent Board also exercises its
responsibilities in areas such as M&A oversight procurement
Research and Oversight of strategic Procurement.

Transformation at the core

Sustainability

•
•
•
•

It is in this context the Board has positioned the Independent
Board which is comprised of three independent non-executive
directors; Teresita van Gaalen (LID), Kabela Maroga (CA)SA and
Dr Humphrey Mathe (PhD) FGSSA.

Corporate governance

Board meetings

OPERATIONS

Robinson Ramaite
(Chairman)
Teresita van Gaalen
(Non-executive director)
Kosie Pansegrouw
(Non-executive director)
Humphrey Mathe
(Non-executive director)
Kabela Maroga
(Non-executive director)
Morné Du Plessis
(Executive director)
Waheed Sulaiman
(Executive director)
Izak van der Walt
(Executive director)

13 Aug 18 Aug 25 Aug

Leadership

1 Apr
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Transformation of the company in how it operates through
steadfast focus on compliance and BEE equity composition,
demands strict adherence to the principles of corporate
governance. The challenges of a depressed resource sector
globally; an unpredictable market environment and erratic
global economies, have demanded exceptional time and input
from the Board in general and independent directors as the
governance ‘standard-bearers’ in particular.
In managing the above challenges, it becomes critical for the
Board to be rigorous, robust and effective as a highly efficient
functional work group. To this end directors attended two
seminars on governance and JSE Listing Requirements which
included the JSE LR.
In this scenario of the macro, trust is essential and the ethical
manner in which areas of conflict are managed require
transparency and impartial, independent governance.

Wescoal Remuneration and
Nominations Committee report
Wescoal Holdings Remuneration report for the financial year
ended 31 March 2016 focuses on the remuneration philosophy
of the company. The company’s remuneration practice and
changes made in the period are regarded as milestones resulting
in a positive outlook to the structured approach in the way we
will manage remuneration as a strategic area of activity.
The period saw high activity in support of mediumterm strategy for Wescoal characterised by extensive and
fundamental change at the core of the organisation and its
leadership structures. A radical change in risk management saw
the average age of the executive team move from 60-plus to a
comfortable 45 years of age – without sacrificing experience in
mining but introducing revitalised energy in the application and
deployment of talent.
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The introduction of a robust process designed to develop and
entrench a fresh corporate culture made FY16 one of the most
important years in the history of Wescoal. The embedding of
this approach represents the foundation upon which three
developmental pillars were positioned, these are:

•
•
•

transformation;
corporate alignment; and
performance measurement and reward

Results posted to date show measurable value creation for
shareholders and all other stakeholders, which translates into
stability for the organisation and profitable growth.
The culture change is geared to protect Wescoal’s ability to
attract and retain talented people – an imperative to achieving
the business objectives and to position Wescoal as an employer
of choice. This has allowed the creation of career opportunities
and leadership development plans that serve to support role
succession and personal growth strategies. The long-term
benefits from this process should ensure the organisation has
the right people and that vacancies can be ostensibly filled from
within.
Alignment with business objectives is today underpinned by
well-defined contractual Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) at
Wescoal. This is critical to sustainability alongside the forging
and implementation of innovative growth strategies.
The new dispensation is reinforced by the positioning of a
resident Human Capital Executive and supported by a welldefined performance measurement programme which presides
over the reward/variable pay practice. In this role, Bongani
Hlophe has managed to put in place best practice across all of
the facets of the HR portfolio in the short period since joining
the company.

GROUP OVERVIEW
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KEY HIGHLIGHTS
Reliable succession planning

Strategy

Performance measurement

Rewards programme

Governance

New performance contracts

Strategic objectives defined

The company has also undertaken some key changes in the
year with the departure of the Group Chief Executive Officer
and the Group Chief Finance Officer, both mission critical roles.
The confirmation of Waheed Sulaiman’s appointment as Group
CEO enabled other critical appointments at executive level
including senior mining engineer Thivhafuni Tshithavhane as
Executive Director Business Development.

The Remuneration and Nominations Committee’s belief is that
the revised approach will unlock sustainable performance value
from within the organisation and drive the new executive. It will
also serve as a catalyst for introducing a robust performance
management programme linked to short-term variable reward
and retain talent through the long-term incentive programme.

Bothwell Mazarura (CA)SA joined Wescoal as Chief Financial
Officer on 1 July 2016 after six years at Lonmin and extensive
international practice. Izak van der Walt who has served in an
exemplary manner as Acting CFO and Financial Director will
serve as Group Financial Manager and director of the subsidiary
boards.

The company relies on a short-term incentive scheme to align
individual and team performance to contracted outcomes. This
has been reviewed to develop an aggressive and performancelinked incentive model which was approved in March 2016.

The report is in two segments; dealing with governance and
policy and how these are rolled out in the year under review.
The Remuneration and Nominations committee is satisfied
that the principles outlined in the King Code of Corporate
Governance in respect of directors’ remuneration (principle
2.25) and section 30(6) of the Companies Act 2008 have been
adhered to.
The stage is set for a strong FY17 underpinned by a culture of
high performance.

Shareholders
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Teresita Van Gaalen
Chairperson of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee

Sustainability

The approach addresses the need for consolidation away
from third-party service providers at the higher management
echelons. This also enables control which is achieved through
the payroll as well as the entrenchment at the leadership level
of the outcomes-driven approach.

Remco has adopted an approach more aligned towards best
practice and have focused this report on given clarity in the
communication with shareholders by illustrating how our
remuneration practices reinforce our philosophy being “pay for
performance”.

Corporate governance

The process of reviewing the long-term incentive also began
in this period and will be ready for implementation in step
with the approval of the required allocation of shares to the
Share Incentive Trust, inter alia, to accommodate a share-based
long‑term incentive plan across-the-board in the organisation.

OPERATIONS

FY16 has not been the easiest year for the mining industry with
productivity the main casualty. We have taken bold steps to
ensure that we ratchet up our basic remuneration and variable
pay to encourage performance and maintain contracted output
to our customers.

Leadership

Reducing average age of the
executive from 60 to 45

Managing continuity risk
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REMCO and Nominations Committee meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March 2016

Teresita van Gaalen
(Chairperson)
Kosie Pansegrouw
(Member)
Humphrey Mathe
(Member)
Waheed Sulaiman
(Invitee)
Bongani Hlophe
(Invitee)
Vikesh Dhanooklal
(Company Secretary)

Part 1: Remuneration Governance
and Policy
The Remuneration and Nominations
Committee (REMCO)
The role of the Remuneration and
Nominations Committee
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee (“the
Committee”) is constituted as a committee of the Board of
Directors (“the Board”) of Wescoal Holdings Limited (“the
company”). The duties and responsibilities of the Committee
are in addition to those duties and responsibilities that
the Committee members have as members of the Board.
The Committee has an independent role with accountability to
the Board and shareholders.
The Committee provides reasonable assurance to the Board
that the remuneration of executives and prescribed officers
is market referenced and competitive, the disclosure is
accurate and transparent, that the Company’s remuneration
is comparable to sector comparators in terms of being a
percentage of operating cost. The broader terms of reference
of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee are outlined
in the Committee’s Charter.

Members of the Remuneration and
Nominations Committee
The Committee consists of at least three members of the
Board, with a quorum being two members. The Remuneration
and Nominations Committee are independent non-executive
directors being more than the required majority recommended
by King III. The Committee held three ordinary meetings and
four special meetings in the period as outlined above. The
Group Chief Executive and the Head of Human Resources
attend meetings by invitation to provide the relevant assistance,
insights and consultation in line with the Committee’s mandate.
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19 Feb

2 Mar

9 Mar

2016

2016

2016



































The main focus areas of the Remuneration and
Nominations Committee have been the following:

•

Review of the Short-Term Incentive Scheme and applicable
performance measures.

•

Review of the Company’s performance-based reward
relative to practices within benchmark companies.

•
•
•
•
•
•

Executive and general staff remuneration benchmarking.
Review and align the administration of the NED payroll.
Development of Company salary ranges.
Review of the job grading system.
Succession planning and executive recruitment.
Approval and recommendation of the Remuneration Report.

Remuneration policy
Significant changes have taken place in the remuneration policy
which can be reviewed in this document.
Wescoal’s remuneration approach reinforces our belief in
efficiently mining and selling coal and related products,
safely and responsibly. The remuneration approach of the
Company is informed by effective benchmarking through
our RemChannel™ subscription with PwC and takes into
consideration, inter alia, studies and reports on the executive
and non-executive remuneration by PwC and the JSE.
The Company considers its profile as both a coal mining
company and a coal trading company in its market
benchmarking approach via the coal mining market and the
national (all industries) market as comparators.
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Remuneration policy
External Equity

Ensuring that the pay relationship between jobs and
roles reflects relative pay for the work of relative value

Ensuring Wescoal salaries and the appropriate
benchmark market reflect our market competitiveness
to attract and retain talent

Leadership

Internal Equity

Form of remuneration
Variable Pay

Total package-based

Senior Management Incentive (Annual Bonus
Plan aligned to financial (performance))

Basic pay
Retirement benefits

•
•

To attract and retain the best available talent

•
•

To be market competitive

•

Takes into account sector benchmarking

To encourage a “peak-to-peak” performance culture to
drive shareholder value
The premise that employees must share in the sustainable
good fortunes of the Company

Junior Officer Incentive Scheme

Remuneration of executive directors
and prescribed officers
The remuneration mix of executive directors and prescribed
officers in support of the business strategic objectives is a
combination of fixed remuneration and variable remuneration
based on performance. In April 2016, the Board approved the
introduction of a new short-term executive incentive scheme.

Definition

Fixed

Total package

This fixed element of remuneration is inclusive of Company contributions to medical
aid and the provident fund. The remuneration policy provides for maximum 70/30 split
between basic cash and benefits components. This element is also known as guaranteed
pay and includes basic salary, allowances, retirement contributions, group life and
medical aid.

Variable

Short-Term
Incentive Scheme

The Board approved the replacement of the existing Short-Term Incentive Scheme with a
new incentive scheme for senior management and the executives. This annual incentive
will pay out in cash as the previous scheme, and is based on group and individual
performance outputs at the close of the financial year based on performance measures
and KPIs. The principles relevant to the scheme will be considered to cascade to all levels
of the Company running parallel to the full roll-out of the Performance Management
Programme to all staff from FY17.

The remuneration of the Group Chief Executive Officer and other prescribed officers is reflected in page 108 of this report.

Shareholders
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Element

Sustainability

Fixed/variable

Corporate governance

Key principles of the remuneration policy

OPERATIONS

Fixed Pay
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Total guaranteed pay (TGP)
The Company endeavours to pay fixed remuneration at the
median or the fiftieth percentile (P50) of its relevant benchmark
circle of companies. Although it may not pay on target at all
material times, the company conducts an annual benchmarking
to assess the relative positioning of salaries against the median
applicable to each job grade of level. The information from
the benchmarking conducted in the period under review
will inform the amendment of the Company’s medium-term
remuneration strategy.

The company implemented new TGP salary ranges based
on the Board approved Patterson grading system being the
preferred grading system for jobs and roles going forward from
2016. The monthly basic remuneration for all employees is
targeted to be relatively within the same Patterson salary range
applicable to them.

Benefits within the TGP
Workings

Benefits

Additional benefits

Compulsory for all permanent employees

Provident fund

Employees earning <R10 000 per month:

Life cover:
Group life cover – twice annual salary

•
•

•
•

Wescoal (employer) – 7.5%
Employee contributes between 0%,
2.5%, 5% and 7.5%

•
•

Family funeral plan

Group life of two times annual salary
Capital disability cover of two times
annual salary

Employees earning >R10 000 per month:

•

Group life cover of two times annual
salary

•

Income disability cover of 75% of
monthly salary

Short-term incentive scheme (STI)
Purpose

The fundamental aim is to improve organisational performance.

Participation

All employees are eligible for participation with the performance proportion between Group and
operating company being on a sliding scale with executive proportions being 100% on Group
performance and a lesser degree for lower level staff.

Operation

The operation of the scheme is based on a two-tranche payment being 60% in the first half of the
financial year in September and 40% at the end of the financial year in March. The formula is:
• for achieving target = potential bonus (monthly salary times two) multiplied by 50% of Potential bonus

•

for exceeding target = Potential bonus (monthly salary times two) multiplied by 50% of Potential
bonus plus an additional 0.5% of potential bonus for every 1% over the target budget.

STI limit

The limit of the STI payment as a percentage of TGP is 100%.

Performance measures
and percentages

The current STI is based purely on financial measures. Where an operating subsidiary exceeds its
budget, 25% of the surplus profit is pooled for distribution to employees. The incentive is activated by
the 100% achievement of budget. The financial measures included EBITDA.

Changes for 2016

The Board has approved a new executive and senior management incentive scheme for 2016, which
will measure both financial and non-financial measures. The financial measures include HEPS and NPAT
with the non-financial measures including transformation and business development. The activation
of the STI will be 100% achievement of Group performance and individual performance will be based
on achievement of individual performance relative to the contracted norm.

Contracts, severance and termination
Executive directors and prescribed officers have employment
contracts which include notice periods of a minimum 30 days.
There are no balloon payments on termination, automatic
entitlement to bonuses or automatic entitlement to share-based
payments other than in terms of the Company’s approved share
options incentive trust rules.
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Appointment of non-executive
directors
Non-executive directors appointed in the year are subject to
election by shareholders at the first Annual General Meeting
following their appointment after which they retire in
accordance with the Board rotation plan.

Wescoal Share Incentive Trust

As recommended by King III Board fees include both a base
retainer fee, and an attendance fee which are sufficient
to attract and retain suitably qualified individuals to
complement the skills mix requirements of the Board and its
sub-committees.

“Share incentive schemes form an important component of
employee remuneration packages, which provide benefits to
employer and employee alike. To the employer, the benefit lies
in securing tenure of employment of executive staff, affording
them a personal stake and thereby commitment to enhancing
the economic value of the company, which is then hopefully
reflected in a rising share price. The employee in turn is financially
rewarded through the appreciation in the market value of his or
her incentive shares.”

The fees are reconciled by the Human Resources Head and
Chief Financial Officer and approved for payment by the Group
Chief Executive Officer on a monthly basis.

Non-binding advisory vote

Part 2: Implementation of policies
for the review period
Summary of remuneration activities/
decisions for the year
Approval of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee
work plan for 2016

•
•
•

Review of remuneration policy

•
•
•

Annual salary review for employees and executives

•
•

Review of fees payable to non-executive directors

Approval of remuneration report
Review of shareholder feedback following Annual General
Meeting
Approval of short-term incentive targets for executives
Appointment of Head of Human Resources, the Chief
Financial Officer, Group Chief Executive Officer and the
Head of Group Legal (Company Secretary), Mining CEO
new 3-year contract
Implementation of a performance management programme

April 2015 total guaranteed pay
(TGP) Annual Salary Adjustment
All staff in the Company received an average 7% increase
to TGP.

In recent months [POST FY16] an independent Share Trust
Administrator accredited service provider was appointed to
manage and administer the activities of the Trust going forward.
These amendments, geared to ensure a strong and successful
future for which the Wescoal Staff Share Incentive Trust, will
require shareholder approval.
The Trust takes its cue from South African Institute of Chartered
Accountants (SAICA);
https://www.saica.co.za/integritax/2005/1302_Employee_share_incentive_
schemes_a_comparison_of_the_old_and_newly_promulgated_income_tax_
rules.htm

Non-executive director fees are as approved in the Annual
General Meeting and valid from that date until the next AGM.
For the increase of the non-executive directors’ fees please refer
to the notice of the AGM on page 117.

Shareholders
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Increase in non-executive director
fees

In addition to the ordinary business of the Trust, and in close
collaboration with the executive, the trustees have worked with
an advisory panel comprising legal counsel and the advisory
services of the external auditors PwC. The advisory panel was
tasked with a due diligence process and to identify requirements
for the facilitation of a new dispensation for the Trust and its
current and future beneficiaries. This includes compliance
processes, the development of a policy framework and a
benchmarking exercise to align Wescoal with best practice and
to attract and retain right-fit, high calibre professionals to the
team.

Sustainability

•

The Share Incentive Trust has been the focus of the executive
and trustees as a joint task team to, study the Trust rules and
properties for revision. This is to align the Group’s new strategic
outlook priorities for successful management of Wescoal’s
human capital.

Corporate governance

The main issues considered and approved by the Remuneration
and Nominations Committee in the period under review:

“Recently, and in line with the King Code to move towards
“performance-based packages” for executives, incentive share
schemes are relying to a greater degree on “performance
shares”, where the number of shares to be awarded is
dependent on the achievement of pre-determined targets.”

OPERATIONS

Shareholders are requested to cast a non-binding advisory
vote required by King III on part 1 of this remuneration report
at the Annual General Meeting to be held on Wednesday,
9 November 2016.

Still in the context of the SAICA guidelines and quoting directly
from the SAICA framework for Staff Share Incentives, “It is in
the nature of these share schemes to only provide benefits (real
and potential) to participants while they remain employees of
the company for a specified term. To this end, restrictions in one
form or another are invariably introduced into the rules of the
schemes to limit any benefit, should employer and participant
part ways under less than optimal circumstances.”

Leadership

Non-executive director fees
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Nominations
Functions as one alongside the
Remuneration Committee
The Committee exists to assist the Board in the effective
discharge of its responsibility to ensure that the Board has the
right composition, size, skills set and experience to represent
the appropriate diversity of people. It therefore comprises of
people with knowledge and a range of independent, varied
and informed views and the directors have appropriate
backgrounds for the task as well as the level of commitment
that is required. The responsibilities of the committee extend
to the election and installation of new directors, director reelection and the recruitment of key members of the executive
management team.
The Nominations committee plays the role of facilitator in
delivering the transformation objectives of the organisation.
Focus on gender and race diversity that is representative
throughout all levels of the business, operations and including
the Board has been set as the short to medium term imperative
while ensuring transparency in the process.
The Nominations Policy calls for a bi-annual Board selfassessment process which is guided by an independent, JSE
accredited body to ensure it measures effectiveness across key
areas such as the application of good corporate governance, the
discharging of the board’s responsibilities and the work of the
committees as well as measuring the balance of composition
and the skills set of the board against strategic imperatives.

The Committee must ensure:

•

It has adequate plans for the succession of its members,
including the Chief Executive Officer and the executive
team.

•

It has appropriate selection criteria and the necessary
processes for the identification of a diverse range of suitable
candidates to become members of the Board in keeping
with strategy.

Analysis of the work completed and in progress:
Permanent appointment
Chief Executive Officer
Waheed Sulaiman
April 2016
New three year contract
Wescoal Mining Chief Executive Officer
Dutch Botes
April 2016
Appointment
Acting Chief Financial Officer
Izak van der Walt – appointed on 31 August 2015; appointed
Acting CFO on 3 September ending 1 July 2016;
Appointment
Group Legal Adviser and Company Secretary
Vikesh Dhanooklal appointed as Group Legal Adviser on
1 September 2016, and as Company Secretary on 23 November
2015.
Appointment
Group Human Resources
Bongani Hlope appointed 1 October 2015
The board appointed Thivha Tshithavhane on 1 April 2016
as Executive Director Business Development and Bothwell
Mazarura as Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer on
1 July 2016.
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Social and Ethics Committee
The Wescoal Social and Ethics Committee was established
in 2014 and held its inaugural meeting on 20 May 2014. The
committee strives to meet twice a year. It has a charter that has
been approved by the Wescoal Board.

Ethics management and code of conduct

Wescoal’s mining division complies with applicable legal and
statutory requirements of the relevant regulatory authorities.
Wescoal’s trading division complies with applicable legal and
statutory requirements of the relevant regulatory authorities.
Wescoal Holdings has put in place a Regulatory Compliance
reference group comprising of company executives and senior
management from both trading and mining businesses, to engage
on the compliance landscape of Wescoal in a coordinated manner.

Employment
Wescoal recognises the importance of its employees whose
commitment, skills and energy are central to the business goals.
Therefore, it is important that the working environment be safe
for work and that it is free from all forms of discrimination,
intimidation and harassment.
With regards to employment, Wescoal endeavours to meet all
applicable laws, rules and regulations.
Special attention is paid to legislation dealing with working
conditions, wages, hours, remuneration and benefits and
minimum age for employment.

Enterprise and skills development
Wescoal has taken the opportunity to review its enterprise
supplier development (ESD) agenda under the new DTI codes
and the proposed Mining Charter requirements and has found
it fitting to review its association with Resolution Circle. The
outcome has been a realignment of the ESD approach to what
the Company is developing as a B-BBEE strategy. Conversations
around facilitation of the ESD programme are underway with
Raizcorp for activation in 2016. The priority status given to EAD
and skills development has necessitated a wholesale review of
our approach to these areas to ensure that we have points-based
strategies for compliance to the DTI codes and the mining Charter
as well as strategies that directly impact the broader corporate
transformation of Wescoal’s supplier and skills profile over the
medium to long-term. Wescoal Mining has been successful
in submitting their 2015 workplace skills report and annual
training report to the Wholesale and Retail SETA whilst effecting
a corrective transfer to the Mining Qualifications Authority.
Wescoal will be implementing a group wide skills development
strategy in the latter part of 2016.

Committee assurance
Wescoal’s Social and Ethics Committee is satisfied that it complied
with its legal, regulatory, and other responsibilities during the
current financial year.
The status of various statutory licences is discussed elsewhere in
this report.

Respect for the basic rights of employees.
Dr Humphrey Mathe
Independent director

Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2016

Shareholders

•

Legal and statutory licences
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The company has introduced a whistle-blowing initiative
in partnership with Whistleblowers™ that establishes an
ethics hotline that allows employees and individuals to report
ethics matters to the company anonymously. Issues such as
ethics violations, theft, fraud, discrimination, harassment and
substance abuse will hopefully be reported to the ethics hotline.
The company is also in the process of formulation of the
suppliers’ code of conduct that will cover, amongst others, the
following areas:
• Prohibition of corruption and bribery;
• Health and safety of employees;
• Legal compliance and business practices; and

Wescoal’s safety, health and environmental performance are
covered on page 48 in this annual report.

Sustainability

Wescoal has an approved code of conduct policy. The company
has a zero-tolerance approach to unethical behaviour and is
committed to ensuring that its employees uphold the company’s
good reputation. The company strives to operate in accordance
with the highest ethical standards and in compliance with all
applicable laws. The code of conduct covers, amongst others,
the following areas:
• Honesty and ethical conduct;
• Conflicts of interest;
• Safety, health and environmental protection;
• Compliance with laws, rules and regulations;
• Competition and fair dealing;
• Unfair competition/anti-trust;
• Insider trading;
• Employment; and
• Bribes, gifts and gratuities.

Health, safety and environment

Corporate governance

The company is in the process of finalising the approval of a
draft Corporate Social Responsibility strategy, which will be
implemented in the latter part of 2016. Wescoal management
and employees are committed to maintaining a safe and healthy
working environment.

All managers will be responsible for compliance with and
enforcement of this code in their areas of operation under their
responsibilities for the Corporate Social Responsibility strategy
to be implemented in 2016. Management will be required to
develop and implement activity plans to align to the Corporate
Social Responsibility strategy.

OPERATIONS

The key component of the Wescoal business strategy is to be a
responsible and accountable corporate citizen that contributes
to the economic development of the country. Through its
community investment strategy, Wescoal is committed to the
empowerment, development and growth of the communities
that are impacted by its activities. Wescoal’s programmes of
shared objectives of corporate social investment include:
• To develop and empower disadvantaged communities in the
areas where Wescoal operates or has material influence;
• To create and enhance the company’s reputation as a
responsible corporate citizen;
• To strengthen relationships with customers;
• To build and improve relationships with the company’s
existing and potential stakeholders through forming mutually
beneficial partnerships; and
• To attract quality, socially responsible staff to the company
as well as retain and enhance the loyalty and pride in the
company for existing staff.

Protection of the environment

Leadership

Social and economical development and
corporate citizenship
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Risk Management
Context and dependencies
The effective management of risk remains an area of focus and is central to the continued growth and efficient
management of Wescoal. The Group implemented Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) according to the framework
and policies approved by the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board of Wescoal. The concept of risk appetite
guides our risk management activities and the approach focusses on managing uncertainty (or risk) to ensure that
controls required manage risks within pre-stated tolerances, remain effective and efficient.

Areas of focus
Funding
and capital
structure

HDSA status
of Wescoal

Long term
off-take
agreements

•

Key for Eskom and other off take
agreements

•

Key to implementing organic growth
projects

•

Most of Wescoal’s coal is of good
quality and suitable for Eskom

•
•

Renewed focus area for DMR

•

Key to pursue inorganic growth
options

•

Wescoal aims to achieve HDSA
control by December 2016

•

•

Initiatives implemented during the
year increased HDSA ownership to
more than 40%

Wescoal funding model is an area of
focus, to secure long-term funding.

Eskom contract brings consistent
demand and volumes, beneficial to
operations and cost

•

•

Stable
operations,
improved
financial performance and balance
sheet gearing created opportunities
for beneficial funding options being
advanced at present.

Wescoal continues uninterrupted
supply to Eskom in terms of recurring
short-term contracts

•

Wescoal’ strategy is for long-term
offtake agreements and secured
a five year Eskom contract during
August 2016

•

Wescoal aims to secure long term
offtake agreements to further derisk from a funders perspective
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Leadership

The company is ever mindful of risks to the overall operation affecting the sustainability of the business. These include:

Wescoal’s
trading
and
mining divisions work closely
together to ensure potential
synergies are exploited.

Wescoal is exposed to crimes
related to theft of assets
and potential acts of fraud.
The business implemented
an anti-fraud hotline and
improved
the
security
measures, inventory controls
and policies to address these
exposures.

The previously reported risk
the duration of Life of Mine
posed to the sustainability
of Wescoal was effectively
eliminated during the year.
In addition to the start-up of
Elandspruit, with an expected
fifteen-year life of mine,
Wescoal secured additional
resources contiguous to each
of Intibane and Khanyisa
colleries,
substantially
extending the life of both
mines.

Structural risks have the potential of significantly affecting business sustainability or derailing business plans. These types of
risks include data protection and information security, social license to operate, development and growth of alternative energy
sources, climate change concerns, access to water and power. Wescoal will continue to develop its responses and actions to
these risk categories.

Corporate governance

Wescoal Mining’s primary
product is Eskom grade
coal and there is a natural
tendency to have a large
part of the business exposed
to one client. The Trading
Division assists to diversify
the client base slightly.
The Group is exploring the
development of non-Eskom
based revenue streams.

Criminality

Life of mine
(key risk
eliminated)

OPERATIONS

One main
customer

Primary producers
competing with
Trading Division

Sustainability
ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Shareholders
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SUSTAINABILITY
Actively
engaged
in driving local economic
development projects

Cash flow
generated
from current operations
met all rehabilitation
requirements

Natural capital
The weight of
sustainability is placed
on the company’s
resource maintenance,
preserving and
extending natural capital
and support for human
and social capital.
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Social and
Relationship
capital
Wescoal strives for
established connectivity
with all stakeholders and
communities to build
trust within all these
groups.

Leadership

OPERATIONS

Corporate governance

Sustainability

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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Shareholders
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Sustainable development
Wescoal is committed to the
rehabilitation of mining activity
on an ongoing basis, integrated
in the roll-over method and
in accordance with the mine
rehabilitation plan. To date,
Wescoal has met all rehabilitation
requirements under the approved
mining
rehabilitation
plan.
With the aim of conserving the
environment
and
protecting
employees and communities, the
company is proud to detail its
record as follows…..

Distribution Centre
The Wescoal Distribution Centre assists in reducing the carbon
footprint by switching transportation from road to rail. It also
reduces the impact on the national road structure and ensures
that the product does not go to ground during transportation,
trans-shipment or bulk storage.
The facility allows 10 000 tons, or the loads of 350 road vehicles,
of coal per month to be taken off the road and transported by
train. The approach enhances the company’s environmental
protection policies which together with aggressive safety audits
and social responsibility programmes forms the backbone of our
ongoing sustainability for the Group.

Water licences issued by the Department of
Water Affairs
DWS issued water use licences to Wescoal for operational
activities which comprise inter alia:

•
•
•
•

Taking water from a water resource;
Storing water;
Disposing of water; and
Removing, discharging and disposing of water found
underground.

Wescoal sustainability is underpinned by its growth from a junior
miner with one opencast mine to the owner and operator of
multiple mines. The flagship Elandspruit Colliery which realised
its steady state production of 2Mtpa in the second half of 2015
joining the Khanyisa and Intibane collieries in the fold.

The licences are governed by strict adherence and compliance
measures set out by DWS, which include a series of specific
management guidelines, measurement guidelines, internal
audits and submissions to DWS on an annual, or as requested
basis. The licences are important to Wescoal, as the registration
of water use is required in terms of section 26(1)(c) and 34(2)
of the National Water Act, No 36 of 1998.

The Wescoal processing plant provides significant operational
flexibility to the mining division and has been operating since
the second half of FY15.

Biological monitoring of the potable water is conducted
regularly. During the period under review, Wescoal has had no
water or liquid spills or contamination of water sources.
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Dust control

The process of mining coal disturbs the land. Wescoal is
committed to the rehabilitation of mining activity on an
ongoing basis, integrated in the roll-over method and in
accordance with the mine rehabilitation plan. To date, Wescoal
has met all rehabilitation requirements, in conjunction to the
approved mining rehabilitation plan.

Dust levels are monitored and measured regularly by
environmental consultants. In accordance with management
processes, all abnormal variations are managed within
regulatory guidelines.

Wescoal Mining continues to effectively manage and sustain a
current rehabilitation management philosophy. Rehabilitation
plans are actively executed in accordance with planned and
audited schedules across all its mining operations.
Any potential backlogs that might have existed prior to the
reported financial year have been eliminated.

Waste management

Wescoal has not received any financial assistance from
government or quasi-government organisations.
Cash flow required to run the operation and to pay for
capital expenditure is generated from current operations and
manageable overdraft or working capital facilities arranged
with bankers. The introduction of cost-saving strategies and
careful cash flow management contributed to reducing overall
debt and freeing up working capital enabling the group to
fund growth from internal sources. Operating expenses were
reduced by R22 million to R168 million.
Wescoal, being a coal mining and trading company, understands
that in order to extract product, it will impact the environment.
Its cause, effect and rehabilitation initiatives are discussed in the
section covering environmental indicators.

Wescoal has receptacles in place for hazardous waste which
is then professionally removed. Other management practices
undertaken by the company include:

Corporate governance

At the Intibane Colliery, Wescoal mines alongside farming
activity in partnership with a farmer. This means that once
Wescoal has rehabilitated the land after mining for coal, the
farmer will have the right to buy back the land for farming
purposes. This is just one of the ways in which Wescoal is
striving to ensure the sustainability of land usage in South
Africa, as well as acting as a responsible corporate citizen.

Economic indicators
OPERATIONS

The Initbane 1 rehabilitation was completed to the planned
levels prior to the commencement of the mining of the
Intibane 2 area. The Intibane 1 and 2 areas are now managed
as one integrated mining area.

In compliance with DMR regulatory requirements, Wescoal
established a system of monthly occupational hygiene
measurements. The results show a steady decline in the
personal noise and dust exposure levels for high risk activities
and job categories according to the independent assessments.

Leadership

Mine rehabilitation

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Sustainability
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Safety, Health and Environment
Safety

Health

The following are key metrics for Wescoal Mining in monitoring
and managing the total safety performance, a key focus area
of management, to ensure its employees can work in a safe
environment.

Wescoal Mining follows a comprehensive management
programme to ensure a healthy environment for employees. All
management programmes are designed to incorporate the Mine
Health and Safety, Air Quality and other relevant regulations and
compulsory codes of practices. To that effect the following are
monitored at all operational areas:

Key measurements for management are:

FIFR (Fatal Incident)

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

FIFR
0,25
0,20
0,15
0,10
0,05
0,00

Environmental fall-out dust;
Personal dust exposure;
Average personal dust exposure;
Personal noise exposure;
Average personal noise exposure;
Equipment specific noise exposure;
Equipment specific noise exposure per key operational area;
Thermal stress monitoring; and
Sanitary and change house area (female and male designated
areas).

Health and safety initiatives
2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

LTIFR (Lost Time)
LTIFR
2,0

Wescoal complies with the Mine Health and Safety Act, No 29 of
1996, the purpose of which is to provide for the health and safety
of employees and other persons at mines and to:

•
•
•

Promote a culture of health and safety;

•

Establish representative tripartite systems and conduct
inspections, investigations and inquiries to improve health and
safety;

•
•

Promote training and human resources development

•
•

Entrench the right to refuse to work in dangerous conditions

1,5

1,0

0,5

0,0

2010-11 2011-12

2012-13

2013-14 2014-15

2015-16

Provide for the enforcement of health and safety measures;
Provide for appropriate systems of employee, employer and
State participation in health and safety matters;

Regulate the employer’s and employees’ duties to identify
hazards and eliminate, control and minimise the risk to health
and safety;
Give effect to the public and international legal obligations of
South Africa relating to mining health and safety; and

Compliance with the above is managed through the Wescoal
Mining SHE Management System.
Wescoal Mining appointed four entities to assist with managing
compliance with the SHE Management System:

•
•
•
•
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Leschon CC – occupational hygiene;
Mine management – responsible for SHE initiatives;
Jaco K Consulting & Ferret Mining Environmental Affairs; and
Dr Smith and Industrial Health Clinic (based in eMalahleni) –
responsible for industrial health services.

Corporate Social Investment
Environment

No findings or limitations have been imposed on any of our
operations in the reported financial year.

Labour relations
The company actively and appropriately engages with the
representative labour organisations for mutual beneficial benefit,
and in association manage employee needs and requirements.
Wescoal has a relatively small labour force. The total Wescoal
staff component is split between Wescoal Mining, Wescoal
Trading and the corporate office as follows:

Staff count
Trading

Mining

Corporate

108

69

15

83

32

25

Black
65

53

Wescoal, as for the previous four years, hosted a very successful
Annual Charity Golf Day. All the proceeds from the day are
dedicated to charity of which Wescoal doubles the monies
collected. The money normally collected on the day is R250 000.

Female
9
White
7

23

15

37

19

1

The 4th Annual Charity Golf Day raised some R250 000. Wescoal
contributes by doubling the money raised.

6

Indian

Coloured
5

1

102

Wescoal Mining (trade union members)
0

AMCU

0

NUM

27

Wescoal Golf Day and other
charity initiatives

NUMSA

Social and labour plans

Communities
Social and labour plans

Key elements covered are: basic skills development; educational
support for tertiary studies; learnerships; internships and SMME
development.
Specific focus is placed in the skills development of local
communities that is tied into Wescoal’s local economic
development programmes.

LED Projects

Train Race
For the third year, Wescoal participated in the race which took
place between Witbank and Middleburg during August 2015.
All arrangements ran smoothly and there was massive spirit
from all staff involved on the day.
The race dates back to 1987 when the Rotary Club of Coalfields
launched the first relay event which set runners against a steam
train along the private Amcoal railway line between Wolvekrans
and Witbank (eMalahleni). The event took place annually for
the next five years. In 1992 the race route was relocated to
run along the railway line and road between Middelburg and
Witbank incorporating two of Mpumalanga’s larger cities in
the event.
The aim of the race is to raise funds for community investment
projects. Disadvantaged individuals from the community are
given the opportunity to experience the Greatest Train Race with
a train ride which “competes” against the runners – truly a once
in a lifetime experience for some.
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The company is actively engaged on driving local economic
development projects as part of its social commitments. This is being
achieved through a focus on supporting and developing SMMEs
around its various mining areas with preference to transport and
housing developments.

Managers and employees, supported by contractors engage
directly by spending Mandela Day working in the communities
on activities that include painting and upgrading schools, and
educational visits to underprivileged children.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Wescoal Mining in conjunction with the DMR, local community
forums, local and regional councils create, manage and monitor all
the commitments of the social and labour plans to the benefit of
the local communities where its operations are located.

Surplus funds raised also get allocated to needy institutions, such
as upgrading of schools’ security systems, general maintenance
and upgrading.

Sustainability

As required in terms of Regulation 42(1)(a) of the Mineral
and Petroleum Resources Development Act, No 28 of 2002,
Wescoal has social and labour plans in place at its mining
operations. As part of its social and labour plans and in support
of education, the Group sponsored four students, two of whom
have completed their studies.

The charities that have benefited from this year’s day are:
• Kabod House;
• Elkana School;
• Hlanganani Centre;
• Pottebakkershuis;
• Balmoral Primary School; and
• Waenhuiskrans kinderhawe.

Corporate governance

Male

Wescoal ensures that the local communities around the mining
areas reap the benefits of a safer and more accessible road access
by maintaining road infrastructure to a safe standard. Where the risk
of civilian roadways intersecting with mining activities, communities,
local and regional councils as well as provincial authorities embark
on projects to move road infrastructure.

OPERATIONS

Labour practices and good work environment

Wescoal Mining actively pursue opportunities to develop local
SMMEs to provide services to the mining operations. One such
initiative at the Elandspruit Mine entails the total outsourcing of the
laundry services required by the company.

Leadership

Wescoal Mining adheres to an intensive and fully compliant
environmental management programme as prescribed by the
approved environmental management programmes for each
operational area. All the required authorisations as stipulated by
the awarded WULs are integrated in our management systems.

A major focus for Wescoal Mining, as part of the SLP and LED
focus is to develop housing for the immediate communities that are
affected by the mining activities. The housing development project,
associated with Intibane involves the building of 18 houses. Nine of
these have been completed while there is steady progress on the
rest. In this process local people are trained with the necessary skills,
within the vision that the last houses will be entirely built by local
trained resources.
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Manufactured
capital
Capital spend in FY16,
additions to PPE
R219 million, including
land, buildings, plant,
machinery and mining
properties (R21m on
other)

Financial
capital
Wescoal uses its
economic resources to
develop resources, mine
and market coal
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General information
Country of incorporation and domicile: South Africa
Nature of business and principal
activities:

The mining, processing, sale and distribution of steam coal

Directors:

MR Ramaite (Chairman)
JG Pansegrouw
DMT van Gaalen
KM Maroga
HLM Mathe
W Sulaiman
IJ van der Walt
T Tshithavhane
B Mazarura
WN Khumalo
AR Boje
M du Plessis

(Appointed 1 February 2015)
(Appointed 2 September 2015)
(Appointed 5 April 2016)
(Appointed 1 July 2016)
(Resigned 30 November 2014)
(Resigned 14 April 2015)
(Resigned 30 September 2015)

Registered office:

First Floor Building 10, Woodmead Business Park
142 Western Service Road, Woodmead.

Business address:

First Floor Building 10, Woodmead Business Park
142 Western Service Road, Woodmead.

Postal address:

PO Box 1962, Edenvale, 1610

Ultimate holding company:

Wescoal Holdings Limited

Bankers:

Absa Bank

Auditors:

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Registered Auditor

Company secretary:

V Dhanooklal

Transfer secretary:

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited

Level of assurance:

These consolidated annual financial statements have been audited in compliance with the
applicable requirements of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008.

Preparer:

The consolidated annual financial statements were independently compiled under the
supervision of IJ van der Walt CA(SA)

Published:

27 September 2016

Declaration by the Company Secretary
In terms of section 88(2) (e) of the South African Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended (the Act), I hereby certify that, to the best
of my knowledge and belief, Wescoal Holdings Limited has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, for the
financial year ended 31 March 2016, all such returns and notices as required in terms of the Act, and that all such returns and notices
are true, correct and up to date.

Vikesh Dhanooklal
Company Secretary
27 September 2016
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Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for the functions and duties as required in terms of section 74 and Regulation 43(5) of
the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008. In assisting the Board discharging duties, the committee also advises on safeguarding of assets,
appropriate systems, controls and processes for oversight and reporting. The committee also oversees matters relating to internal
controls, accounting policies and practices, internal and external audit, integrated reporting, risk management, IT governance, corruption
and fraud risks.

Constitution of the committee
The committee consists of three non-executive directors who are recommended by the Board and confirmed by shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting. Each member has the adequate relevant knowledge, expertise and experience for the committee to execute
its duties and responsibilities. Biographical details of the members of the committee can be found on pages 16 to 17 of this report. The
CEO, the CFO, representatives of the external and internal auditors, other assurance providers, and professional advisors attend meetings
as invitees. Biographical details of the CFO can be found on page 17 of this report.

Responsibilities
the effectiveness of the Group’s information systems and other systems of internal control;
The effectiveness of the internal audit function;
The reports of both the external and internal auditors;
The integrated annual report and specifically the annual financial statements included therein;
The accounting policies of the Group and any proposed revisions thereto;
The combined assurance plan, external audit findings, reports and fees and the approval thereof;
The safeguarding of assets and the operation of adequate systems, accounting practices and control processes;
Promoting the overall effectiveness of good corporate governance in the Group, including the governance of risk;
Compliance with applicable legislation and requirements of regulatory authorities; and
The principles for recommending the use of external auditors for non-audit services.

The external and internal auditors presented formal reports to the committee and attend meetings by invitation.

General comments
The committee confirmed the Internal Audit charter and the outsourced model. The committee implemented an anti-fraud hotline
during the year, as an additional detective control measure. The committee evaluated the independence, effectiveness and performance
of the external and internal audit function and reports and found it to be satisfactory. External and Internal Audit Plans have
been approved by the committee and audit reports are tabled at the Audit and Risk Committee and discussed with Management. The
auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit and Risk Committee and the Chairperson.

The Audit and Risk Committee confirms that it has satisfied itself with the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of
the Financial Director.

Committee meetings
Seven Audit and Risk Committee meetings were held during and subsequent to the financial year ended 31 March 2016.

SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION
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The committee considered the results of internal financial control reviews performed by the internal audit function, management’s
self-assessments and supported by the results of the external audit, nothing has come to the attention of the Audit and Risk Committee
to indicate that the internal financial controls were not operating sufficiently. In the committee’s view the systems of internal financial
controls are continuously improving and form an adequate basis for preparation of reliable financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

In addition to the duties required of it by the Companies Act, the JSE Listings Requirements and King III, the main responsibility of the
committee is to assist the Board in discharging its duties relating to the monitoring and review of:

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit and Risk Committee and its Chairperson, with a view to ensuring
that their independence is not impaired. The committee is satisfied that the auditors are independent of the company.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

The Audit and Risk Committee is appointed at each Annual General Meeting as required by the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008
(the Act), part D, section 94. The report from the Audit and Risk committee is presented below in terms of requirements of the
Companies act and the JSE listing requirements and the committee’ charter as approved by the board of directors.

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Audit and Risk Committee meetings held during and
subsequent to the financial year ended 31 March 2016
8 Apr 2015 18 Jun 2015 25 Aug 2015 2 Nov 2015 16 Feb 2016
Kabela Maroga
(Chairperson)
Teresita van Gaalen
(Member)
Kosie Pansegrouw
(Member)
By invitation
D Moodley
(Internal Auditor)
Izak Van Der Walt
(Acting CFO)
Marius Meyer
(Exchange Sponsor)
Keeley Ermann
(Exhange Sponsor)
Vikesh Dhanooklal
(Company Secretary)
Waheed Sulaiman
(CEO)
Andries Smit
(Internal Auditor)
Morné du Plessis
(CFO)
JP van Staden
(PWC)
Paul Cruywagen
(PWC)
T Mdakane
(PWC)
JK van der Merwe
(CIS Company Secretaries)

4 Apr 2016

1 Jun 2016
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KM Maroga
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
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Directors' responsibilities and approval

The consolidated annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based
on appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2017 and, in light of this review and the current
financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future.
The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Group’s consolidated annual financial statements.
The consolidated annual financial statements have been examined by the Group’s external auditors and their report is presented on
page 61.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control
provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the consolidated annual financial
statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Group
and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the Directors to meet these responsibilities,
the Board sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards
include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate
segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Group and all employees are
required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring that the Group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable
circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all
known forms of risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring
that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and
constraints.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

The Directors are required in terms of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible
for the content and integrity of the consolidated annual financial statements and related financial information included in this report.
It is their responsibility to ensure that the consolidated annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at
the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International
Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the consolidated annual
financial statements.
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The consolidated annual financial statements, set out on pages 62 to 111, which have been prepared on the going-concern basis, were
approved by the Board on 27 September 2016 and were signed on its behalf by:

Izak van der Walt
Acting Chief Financial Officer

27 September 2016

27 September 2016

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Waheed Sulaiman
Chief Executive Officer
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Directors’ report
The Directors submit their report for the year ended 31 March 2016.

Shareholders with 5% or more of any class of shares
31 March 2016

31 March 2015

Shareholder

Number of
shares

% of shares

Number of
shares

% of shares

MR Ramaite
ET Mzimela
Wescoal Share Incentive Trust
AR Boje
Gujo Investments Proprietary Limited
Simeka Capital Holdings Proprietary Limited

44 547 450
13 782 269
12 774 000
–
–
30 303 030

18.75
5.80
5.38
–
–
12.76

41 592 520
13 782 269
12 774 000
11 295 977
10 800 000
–

21.19
7.02
6.51
5.75
5.50
–

The percentage of share calculation is based on the issued share capital of 237 533 578 as further analysed on page 112.

Review of activities
Main business and operations
The main business of the Company is that of an investment and management company with operating subsidiaries engaged in the mining,
processing and trading of coal. The Group operates principally in South Africa. The operating results and state of affairs of the Group and
Company are fully set out in the annual financial statements and do not, in our opinion, require any further comment.
The Group made a net profit after tax of R51.8 million (2015: R28.9 million).
Detail of operating segments in terms of IFRS 8 is disclosed in note 39.

Going concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that
funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and
commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

Post-financial year-end events
The Group announced on 2 June 2016, that the Board of Directors in considering the Group’s financial position and strong annual performance,
has agreed to distribute R10 million to shareholders as a dividend for the period.

Additional rehabilitation guarantees to the value of R17.4 million was issued to the DMR during August 2016.
The board appointed Thivha Tshithavhane on 1 April 2016 as Executive Director Business Development and Bothwell Mazarura as
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer on 1 July 2016. (CVs appear on page 17)
The Directors are not aware of any other matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year relevant to an assessment of the
consolidated annual financial statements at 31 March 2016, except as mentioned above.

Compliance with financial reporting standards
The Wescoal Group and Company consolidated annual financial statements comply with IFRS, the South African Companies Act and the JSE
Listings Requirements.

Share Incentive Scheme
The Directors are authorised to issue, allot and grant options to acquire up to a maximum of 29 186 272 ordinary shares of the issued share
capital of the Company in terms of the Share Incentive Scheme. By 31 March 2016 a cumulative total of 17 540 000 (2015: 21 870 000)
share options (net of forfeited options), had been allotted to employees of the Group, of which 9 140 000 (2015: 9 140 000) had been
exercised. At 31 March 2016, unexercised share options under the scheme amounted to 8 400 000 (2015: 12 730 000), representing 3.54%
(2015: 6.48%) of the issued shares of the Group.
Options are exercisable in five equal tranches, annually on the anniversary date of the options. The market value of shares relating to share
options outstanding at year-end amounts to R12 852 000 (2015: R25 078 100). Options granted to employees have a five-year contractual life
and are forfeited if not exercised on termination of employment.
The Wescoal Share Incentive Trust is consolidated into the Group and Company. The shares held by the Trust are treated as treasury shares in the
Group and Company. Please refer to note 15 for more information.

Borrowing limitations
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Company, the Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money, as
they consider appropriate.
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Share capital
Authorised
There was no change in the authorised share capital of the Company during the year. The authorised share capital of the Company is
500 000 000 ordinary no par value shares.

Issued
The movement of shares during the year was as follows:
2016
196 301 361
31 383 732
9 848 485

Total shares as at 31 March 2016
Less: Treasury shares in Share Trust

237 533 578
(12 774 000)

Net shares in issue at 31 March 2016

224 759 578

Shareholders also granted the Directors authority at the last Annual General Meeting held to allot and issue for cash, without restriction,
authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company placed under their control as they in their discretion may deem fit, subject
to the following:
– Issue shall be to public shareholders and not related parties
– Paid press release be published at the time detailing certain financial effects
– That issues in the aggregate not exceed 15% of number of shares of the Company’s issued share capital
– Equity securities must be of a class already in use
– Maximum discount permitted is 10% of weighted average traded price of shares over 30 business days prior to issue
– Authority expires 15 months from last Annual General Meeting or next Annual General Meeting, whichever is the earlier date

The Directors acknowledge the importance of sound corporate governance and the guidelines set out in the report of the King Commission on
Corporate Governance for South Africa (the Code). The Directors therefore embrace the Code as far as it is appropriate, having regard for the
size and nature of the various companies making up the Group. The Board will continue to take such measures as are practicable to comply with
the Code.

Dividend policy
For the year ended 31 March 2016, the Board has decided to declare R10 million to shareholders as a dividend.

Listing

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Corporate governance

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

In terms of the authority granted by shareholders at the last Annual General Meeting held, all of the authorised but unissued share capital is
placed under the control of the Directors as a general authority to them in order to allot and issue the same at their discretion in terms of the
Company's Memorandum of Incorporation and the JSE Listings Requirements. This authority expires at the next Annual General Meeting where
shareholders will be asked to renew this authority.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Reported as at 1 April 2015
Rights share issue
General issue of shares

The abbreviated name under which the Company is listed on the Main Board of the JSE Limited is 'Wescoal' and the short code is WSL.

The Directors of the Company during the reporting period were as follows:
Nationality

MR Ramaite (Chairman)
JG Pansegrouw
DMT van Gaalen
KM Maroga
HLM Mathe
AR Boje
M du Plessis
W Sulaiman
I van der Walt
T Tshithavhane
B Mazarura

South African
South African
Costa Rican
South African
South African
South African
South African
South African
South African
South African
Zimbabwean

(resigned 14 April 2015)
(appointed 1 July 2014, resigned 30 September 2015)
(appointed 1 February 2015)
(appointed 2 September 2015)
(appointed 5 April 2016)
(appointed 1 July 2016)

Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2016

SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION

Name

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Directors

58
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Directors’ report (continued)
Company Secretary
Vikesh Dhanooklal was appointed as Company Secretary during the year. The Company's Transfer Secretary is Computershare Investor
Services Proprietary Limited.

Litigation statements
On 31 March 2016, the Group received a Statement of Claim, which commenced the pleadings in the Arbitration Proceedings pertaining
to a dispute of certain provisions of a Coal Transportation Agreement concluded on 8 October 2014.
The Group has disclaimed the liability and is defending the action in terms of the arbitration process. The potential undiscounted
amount of the total payments that the Group could be required to make, in addition to amounts already provided for, if there was an
adverse decision related to the arbitration, is estimated to be approximately R3 million.
The Directors are not aware of any other major litigation or intended litigation against the Company.

Resolutions
The following resolutions were approved by shareholders at an Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 13 November 2015:

Ordinary resolutions
– Re-appointment of Ms KM Maroga and Mr JG Pansegrouw as Directors
– Appointment of Mr W Sulaiman and Mr IJ van der Walt as Directors
– Appointment of Audit Committee members Ms KM Maroga, Mr JG Pansegrouw and Ms DMT van Gaalen
– The appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as independent auditors of the Company
– To place the authorised and unissued ordinary share capital under the control of the Directors of the Company to allot and issue at
their discretion in terms of the Company MoI and JSE Listings Requirements
– The endorsement, through a non-binding advisory note, and to ascertain the shareholders’ view on the remuneration policy and
its implementation

Special resolutions
– The authorisation of financial assistance to all related or inter-related companies

Interest in subsidiaries
Percentage
holding
Name of subsidiary
Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited
Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Exploration Proprietary Limited
Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited
(JJP) Res Ged 2 Van Plaas Vlakvarkfontein 213 Proprietary Limited
(JJP) Ged 6 (Van Ged 2) Van Plaas Vlakvarkfontein 213 Proprietary Limited
(JJP) Ged 16 (Van Ged 2) Van Plaas Vlakvarkfontein 213 Proprietary Limited

Net income/
(loss) after tax
R’000

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

6 802
53 235
(64)
(2 176)
(1 100)
(304)
(1)
(1)
(1)

Details of the Company’s investment in subsidiaries are set out in note 8.

Independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. (Johannesburg) will continue in office as Wescoal's independent auditors for the ensuing year following their
appointment in accordance with the Companies Act of South Africa.

Directors’ interest in the issued share capital
31 March 2016
MR Ramaite
JG Pansegrouw
W Sulaiman
IJ van der Walt
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Direct
beneficial

Indirect
beneficial

(thousands)

(thousands)

44 547
–
1 020
170

–
2 040
–
–

45 737

2 040

31 March 2015

(thousands)

(thousands)

MR Ramaite
AR Boje *
JG Pansegrouw
M du Plessis *

41 593
8 059
–
25

–
3 237
2 040
–

49 677

5 277

*
*

M du Plessis resigned effective 30 September 2015 and held 25 000 shares at the time.
A Bojé resigned effective 14 April 2015 and held 8 058 977 shares at the time.

The following changes to the interests of the directors between year-end and the date of the integrated report occurred:

Number of shares
(thousand)

Director

Date of transaction

Nature of transaction

W Sulaiman

8 June 2016

Purchase on the open market

50

Interest
Directors beneficial

Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out below:

Executive Directors

Remuneration

M du Plessis*
W Sulaiman
I van der Walt

Cash total

IFRS 2:
Expense
relating to
share options
granted

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

1 203
3 000
939

90
225
–

–
36
6

279
–
–

1 572
3 261
945

76
227
3

5 142

315

42

279

5 778

306

* M du Plessis resigned as Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Group with effect from 30 September 2015.

AR Boje*
WN Khumalo*
P Janse van Rensburg*
M du Plessis
W Sulaiman

Remuneration

Annual bonus

Fringe
and other
benefits**

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

4 905
1 218
406
2 000
500

337
71
95
150
38

409
135
–
117
–

8 541
–
1 237
146
–

14 192
1 424
1 738
2 413
538

1 106
–
–
127
74

9 029

691

661

9 924

20 305

1 307
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31 March 2015

IFRS 2: Expense
relating to
share options
granted
Cash total

Medical and
provident fund
contributions

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

31 March 2016

Medical and
provident
fund
Fringe and
contributions Annual bonus other benefits

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Directors’ remuneration
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Indirect
beneficial
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Direct
beneficial
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* Resigned.
** Includes separation packages and termination benefits (refer to note 37).
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Directors’ report (continued)
Non-executive Directors

Fees for services as a Director
MR Ramaite
JG Pangegrouw
DMT van Gaalen
HLM Mathe
KM Maroga

31 March
2016

31 March
2015

R’000

R’000

546
482
695
434
387

528
311
594
376
320

2 544

2 129

Share options in the Company held by Directors

Financial year
granted

Option grant
(strike price)
cents

Balance held
at 31 March
2016

Available
for take-up
at 31 March
2016

Balance held
at 31 March
2015

AR Boje (resigned)

2011
2013
2015

106
90
172

–
–
–

–
–
–

1 000 000
1 300 000
600 000

M du Plessis (resigned)

2015

181

–

–

1 000 000

W Sulaiman

2015
2016

185
111

1 000 000
250 000

200 000
–

1 000 000
–

IJ van der Walt

2016

111

75 000

–

–
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Wescoal Holdings Limited
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Wescoal Holdings Limited set out on pages 62 to 111, which
comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 March 2016, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
Income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

Other reports required by the Companies Act
As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016, we have read the
Directors’ Report, the Audit and Risk Committee’s Report and the Declaration by the Company Secretary for the purpose of identifying
whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. These
reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies
between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. However, we have not audited these reports and
accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Director: JP van Staden
Registered Auditor

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Wescoal Holdings Limited for 5 years.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate
financial position of Wescoal Holdings Limited as at 31 March 2016, and its consolidated and separate financial performance and its
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Report on the Financial Statements
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2 Eglin Road
Sunninghill
2157
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Statement of financial position (Group)
as at 31 March 2016

Figures in Rands (Thousands)/(R’000)
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment property
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Prepaid royalty
Deferred tax
Investments

Current assets
Prepaid royalty
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current assets held for sale

Notes

2016

2015

4
5
6
7
8
10
11

709
496 350
73 637
22 664
11 366
4 372
22 023

709
324 740
73 637
30 902
12 909
17 558
14 218

631 121

474 673

8
12
13
14

874
57 668
224 727
101 179

–
82 852
238 740
26 977

5

384 448
4 400

348 569
–

388 848

348 569

1 019 969

823 242

213 156
7 263
164 642

161 465
5 479
112 877

385 061

279 821

2 907
19 306
46 186
18 533

2 636
5 101
38 563
50 837

86 932

97 137

27 585
2 856
13 890
272 578
215 286
15 781

39 899
2 718
–
218 946
167 894
16 827

547 976

446 284

634 908

543 421

1 019 969

823 242

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of parent
Share capital
Share-based payment reserve
Retained income

15

Total equity
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Instalment sale agreements
Deferred tax
Provisions
Interest-bearing borrowings

Current liabilities
Current tax payable
Instalment sale agreements
Provisions
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing borrowings
Bank overdraft

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
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17
18

33
16
17
19
18
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as at 31 March 2016

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in subsidiaries
Loans to Group companies
Deferred tax

108
125 875
174 399
4 100

72
35 166
242 880
939

304 482

279 057

76 148
362
22
787

77 048
1 065
21
–

77 319

78 134

381 801

357 191

213 156
7 263
99 915

161 465
5 479
20 416

320 334

187 360

–

30 172

–

30 172

–
6 187
9 628
29 883
15 769

407
67 891
18 610
35 924
16 827

61 467

139 659

61 467

169 831

381 801

357 191

9
13
14
33

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of parent
Share capital
Share-based payment reserve
Retained income

15

Total equity
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings

Current liabilities
Current tax payable
Loans from Group companies
Trade and other payables
Interest-bearing borrowings
Bank overdraft

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

18

33
9
19
18
14

SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION
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REVIEW

2015

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

2016

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Current assets
Loans to Group companies
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Current tax receivable

Notes

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Figures in Rands (Thousands)/(R’000)
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Statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2016

GROUP
Figures in Rands (Thousands)/(R’000)

Notes

2016

COMPANY
2015

2016

2015

25 890
–

25 602
–

Revenue
Cost of sales

24
25

1 589 870
(1 338 150)

1 674 372
(1 454 728)

Gross profit
Other income/(loss)
Operating expenses

26

251 720
1 358
(152 155)

219 644
2 253
(175 660)

25 890
64 917
(30 796)

25 602
(22)
(46 960)

Operating profit/(loss)
Interest received
Finance costs

27
28
29

100 923
1 004
(21 923)

46 237
1 588
(10 742)

60 011
23 200
(6 873)

(21 380)
28 259
(12 204)

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Taxation

30

80 004
(28 239)

37 083
(8 129)

76 338
3 161

(5 325)
532

Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income

51 765
–

28 954
–

79 499
–

(4 793)
–

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

51 765

28 954

79 499

(4 793)

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent – Continuing operations

51 765

28 954

79 499

(4 793)

Profit/(loss) for the year

51 765

28 954

79 499

(4 793)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent – Continuing operations

51 765

28 954

79 499

(4 793)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

51 765

28 954

79 499

(4 793)

26.23
26.22

15.74
15.58

Earnings per share
From continuing operations
– Basic
– Diluted

31
31
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for the year ended 31 March 2016

(177)
–
–
–
177
–
–

261 113
28 954
21 750
(27 000)
–
2 420
(7 416)

112 877

279 821

–

279 821

–
–
–
1 784

51 765
–
–
–

51 765
39 254
12 437
1 784

–
–
–
–

51 765
39 254
12 437
1 784

213 156

7 263

164 642

385 061

–

385 061

COMPANY
Balance at 1 April 2014

166 715

3 059

33 048

202 822

–

202 822

Loss for the year
Issue of shares
Repurchased shares**
Employee share option scheme
Dividend declared*

–
21 750
(27 000)
–
–

–
–
–
2 420
–

(4 793)
–
–
–
(7 839)

(4 793)
21 750
(27 000)
2 420
(7 839)

–
–
–
–
–

(4 793)
21 750
(27 000)
2 420
(7 839)

Balance at 31 March 2015

161 465

5 479

20 416

187 360

–

187 360

–
39 254
12 437
–

–
–
–
1 784

79 499
–
–
–

79 499
39 254
12 437
1 784

–
–
–
–

79 499
39 254
12 437
1 784

213 156

7 263

99 915

320 334

–

320 334

166 715
–
21 750
(27 000)
–
–
–

3 059
–
–
–
–
2 420
–

91 516
28 954
–
–
(177)
–
(7 416)

Balance at 31 March 2015

161 465

5 479

–
39 254
12 437
–

Balance at 31 March 2016

Profit for the year
Rights share issue net of transaction cost
General issue of shares
Employee share option scheme

Loss for the year
Rights share issue net of transaction cost
General issue of shares
Employee share option scheme
Balance at 31 March 2016

* Dividend declared for financial year ended 2014 in the 2015 financial year.
** Refer to note 8 for cancellation of shares.
*** Refer to note 8 for disclosure surrounding change in ownership.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

261 290
28 954
21 750
(27 000)
(177)
2 420
(7 416)

GROUP
Balance at 1 April 2014
Profit for the year
Issue of shares
Repurchased shares**
Change in ownership***
Employee share option scheme
Dividend declared*

Figures in Rands (Thousands)/(R’000)

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Total
equity

Sharebased
payment
reserve

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Noncontrolling
interest
(Note 8)

Share
capital
(Note 15)

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Total
attributable
to equity
holders of
Retained the Group/
Company
income
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2016

GROUP
Figures in Rands (Thousands)/(R’000)

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from/(utilised in) operations
Interest income
Dividends paid
Finance costs
Dividends received
Tax paid

2016

COMPANY
2015

2016

2015

239 590
1 004
–
(19 701)
–
(13 162)

94 504
1 588
(7 416)
(8 399)
–
(4 180)

(12 675)
23 200
–
(6 873)
64 917
(1 194)

9 303
28 259
(7 839)
(12 204)
–
–

207 731

76 097

67 375

17 519

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Assets acquired through business acquisition
Repayment of Group loans advanced
Loans advanced to Group companies
Purchase of rehabilitation investment

(169 644)
1 023
–
–
–
(7 440)

(98 865)
4 657
(24 443)
–
–
(6 806)

(64)
–
–
900
(82 631)
–

(75)
–
–
26 000
(65 592)
–

Net cash from investing activities

(176 061)

(125 457)

(81 795)

(39 667)

39 254
12 437
–
65 292
(69 102)
(4 303)

–
–
2 850
75 459
(68 043)
(2 743)

39 254
12 437
–
–
(36 212)
–

–
–
2 850
20 342
(17 857)
–

Net cash from financing activities

43 578

7 523

15 479

5 335

Total cash and cash equivalent movement for the year
Cash and cash equivalent at beginning of year

75 248
10 150

(41 837)
51 987

1 059
(16 806)

(16 813)
7

85 398

10 150

(15 747)

(16 806)

32

33

Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds of rights share issue, net of share issue expenses
Proceeds of general share issue, net of share issue expenses
Proceeds on share options exercised
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Repayment of long-term borrowings
Repayment of instalment sale agreements

Total cash and cash equivalent at end of year
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Accounting policies
Presentation of consolidated annual financial statements
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
the Companies Act. 71 of 2008 and JSE Listings Requirements. The principal accounting policies adopted and the methods of
computation used in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below and are consistent in all material respects
with those applied during the previous year, except for those changes which have occurred as a result of the adoption of new
and amended International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), interpretations and circulars as disclosed in note 2.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1

Consolidation
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the consolidated annual financial statements of the Group and
all entities, including special purpose entities, which are controlled by the Group.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical-cost basis and incorporate the principal accounting policies
set out below. They are presented in South African Rands and are prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement
criteria of IFRS and its interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in issue and effective for
the entity at 31 March 2016 and the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and
Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by Financial Reporting Standards Council.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

1.

GROUP OVERVIEW

67

Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Adjustments are made when necessary to the consolidated annual financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with those of the Group.
All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminate in full on consolidation.

Transactions which result in changes in ownership levels, where the Group has control of the subsidiary both before
and after the transaction are regarded as equity transactions and are recognised directly in the statement of changes
in equity.
The difference between the fair value of consideration paid or received and the movement in non-controlling interest for
such transactions is recognised in equity attributable to the owners of the parent.
Where a subsidiary is disposed of and a non-controlling shareholding is retained, the remaining investment is measured
to fair value with the adjustment to fair value recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal of the
controlling interest.

Contingent consideration is included in the cost of the combination at fair value as at the date of acquisition. Subsequent
changes to the assets, liability or equity which arise as a result of the contingent consideration are not affected against
goodwill, unless they are valid measurement period adjustments.
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The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities which meet the recognition conditions of IFRS 3:
Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal
group) that are classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5: Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations, which are recognised at fair value less costs to sell.
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Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of the business
combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity
instruments issued. Costs directly attributable to the business combination are expensed as incurred, except the costs to
issue debt which are amortised as part of the effective interest and costs to issue equity which are included in equity.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately from the
Group’s interest therein, and are recognised within equity. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interests
are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if this results in a debit balance being recognised for non-controlling
interest.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual financial statements from the effective date of
acquisition to the effective date of disposal.
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Accounting policies (continued)
1.

Presentation of consolidated annual financial statements (continued)
1.1

Consolidation (continued)
On acquisition, the Group assesses the classification of the acquiree's assets and liabilities and reclassifies them where
the classification is inappropriate for Group purposes. This excludes lease agreements and insurance contracts, whose
classification remains as per their inception date.
Non-controlling interests arising from a business combination, which are present ownership interests, and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation, are measured either at the present
ownership interests’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, or at fair
value. The treatment is not an accounting policy choice, but is selected for each individual business combination and
disclosed in the note for business combinations.
In cases where the Group held a non-controlling shareholding in the acquiree prior to obtaining control, that interest
is measured to fair value as at acquisition date. The measurement to fair value is included in profit or loss for the
year. Where the existing shareholding was classified as an available-for-sale financial asset, the cumulative fair value
adjustments recognised previously to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are recognised in profit
or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

1.2

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
In preparing the consolidated annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts represented in the consolidated annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of
available information and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the
future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the annual financial statements.
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances.
The following judgements have been made by the Group in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the annual financial statements.

Share-based payments
In applying IFRS 2, Share-based Payment, the Group has made certain judgements in respect of the fair value option
pricing models to be used in determining the various share-based arrangements in respect of employees, as well as the
variable elements used in these models.
For share-based payments, estimates are made in determining the fair value of the equity instruments granted.
Assumptions are used in the valuation model and include assumptions regarding future dividend yield, risk-free rate,
expected employee attrition rate, expected share volatility and expected option life (refer to note 21).

Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher
value-in-use calculations and fair values less cost to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions.
It is reasonably possible that the assumptions may change which may then impact the Group’s estimations and may then
require a material adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill and tangible assets (refer to note 6).
The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Management identified possible impairment indicators which include
movements in commodity prices, exchange rates and the economic environment of the coal mining industry. Estimates
are made in determining the recoverable amount of assets which includes the estimation of cash flows and discount
rates used. In estimating cash flows, the Group base cash flow projections on reasonable and supportable assumptions
that represent the Group's best estimate of the range of economic conditions that will exist over the remaining useful
life of the assets. The discount rates used are pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the assets for which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted.

Mine rehabilitation provision
In applying IAS 37, Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets estimates of determining the present obligation
of environmental and decommissioning provisions is required.
Environmental and decommissioning costs are provided for, where either a legal or constructive obligation is recognised
as a result of the Group’s coal mining operations (refer to note 17).
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Numerous factors will affect the ultimate liability payable. These factors include estimates of the extent and cost of
rehabilitation activities, technological changes and environmental changes.

The present value of environmental disturbances created as well as changes to estimates are expensed under operating
expenses against an increase in the rehabilitation provision. Change in estimates for operations in the development and
production phase is capitalised and amortised over the life of mine on the units of production method. Rehabilitation
costs incurred that are included in the estimates are charged to the provision. The cost of ongoing current rehabilitation
is charged against income as incurred.

1.3

Investment property
Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that the future economic benefits that
are associated with the investment property will flow to the enterprise, and the cost of the investment property can be
measured reliably.

Cost model
Investment property is carried at cost less depreciation less any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is provided to write-down to cost, less estimated residual value by equal instalments over the useful life of
the property, which is as follows:
Item
Property – land

Useful life
Indefinite

Property, plant and equipment
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
– it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group; and
– the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is also
included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, and where
the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using if for purposes other than the production of inventories.
Major spare parts and stand by equipment which are expected to be used for more than one period are included in
property, plant and equipment.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an
item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the financial period
in which they are incurred.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Investment property consists of land and is not depreciated.

1.4

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Unwinding of discount due to the passage of time is included as an element of finance costs in arriving at profit or loss
for the year in terms of IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilties and Contingent Assets (refer to notes 17 and 29).

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the present obligation of environmental and
decommissioning provisions, which include the actual estimate, the inflation rate, the discount rate used and the
expected date of closure of mining activities. Estimates are based on costs that are annually determined by independent
environmental specialists in accordance with environmental regulations, and adjusted as appropriate for new
circumstances.

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Land is not depreciated. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected
useful lives to their estimated residual value.
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Assets under construction include costs incurred with regards to mine development and are transferred to relevant asset
classes when ready for their intended use. Mine development assets are initially measured at cost.

70
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Accounting policies (continued)
1.

Presentation of consolidated annual financial statements (continued)
1.4

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:
Item
Buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
IT equipment
Mining properties
Mineral assets

Average useful life
50 years
Five years
Five – 10 years
Five years
10 years
Three years
Estimated ROM tonnes
Estimated ROM tonnes

Mining properties and mineral assets are depreciated on a unit-of-production basis, in proportion to the ROM tonnes of
coal extracted in the year compared with total proven and probable reserves at the beginning of the year, once in the
form intended for use by management.
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.
If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.
The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of
another asset.
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or
loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount
of the item.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
No assets became temporarily idle during the financial year. Assets that meet the requirement to be classified as held for
sale were correctly classified as held for sale in terms of IFRS 5.

Stripping activities
The removal of overburden and other mine waste materials is often necessary during the initial development of a
mine site, in order to access the mineral ore deposit. The directly attributable cost of this activity is capitalised in full
within mining assets under construction, until the point at which the mine is considered to be capable of commercial
production.
All amounts capitalised in respect of waste removal are depreciated using the units-of-production method based on
proved and probable ore reserves of the component of the orebody to which they relate.
The effects of changes to the life-of-mine plan on the expected cost of waste removal or remaining reserves for a
component are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate.

1.5

Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. If the total of consideration transferred, noncontrolling interest recognised and previously held interest measured at fair value is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses
on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold.
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Goodwill is determined, as the consideration paid, plus the fair value of any shareholding held prior to obtaining control,
plus non-controlling interest and less the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree.

1.6

Intangible assets

Intangible assets – brands, trademarks and customer lists are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses. There are no intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life. For intangible assets – brands,
trademarks and customer lists amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their useful life.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.
The useful lives of items of intangible assets – brands, trademarks and customer lists have been assessed as follows:
Item

1.7

Five years
Five years

Interests in subsidiaries
In the Group’s separate annual financial statements, interests in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment.
The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:
– the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities occurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued
by the Group; plus
– any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.

Financial instruments
Classification
The Group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial
liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.
Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred.
The Group classifies financial assets into the following categories:
– At fair value through profit or loss (rehabilitation investment).
– Loans and receivables (loans receivable, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents).

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.
Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value.
Purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.
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The Group classifies financial liabilities into the following categories:
– Financial liabilities at amortised cost (borrowings and trade and other payables).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

1.8

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Intangible assets – brands and trademarks
Customer lists

Useful life

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

An intangible asset is recognised when:
– it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
– the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in
which the goodwill arose and are identified according to operating segment.

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Subsequent measurement
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value, with movements recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less
accumulated impairment losses.
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Accounting policies (continued)
1.

Presentation of consolidated annual financial statements (continued)
1.8

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investment have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date the Group assesses financial assets measured at amortised cost to determine whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.
For loans and receivable, the impairment is measured at the difference between the financial asset's carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.
The asset's carrying amount is reduced and the amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that
loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss on loans and
receivables includes significant difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation and default or delinquency in payments.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the
financial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

Loans to/(from) Group companies
Loans to Group companies are classified as loans and receivables, initially recognised at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Loans from Group companies that are repayable on demand are included in current
liabilities. Loans to Group companies with no fixed repayment terms are included in current and non-current assets based
on expected repayments.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables and are amounts due from customers for services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current
assets.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
bank overdrafts.
Rehabilitation investment
The rehabilitation investment with Old Mutual is designated as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as
this investment is managed on a fair value basis. This investment is measured at fair value, with fair value movements
accounted for in profit or loss.

1.9

Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in
respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.
Current tax liabilities/(assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/
(recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not
recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction,
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/(loss).

Tax expenses
Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except
to the extent that the tax arises from:
– a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income, or
– equity.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax
liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction,
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/(loss).

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

1.10 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is 8.5%.
The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining
balance of the liability. The corresponding rental obligation, net of finance charges, is included in payables.
The property, plant and equipment acquired under a finance lease is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the
asset and the lease term.

Initial direct cost incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.
Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in profit or loss.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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Operating leases – lessor
Operating lease income is recognised as an income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between
the amounts recognised as an income and the contractual receipts are recognised as an operating lease liability. The
liability is not discounted.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Finance leases – lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or
charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset
which is not discounted.
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Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.
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Accounting policies (continued)
1.

Presentation of consolidated annual financial statements (continued)
1.11 Inventories
Inventories, which include coal run of mine and product stockpiles and consumables are measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value on the first-in-first-out basis.
The cost of inventories is determined by reference to all costs of purchase, direct mining expenditure and an appropriate
portion of overhead expenditure, including depreciation, transport and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Borrowing cost is not capitalised to inventory.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.
A write-down to net realisable value is required when the carrying amount of inventories exceed the net realisable value.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories,
arising from an increase in net realisable value, are recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
No portion of inventory is non-current. Run of mine stockpiles are utilised by the Processsing Plant in the ongoing
production process. Inventory stockpiles consist of saleable coal processed by the plant.

1.12 Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.
Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group also tests goodwill acquired in a business
combination for impairment annually.
If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs is determined.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and its value
in use.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.
An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying
amount of the units.
The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:
– First, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit.
– Then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior
periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.
The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior periods.
A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than
goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of
its liabilities.
If the Group reacquires its own equity instruments, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental
costs (net of income taxes) on those instruments are deducted from equity attributable to the Group’s equity holders
until the shares are cancelled or reissued.

1.14 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
– the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
– it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
– a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured
as a provision.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expected economic benefits to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation.
The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.
Changes in the provision due to changes in estimates is recognised against the rehabilitation assets, which is measured
at cost.

SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION
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Changes in estimates include:
– a change in the estimated outflow of resources embodying economic benefits required to settle the obiligation;
– a change in the current market-based discount rate, this includes changes in the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability; and
– an increase that reflects the passage of time (Life of Mine).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination payments.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if
the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Group's equity
holders.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

1.13 Share capital and equity

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Accounting policies (continued)
1.

Presentation of consolidated annual financial statements (continued)
1.15 Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extend that significant risk and rewards of ownership of the goods has transferred, there is
no continuing managerial involvement, it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
and costs incurred, or to be incurred, in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of coal
The Group enters into contracts for the sale of coal. Revenue arising from coal sales under these contracts is recognised
when the price is determinable, the product has been delivered in accordance with the terms of the contract, the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, collection of the sales price is probable
and associated costs can be readily estimated.
Income earned from the transport of coal to third parties is recognised as revenue in profit or loss as and when the coal
exits the mine premises (over the weighbridge).

Administration fees
The Company has entered into a service agreement with its subsidiaries, whereby its directors and employees provide
management services to operating subsidiaries in the Group. These services are charged on a monthly basis based on
actual time spent managing the operating subsidiaries and is recognised in the accounting period in which the services
were rendered.
Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.
Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

1.16 Cost of sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
Royalty expenses are recognised in cost of sales on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant
agreements.
The prepaid royalty (refer to note 8) is amortised on a units of production basis, based on Elandspruit run of mine tonnes.
Operational royalties are based on a rate per saleable ton.

1.17 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use.
The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined as follows:
– Actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less any
temporary investment of those borrowings.
– Weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds generally borrowed for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset.
The borrowing costs capitalised do not exceed the total borrowing costs incurred.
The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:
– expenditures for the asset have occurred;
– borrowing costs have been incurred, and
– activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted.
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All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Capitalised borrowing costs are presented under property, plant and equipment additions on the cash flow statement.

1.18 Share-based payments

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest
based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
When the options are exercised, the Group issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The grant by the Group of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group
is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a
corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity accounts.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, under which the entity receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are complete.

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Notes to the annual financial statements
2.

New standards and interpretations
2.1

Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year
For the 2016 annual financial year beginning on or after 31 March 2015 the Group did not adopt any new standards for
the first time.
The following amendments to standards as a result of the annual improvement process became effective for the first
time for the 2016 annual financial year beginning on or after 31 March 2015. These amendments have been adopted
by the Group and did not have a significant effect on the Group’s financial statements:

Annual Improvements 2010 – 2012 issued December 2013
Amendment to IFRS 8, “Operating segments”
The standard is amended to require disclosure of the judgements made by management in aggregating operating
segments. This includes a description of the segments which have been aggregated and the economic indicators which
have been assessed in determining that the aggregated segments share similar economic characteristics.
The standard is further amended to require a reconciliation of segment assets to the entity’s assets when segment assets
are reported.

Amendment to IFRS 13, “Fair value measurement”
The IASB has amended the basis for conclusions of IFRS 13 to clarify that it did not intend to remove the ability to
measure short-term receivables and payables at invoice amounts where the impact of not discounting is immaterial.
Amendment to IAS 24, “Related party disclosures”
The standards is amended to include, as a related party, an entity that provides key management personnel services to
the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity ("the management entity").

Annual Improvements 2011 – 2013 issued December 2013
Amendment to IFRS 13, “Fair value measurement”
The amendment clarifies that the portfolio exception in IFRS 13, which allows an entity to measure the fair value of a
group of financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis, applies to all contracts (including non-financial contracts)
within the scope of IAS 39 or IFRS 9.

2.2

New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective
A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpresentions are effective for annual periods
beginning after 1 April 2016, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
Management is still in the process of determining what the effect of these new standards and amendments will be on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The new standards and amendments will be adopted in the financial
years they become effective.

Amendment to IAS 1, “Presentation of financial statements’ disclosure initiative”
In December 2014, the IASB issued amendments to clarify guidance in IAS 1 on materiality and aggregation, the
presentation of subtotals, the structure of financial statements and the disclosure of accounting policies.
Amendment to IAS 12, “Income taxes”
The amendments were issued to clarify the requirements for recognising deferred tax assets on unrealised losses. The
amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax where an asset is measured at fair value and that fair value is below
the asset’s tax base. They also clarify certain other aspects of accounting for deferred tax assets.
The amendments clarify the existing guidance under IAS 12. They do not change the underlying principles for the
recognition of deferred tax assets.

Amendment to IAS 7, “Cash flow statements”
In January 2016, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued an amendment to IAS 7 introducing an
additional disclosure that will enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities.
The amendment responds to requests from investors for information that helps them better understand changes in
an entity’s debt. The amendment will affect every entity preparing IFRS financial statements. However, the information
required should be readily available. Preparers should consider how best to present the additional information to explain
the changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.
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The IASB has updated IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’ to include guidance on financial liabilities and derecognition of
financial instruments. The accounting and presentation for financial liabilities and for derecognising financial instruments
has been relocated from IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’, without change, except for
financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss.

The model reflects that, at the start of a lease, the lessee obtains the right to use an asset for a period of time and
has an obligation to pay for that right. In response to concerns expressed about the cost and complexity to apply the
requirements to large volumes of small assets, the IASB decided not to require a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities
for short-term leases (less than 12 months), and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value (such as laptops
and office furniture).

One of the implications of the new standard is that there will be a change to key financial ratios derived from a lessee’s
assets and liabilities (for example, leverage and performance ratios).
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17, “Leases”, IFRIC 4, “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, SIC 15,
“Operating Leases – Incentives” and SIC 27, “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a
Lease”.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material
impact on the Group.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

A lessee measures lease liabilities at the present value of future lease payments. A lessee measures lease assets, initially
at the same amount as lease liabilities, and also includes costs directly related to entering into the lease. Lease assets
are amortised in a similar way to other assets such as property, plant and equipment. This approach will result in a more
faithful representation of a lessee’s assets and liabilities and, together with enhanced disclosures, will provide greater
transparency of a lessee’s financial leverage and capital employed.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

IFRS 16, “Leases”
After 10 years of joint drafting by the IASB and FASB they decided that lessees should be required to recognise assets and
liabilities arising from all leases (with limited exceptions) on the balance sheet. Lessor accounting has not substantially
changed in the new standard.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments (2009 & 2010)”
This IFRS is part of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. IFRS 9 addresses classification and measurement of financial
assets and replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in IAS 39 with a single model that has only two
classification categories: amortised cost and fair value.

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
Figures in Rands (Thousands)(R’000)

3.

Risk management
Capital risk management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for its shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.
The approach and capital policies remained consistent with previous year. Optimising the capital structure remains a key priority
and the Group may issue new shares, raise long-term debt or sell assets to optimise appropriate capital structure and return on
equity.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is
calculated as total interest-bearing borrowings (including “current and non-current borrowings” as shown in the statement of
financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the statement of financial
position plus net debt.
The Group’s long-term target gearing ratio is to remain below 50%. Debt covenants include measurement of EBITDA against
net debt and debt service ratios. The facilities (refer to Liquidity Risk) with Investec Bank Limited represents a concentration
risk. Concentration risk is managed by actively monitoring compliance with debt covenants. The Group’s gearing ratio
reduced significantly during the year, as a result of improved financial performance and of raising new share capital during
November 2015.

Share capital
During the quarter ended December 2015, the Group raised R52 million of share capital through general issue of shares and a
combined claw-back and rights issue. The capital was utilised to further develop Elandspruit Mine project and to position the
Company to take advantage of growth opportunities.

The gearing ratio at 2016 and 2015 respectively were as follows:
Group
2016

Note

Company
2015

2016

2015

Total borrowings
Loans from Group companies
Instalment sale agreements
Interest-bearing borrowings

9
16
18

–
(5 763)
(233 819)

–
(5 354)
(218 731)

(6 187)
–
(29 883)

(67 891)
–
(66 096)

Less: Cash and cash equivalents

14

(239 582)
85 398

(224 085)
10 150

(36 070)
(15 747)

(133 987)
(16 806)

Net debt
Total equity

(154 184)
(385 061)

(213 935)
(279 821)

(51 817)
(320 334)

(150 793)
(187 360)

Total capital

(539 245)

(493 756)

(372 151)

(338 153)

Gearing ratio

29%

43%

14%

45%

Financial risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, cash flow interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
Risk management is carried out by the head office function under policies approved by the Board. The head office function
identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The Board provides
written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as interest rate risk, credit
risk and investment of excess liquidity.
The Group is not currently exposed to foreign currency exchange risk.
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Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
Group treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines.
The following tables analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at
the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

As at 31 March 2016
Trade and other payables
Instalment sale agreements
Interest-bearing borrowings
Bank overdraft

Company

254 308
3 336
219 086
15 781

–
2 549
10 316
–

–
561
10 526
–

254 308
6 446
239 928
15 781

492 511

12 865

11 087

516 463

200 879
3 130
176 270
16 827

–
1 799
40 345
–

–
1 063
14 893
–

200 879
5 992
231 508
16 827

397 106

42 144

15 956

455 206

Less than
one year

Between
one and two
years

Between
two and five
years

Total

4 411
6 187
31 492
15 769

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

4 411
6 187
31 492
15 769

57 859

–

–

57 859

8 756
67 891
41 147
16 827

–
–
31 497
–

–
–
–
–

8 756
67 891
72 644
16 827

134 621

31 497

–

166 118

The Group’s risk to liquidity increased due to significant capital investment funded from operating cash flows and from shortterm funding arrangements. The Group manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of credit facilities to ensure funds
available to cover future commitments.
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As at 31 March 2015
Trade and other payables
Loans from Group companies
Interest-bearing borrowings
Bank overdraft

Total

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

As at 31 March 2016
Trade and other payables
Loans from Group companies
Interest-bearing borrowings
Bank overdraft

Between
two and five
years

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

As at 31 March 2015
Trade and other payables
Instalment sale agreements
Interest-bearing borrowings
Bank overdraft

Between
one and two
years

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Group

Less than
one year

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Liquidity risk
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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3.

Risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Cash flow forecasts are prepared in the operating entities of the Group and aggregated by Group treasury, monitoring rolling
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs. Such forecasting takes
into consideration the Group’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance and compliance with internal balance sheet ratio
targets.
Where debt covenants were under pressure or breached during the year the financing institutions confirmed acceptance and
continued support on financing.
The Group funded significant investment to development cost of Elandspruit Mine from operating cash flows and
ongoing utilisation of working capital facilities with Reichmans (refer to note 18), and the proceeds from the rights issue
(refer note 15). As at 31 March 2016, the amounts due in less than one year exceeds the current assets by R159.1 million.
The liquidity position is addressed through:
– having secured the R180 million working capital facility, with Reichmans (Pty) Ltd, until August 2018. At year-end
R170 million was utilised and due to revolving nature of the facility appropriately reported as current liability (refer
to notes 13 and 18)
– having secured R73.5m of term finance during September 2016, to recapitalise and enhance the Elandspruit investment
– recent operational performance demonstrated strong cash generation and improvement of liquidity. Elandspruit Mine being
fully operational and producing at full capacity, the operational cash flow generation exceed operational requirements
Concentration risk is limited due to the fact that the Group generates its mining revenue mainly from sales to parastatal
institutions whilst the trading segment generates revenue from sales to a variety of customers that include private sector,
government institutions, mining entities and various small and medium enterprises. The Group continues to supply coal to Eskom
on short-term contracts whilst negotiations with Eskom to conclude a long-term contract are at an advanced stage.

Cash flow interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, its income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.
The Group and Company’s interest rate risk arises mainly from variable rate instalment sale agreements and borrowings. These
borrowings carry variable rates that are linked to the prime lending rate in South Africa. No interest rate hedges or swaps are
entered into.
The Company has no significant cash flow interest rate risk arising from its interest-bearing loans to and from Group companies
as these loans are interest free, instead the Company is exposed to fair value interest rate risk. The Company’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit before tax by the
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2015.
Group

Increase by 100 basis points
Decrease by 100 basis points

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

(2 554)
2 554

(2 409)
2 409

1 987
(1 987)

1 691
(1 691)

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The Group only deposits cash with major banks
with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counterparty.
Trade receivables consist mainly of Eskom, government institutions, private sector and mining entities. Eskom has a history of no
defaults and a credit rating of BBB.
The Group only trades with recognised creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade
on credit terms be subject to credit verification procedures, which include an assessment of credit rating, short-term liquidity and
financial position.
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Investment property
2016
Group
Investment property

Cost

2015

Accumulated
depreciation Carrying value

709

–

709

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation Carrying value

709

–

709

A register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available for inspection
at the registered office of the company.
Investment property is encumbered as stated in note 18.

5.

Property, plant and equipment
2016
Group

Cost

2015

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation Carrying value

(411)
(22 536)
(986)
(9 093)
(259)
(6 695)
–
(137 858)

71 403
88 143
726
8 931
–
5 977
–
321 170

72 871
79 185
1 632
13 183
494
12 031
31 964
253 064

(350)
(12 271)
(912)
(5 618)
(329)
(4 231)
–
(115 973)

72 521
66 914
720
7 565
165
7 800
31 964
137 091

Total

674 188

(177 838)

496 350

464 424

(139 684)

324 740

Company
Furniture and fixtures
IT equipment

Cost

2015

Accumulated
depreciation Carrying value

Cost

Accumulated
depreciation Carrying value

62
77

–
(31)

62
46

–
75

–
(3)

–
72

139

(31)

108

75

(3)

72

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

71 814
110 679
1 712
18 024
259
12 672
–
459 028

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
IT equipment
Assets under construction
Mining properties

2016

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Investment property was valued by an independent property evaluator during 2014. The fair value was assessed at a level 3 on
the fair value hierarchy and was based on then recent comparable transactions in the area. The fair value of the property was
valued at R1 million.
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5.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2016
Opening
balance

Additions

Land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
IT equipment
Assets under construction
Mining properties

72 521
66 914
720
7 565
165
7 800
31 964
137 091

5 519
35 507
221
3 771
–
443
5 574
168 275

(440)
(75)
(28)
(496)
(9)
(10)
–
(119)

Total

324 740

219 310

(1 177)

Group

Disposals

Transfers

Impairment Depreciation

(4 400)
(4 271)
(24)
1 677
(125)
140
(37 538)
40 141
(4 400)*

Total

(1 728)
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

(69)
(9 932)
(163)
(3 586)
(31)
(2 396)
–
(24 218)

71 403
88 143
726
8 931
–
5 977
–
321 170

(1 728)

(40 395)

496 350

* The Group transferred Land and Buildings of R4.4 million to Non-current Assets classified as held for sale during the year.

Additions to Plant and Machinery include additions and testing of the processing plant's run-of-mine and fines sections.
The Group paid R53.76 million to extend the life of Intibane mine through the acquisition of the Mintirho mineral rights.
These additions are included under Mining Properties. Other Mining Properties additions include the ongoing development of
the Elandspruit operation, amongst other the opening of the box-cut and change in rehabilitation estimate of R23.4 million
(2015: R3.4 million) that was capitalised to the rehabilitation asset.
Additions to land and buildings comprise the acquisition of Portion 24 of Farm Rietfontein 286 (refer note 18).
During the year, the Group has capitalised borrowing costs amounting to R5.57 million (2015: R11.25 million) to assets under
construction (refer note 29). Borrowing costs were capitalised at the weighted average rate of its general borrowings at 10%.
Capitalisation ceased upon Elandspruit commencing commercial production.

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2015
Additions
from business
combinations Depreciation

Opening
balance

Additions

Disposals

Transfers

Land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles
Office equipment
IT equipment
Assets under construction
Mining properties

37 802
14 754
850
6 576
572
9 626
4 124
142 818

37 749
15 960
288
4 288
72
711
30 185
30 094

(2 897)
(471)
(132)
(392)
–
(68)
–
–

22
–
(2)
21
(247)
250
(2 345)
2 301

–
42 500
–
–
–
–
–
3 437

(155)
(5 829)
(284)
(2 928)
(232)
(2 719)
–
(41 559)

72 521
66 914
720
7 565
165
7 800
31 964
137 091

Total

217 122

119 347

(3 960)

–

45 937

(53 706)

324 740

Group
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Total

Opening
balance

Additions

Disposals

Impairment

Furniture and fixtures
IT equipment

–
72

62
2

–
–

–
–

–
(28)

62
46

Total

72

64

–

–

(28)

108

Company

Depreciation

Total

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2016

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2015
Additions

Disposals

Impairment

Depreciation

Total

Mineral assets
IT equipment

22
–

–
75

(22)
–

–
–

–
(3)

–
72

Total

22

75

(22)

–

(3)

72

Group
2016

2015

2016

2015

4 400

–

–

–

Farm 1183 Atlantis Industrial and Erf 7556 George were valued by an independent property evaluator during the year using the
sale comparison approach. This is a level 3 measurement as per the fair value hierarchy. The fair values were estimated to be
lower than the properties' carrying values and the Group recognised an impairment charge of R1.7 million. These properties will
be disposed off within the next twelve months and its fair value of R4.4 million has been classified as Non-current assets held for
sale.
Group

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

5 107
95 926
–
7 851
16 053

–
35 388
41 656
6 120
18 998

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

124 937

102 162

–

–

A register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available for inspection
at the registered office of the company.
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Plant and machinery, motor vehicles and IT equipment are encumbered as stated in note 16 and 18.
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Pledged as security
Carrying value of assets pledged as security:
Portion 24 of Farm Rietfontein 286
Plant, machinery, mineral assets and mining properties
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles, property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Non-current Assets classified as held for sale
Land and buildings

Company

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Opening
balance

Company
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6.

Goodwill
2016
Group
Goodwill

2015

Cost

Accumulated
impairment

Carrying
value

Cost

Accumulated
impairment

Carrying
value

73 637

–

73 637

73 637

–

73 637

Opening
balance

Additions
through
business
combination

Total

73 637

–

73 637

Opening
balance

Additions
through
business
combination

Total

73 637

–

73 637

Reconciliation of goodwill – 2016

Group
Goodwill

Reconciliation of goodwill – 2015

Group
Goodwill

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Goodwill and intangible assets (refer note 7) are allocated to the Group's trading segment. The Group's enlarged coal trading
business operates as one fully integrated segment.
The Group performed its annual impairment test of its goodwill and intangible assets on 31 March 2016. No impairment charge
was recognised in the current or prior year.
The recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating unit is determined using cash flow projections from financial budgets
approved by the Directors, covering a two-year period (2015: one-year period), and applying an expected inflation and growth
rate thereafter. This methodology is consistent with the prior year. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is
21.6% (2015: 20.6%).
The calculation of value in use is most sensitive to the following assumptions:
– Gross margin;
– Discount rates; and
– Growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period.
Gross margins – Gross margins are from the financial budget approved by the Board of Directors during March 2016
which correlates with recent historic rates. Gross margins are expected to remain in a range of between 11% and 12%
(2015: 10% and 11%).
Discount rates – Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to the industry, regarding the time
value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets which have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The
discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the Company and its operating segments. Segment-specific risk is
incorporated by applying individual beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data.
Growth rate estimates – Rates are based on management's estimates and expectations of future operations. An assumed growth
rate of 0.5% (2015: between 0.5% and 1.5%) was used for the next 5 years (2015: 5 years), with no growth thereafter.
The recoverable amount calculated based on value in use exceeded carrying value by R69 million (2015: R61 million). An annual
sales growth rate of 1.5% below inflation, a gross margin of 10.7% or a discount rate of 33% would, all changes taken into
isolation, result in the recoverable amount being equal to the carrying amount.
A sensitivity analysis was performed by changing the above input assumptions as follows:
– Gross margin down by 1%;
– Discount rates up by 1%; and
– Growth rate down by 1%.
None of the above sensitivity changes resulted in an impairment of goodwill or intangible assets.
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Intangible assets
2016
Group
Brands and trademarks
Customer lists

Cost

2015

Accumulated
amortisation Carrying value

Accumulated
amortisation Carrying value

Cost

(3 849)
(13 530)

6 126
16 538

9 975
30 068

(1 854)
(7 287)

8 121
22 781

40 043

(17 379)

22 664

40 043

(9 141)

30 902

Opening
balance Amortisation

Total

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2016
Group
Brands and trademarks
Customer lists

8 121
22 781

(1 995)
(6 243)

6 126
16 538

30 902

(8 238)

22 664

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2015
Opening
balance

Amortisation

Total

9 476
28 610

(1 355)
(5 829)

8 121
22 781

38 086

(7 184)

30 902

Brands and trademarks
Customer lists

8.

Interests in subsidiaries
The Company had the following subsidiaries as at 31 March 2016, which form part of the Wescoal Holdings
Limited Group:

Name of subsidiary
Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries
Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Exploration Proprietary
Limited
Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited

%
holding

Carrying
amount

%
holding

Carrying
amount

Wescoal Holdings Limited
Wescoal Holdings Limited

100%
100%

65 626
60 249

100%
100%

31 989
3 177

Wescoal Holdings Limited
Wescoal Mining Proprietary
Limited
Wescoal Trading Proprietary
Limited
Wescoal Mining Proprietary
Limited
Blanford 006 Proprietary
Limited
Blanford 006 Proprietary
Limited
Blanford 006 Proprietary
Limited

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

100%

–

Held by

125 875

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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Proudafrique Trading 147
Proprietary Limited
(JJP) Gedeelte 16 (van Gedeelte 2)
Vlakvarkfontein Proprietary Limited
(JJP) Gedeelte 6 (van Gedeelte 2)
Vlakvarkfontein Proprietary Limited
(JJP) Res van Gedeelte 2
Vlakvarkfontein Proprietary Limited

2015

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

2016

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Group

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

9 975
30 068

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

7.

GROUP OVERVIEW

87

35 166

Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2016

SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION

The proportion of ordinary shares held by the Group equals that of the proportion of ordinary shares held by each individual
parent company. At year end no proportion of ordinary shares were held by non-controlling interests.
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8.

Interests in subsidiaries (continued)
Name of company
Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited

Nature of business

Segment

Buying, transport and selling of coal
Mining, processing and selling of coal
Sourcing and processing of low grade
coal
Coal exploration
Property Investment
Investment in coal exploration activities

Trading
Mining

Wescoal Exploration Proprietary Limited
Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited
Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited
(JJP) Gedeelte 16 (van Gedeelte 2) Vlakvarkfontein
Proprietary Limited
Property Investment
(JJP) Gedeelte 6 (van Gedeelte 2) Vlakvarkfontein
Proprietary Limited
Property Investment
(JJP) Res van Gedeelte 2 Vlakvarkfontein Proprietary Limited Property Investment

Mining
Property rental and other
Property rental and other
Property rental and other
Property rental and other
Property rental and other
Property rental and other

All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation. The proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiary undertakings
held directly by the parent company do not differ from the proportion of ordinary shares held.
The country of incorporation and place of business of the parent company and all subsidiaries is South Africa.
There are no significant restrictions on cash and cash equivalents.
The Company's shares in subsidaries have been pledged to Investec Bank Limited as security for loans granted (refer to note 18).
Investment in Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited
During 2015 the Company concluded its acquisition of Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited (Proudafrique), thereby
indirectly acquiring the remaining 40% shareholding in Wescoal Exploration Proprietary Limited.
The transaction was not classified as a business combination and therefore no goodwill arose on the transaction.
In substance, the acquisition of Proudafrique effectively resulted in the following:
– Wescoal having purchased the non-controlling interest in Wescoal Exploration (and reversal of the R176,799 non-controlling
interest balance carried in the previous year);
– Wescoal having repurchased 14,285,714 Wescoal shares that had previously been issued to Proudafrique, the value of the
repurchased shares amounted to R27 million, at a share price of R1.89;
– Wescoal having settled the dividend that was due to Proudafrique (R7 million);
– Wescoal having prepaid R1.50 per ton of the royalty that was due to Proudafrique before the transaction. This prepayment
amounted to R12.9 million and is included as a prepaid royalty under non-current assets.

Prepaid royalty
Group

Prepaid royalty

Non-current assets
Current assets

Reconciliation of prepaid royalty
Opening balance
Addition
Depreciation
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Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

12 240

12 909

–

–

12 240

12 909

–

–

11 366
874

12 909
–

–
–

–
–

12 240

12 909

–

–

12 909
–
(669)

–
12 909
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

12 240

12 909

–

–

Loans to/(from) Group companies
Company
2016

Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities

–
40 505
(818)
(1 337)
210 042
(4 032)

77 048
52 804
(11 319)
(28 205)
190 075
(28 366)

244 360

252 037

174 399
76 148
(6 187)

242 880
77 048
(67 891)

244 360

252 037

Loans to subsidiaries are provided by the Company as a general borrowing to fund ongoing operating activities. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the loans to subsidiaries.
The Company does not hold any collateral as security.
Credit quality of loans to subsidiaries
The credit quality of loans to subsidiaries that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to historical
information about counter-party default rates.
None of the loans to subsidiaries is past due but not impaired.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Credit risk
The risk that loans to subsidiaries will not perform as expected, which results in a loss to the Company, can be defined as a credit
risk.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The contractual loan terms were amended on 1 April 2015. All Group loans are now interest-free (2015: 10%). Notional interest
is calculated at 10%, based on debit loans’ estimated terms of repayment. Loans from group companies have no fixed terms of
repayment.
Fair values are determined based on discounted cash flow valuations, and therefore fall within level 3 of the IFRS fair value
hierarchy.
The inputs into the valuations are determined in accordance with estimated payment terms and market related interest rates at
the reporting date.
The fair value of loans receivable balances in the aggregate approximates R247.91 million which is not substantially different
from the carrying value.
The directors consider that the loans from group companies' carrying values approximate their fair values.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Subsidiaries
Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited
Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Exploration Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited

2015

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
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Intercompany loans payable are subordinated in favour of Investec Bank Limited (refer note 18).
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Intercompany loans receivable have been pledged as security for financing provided by Investec Bank Limited (refer note 18).
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10. Deferred tax
Group

2016

Company

2015

2016

2015

4 372
(19 306)

17 558
(5 101)

4 100
–

939
–

(14 934)

12 457

4 100

939

Deferred tax (liability)/asset
Accelerated capital allowances for tax purposes
Rehabilitation provision
Income received in advance
Intangible assets
Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income
Payroll-related accruals
Prepayments
Provision for bad debts
Provisions

(43 990)
18 431
1 002
(5 910)
5 693
4 041
(298)
2 657
3 440

4 923
10 798
–
(8 652)
1 160
1 693
(383)
2 261
657

–
–
–
–
2 374
968
(33)
–
791

–
–
–
–
–
295
–
–
644

Total deferred tax (liability)/asset

(14 934)

12 457

4 100

939

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

Reconciliation of deferred tax (liability)/asset
Group

At beginning of year
Proudafrique deferred tax acquired
Charge to statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

Unrecognised deffered tax asset
Unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

12 457
–

(10 197)
(3 028)

939
–

–
–

(27 391)

25 682

3 161

939

(14 934)

12 457

4 100

939

172

–

–

173

11. Investments
Group

Old Mutual Rehabilitation Investment

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

22 023

14 218

–

–

Group
Opening
balance

Additional
investments

Investment
return

Closing
balance

Reconciliation of investments – 2016
Old Mutual Rehabilitation Investment

14 218

7 440

365

22 023

Reconciliation of investments – 2015
Old Mutual Rehabilitation Investment

6 664

6 806

748

14 218

The investment is administered by Old Mutual Investment Services Ltd. This is an investment product referred to as a focused
investment plan, which requires monthly premiums to be paid until August 2022 and where money is invested in a combination
of underlying unit trusts. Old Mutual has a BBB- credit rating.
Fair value is determined based on the published unit prices of the underlying unit trust and therefore falls within level 2 of the
IFRS fair value hierarchy. There have been no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

Market risk
The Group's exposure to equity securities price risk arises from the underlying unit trust investments held by the Group.
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Group

Raw materials
Finished goods
Consumable stores

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

–
56 577
1 091

60
81 943
849

–
–
–

–
–
–

57 668

82 852

–

–

Write-downs of lower grade run-of-mine sweepings and export product to net realisable value amounted to R2.4 million and
R0.19 million respectively (2015:Rnil) were recognised as an expense and included in "Cost of Sales" in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 March 2016.
No inventory is pledged as security or collateral.

13. Trade and other receivables
Group

Company
2015

2016

2015

211 313
(12 650)

184 355
(10 764)

–
–

6
–

Employee costs in advance
Prepayments
Deposits
VAT
Other debtors

198 663
–
1 797
4 118
223
19 926

173 591
4
33 720
3 256
2 265
25 904

–
–
118
–
–
244

6
–
116
–
–
943

224 727

238 740

362

1 065

Trade receivables
Group

Current
Past due not impaired
Impaired

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

155 492
43 171
12 650

137 879
35 712
10 764

–
–
–

6
–
–

211 313

184 355

–

6

Credit risk
The risk that counterparties or customers will not perform as expected, which results in a loss to the Group, can be defined as a
credit risk.
Trade receivables are divided into two classes, being those relating to Wescoal Mining and those relating to Wescoal Trading.
Wescoal Mining's trade receivables amounted to R92 million (2015: R18.7 million) at year-end and Wescoal Trading made up the
balance at R107 million (2015: R154.9 million).
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All classes of financial assets, with the exception of trade receivables, are not past due nor impaired.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Trade receivables
Provision for impairment

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

2016

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Inventory is carried at cost except for lower grade run-of-mine sweepings of R3.44 million and export product of R0.23 million
carried at net realisable value.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

12. Inventories

GROUP OVERVIEW

91

Wescoal Mining sells mainly to Eskom, who made up 81% (2015: 98%) of the Wescoal Mining Division's trade receivable
balance at year-end. Eskom has a history of no defaults and a credit rating of BBB.
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Trade receivables in Wescoal Trading consist of a large number of customers from widespread and diverse industries. Customers
include government institutions, private sector and mining entities with no history of default.
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13. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
The Group evaluates customers prior to the granting of credit. Each entity has a unique customer base that contributes to
different levels of credit exposure. Entities manage credit exposure by applying prudent credit limits and constant evaluation of
credit behaviour. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used (see above). Otherwise if there is no independent
rating, management assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position and past experience.
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The compliance with
credit limits are monitored monthly in conjunction with the analysis of the receivables' aging report.
The Group's variety of customers across all industries mitigates the exposure of concentration risk resulting from credit risk.
The balance of trade debtors relate to a variety of customers who mostly have a good payment history.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of financial assets.
Based on the nature of the risk against the credit risk exposure, no additional collateral is generally taken against the credit risk
exposures.
Receivables that are impaired were individually assessed regarding recoverability. The provision for bad debt is based on an
aggregation of long outstanding customer balances. A receivable is considered to be impaired when the customer has a history
of default, is experiencing financial difficulties and/or has been handed over for litigation.

Fair value of trade and other receivables
The carrying values of the trade and other receivables approximate their fair values, given the short-term nature of the
receivables.

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
At 31 March 2016, R40.2 million (2015: R35.48 million) and R2.99 million (2015: R0.2 million) were past due but not impaired,
and related to Wescoal Trading and Mining respectively.

The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:
Trading
Past due
30 – 60 days
60 – 90 days
> 90 days

Mining

2016

2015

2016

2015

35 867
2 402
1 910

29 790
4 458
1 239

2 634
358
–

122
26
77

40 179

35 487

2 992

225

As of 31 March 2016, none of the Company's trade and other receivables were past due but not impaired (2015: Rnil).
88% (2015: 85%) of the balance per the ageing consists of entities within the private sector, while the remaining 12%
(2015: 15%) relates to government institutions.

Trade and other receivables impaired
As of 31 March 2016, trade and other receivables of R12.65 million (2015: R10.76 million) were impaired and provided for. The
movement in the allowance for impairment of receivables were as follows:
Group

Opening balance
Provisions for impairment
Amounts written off as uncollectable

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

10 764
2 377
(491)

3 729
8 044
(1 009)

–
–
–

–
–
–

12 650

10 764

–

–

100% (2015: 96%) of the provision for impairment relates to trade receivables in Wecoal Trading. None of Wescoal Mining's
trade receivables were impaired and provided for (2015: 4%).

Pledged as security
Trade receivables with a contractual value of R193.9 million (2015: R174.4 million) have been pledged as security for the
Reichmans (Pty) Ltd loans (refer to note 18).
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Group
2016
Cash on hand
Bank balances
Bank overdraft

2015

2016

2015

32
101 147
(15 781)

21
26 956
(16 827)

–
22
(15 769)

–
21
(16 827)

85 398

10 150

(15 747)

(16 806)

101 179
(15 781)

26 977
(16 827)

22
(15 769)

21
(16 827)

85 398

10 150

(15 747)

(16 806)

The average interest rate on bank balances approximates 0.1% (2015: 0.1%) per annum.
The average interest rate on bank overdrafts approximates 10.5% (2015: 9.75%) per annum and is determined based on
the prime overdraft lending rate. The Group deals with reputable banks in South Africa with current national long term
FitchSolutions ratings of AA and AA-.
Group
Company

The total amount of undrawn facilities available for future
operating activities and commitments

2015

2016

2015

17 000

17 000

17 000

17 000

1 231

173

1 231

173

The above overdraft facilties are secured through unlimited cross suretyships and cessions of loan accounts by all Group
companies.
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Total amount of approved facilities

2016
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Current assets
Current liabilities

Company
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15. Share capital
Number

2016

2015

2016

2015

196 301
31 385
9 848

193 687
–
–

196 301
31 385
9 848

193 687
–
–

–

10 000

–

10 000

–
–
(12 774)

(14 286)
6 900
(12 774)

–
–
(12 774)

(14 286)
6 900
(12 774)

224 760

183 527

224 760

183 527

On 17 November 2015 the Company announced a combined claw-back and rights offer to its shareholders of up to 49,041,904
new shares at the subscription price of 132 cents, in the ratio of 23.78944 shares for every 100 Wescoal shares held.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
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Authorised
500,000,000 ordinary no par value shares
Reconciliation of number of shares issued:
Reported as at 1 April 2015
Rights share issue
General issue of shares
Shares issued to Minoscape (Pty) Ltd as part of the purchase of
70% interest in Proudafrique Trading 147 (Pty) Ltd
Cancellation (repurchase) of shares held by Proudafrique
Trading 147 (Pty) Ltd
Shares issued to Share Trust
Less: Treasury shares held by Share Trust

Company

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Group

The underwriters took up 30.3 million shares. In terms of the claw-back, the underwriters would renounce these shares in the
event Wescoal Shareholders wished to exercise their rights in excess of the remaining 18.7 million shares.
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The offer closed on 4 December 2015 with 31.38 million (30.3 million by underwriters and 1.08 million by Wescoal
Shareholders) of the rights issue shares being taken up. Issue cost of R2.1 million which were directly attributable to the issue of
the shares have been netted against proceeds of R41.4 million as share capital.
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15. Share capital (continued)
During November 2015, the Company issued 9.85 million shares in terms of general issue of shares, at a subscription price of
132 cents per share. Issue cost of R0.56 million directly attributable to the issue of the shares have been netted against proceeds
of R13 million as share capital.
Refer to note 8 for additional information regarding shares issued to Minoscape (Pty) Ltd and cancellation (repurchase) of shares
in 2015.
262,466,422 unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the Directors in terms of a resolution of members passed at the
last Annual General Meeting. This authority remains in force until the next Annual General Meeting.
Group
Value

Issued
Ordinary
Treasury shares held by Share Trust

2016

Company
2015

2016

2015

231 870
(18 714)

180 179
(18 714)

231 870
(18 714)

180 179
(18 714)

213 156

161 465

213 156

161 465

The Directors are authorised to issue, allot and grant options to acquired a maximum of 29,186,272 ordinary shares in the issued
share capital of the Company in terms of the incentive scheme.
No share options were exercised during the year. Proceeds from the exercise of 3,086,000 share options by employees in 2015
amounted to R2.85 million (Refer note 21).
Refer to page 112 for an analysis of shareholders.

16. Instalment sale agreements
Group

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Contractual future instalments
– within one year
– in second to third year inclusive

3 336
3 110

3 130
2 862

–
–

–
–

Less: future finance charges

6 446
(683)

5 992
(638)

–
–

–
–

Present value of future instalments

5 763

5 354

–

–

Group

Present value of future instalments
– within one year
– in second to third year inclusive

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

2 856
2 907

2 718
2 636

–
–

–
–

5 763

5 354

–

–

2 907
2 856

2 636
2 718

–
–

–
–

5 763

5 354

–

–

It is Group policy to finance certain motor vehicles and equipment under instalment sale agreements.
The average finance term is three years and the average effective borrowing rate was 11.27% (2015: 11%). Interest rates are
linked to prime (plus 1% to 2.5%) at the contract date.
The instalment sale agreements are secured by vehicles and property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of
R7.85 million (2015: R6.12 million) (refer note 5).

Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2016

Group

Company
2015

2016

2015

Environmental rehabilitation

60 076

38 563

–

–

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

46 186
13 890

38 563
–

–
–

–
–

60 076

38 563

–

–

Time value
of money
and inflation
component
of
Utilised rehabilitation

Total

Reconciliation of provisions – 2016

Group
Environmental rehabilitation

Opening
balance

Additions

38 563

28 586

(9 295)

60 076

Time value
of money
and inflation
component of
Utilised rehabilitation

Total

Reconciliation of provisions – 2015

Group
Environmental rehabilitation

Opening
balance

Additions

41 104

3 437

(8 321)

2 343

38 563

While the ultimate amount of rehabilitation costs to be incurred in the future is uncertain, the Group has estimated that, based
on current environmental and regulatory requirements, the total cost for the mines, in current monetary terms, is approximately
R60.08 million (2015: R38.56 million).

The breakdown of the liability per site is as follows:

2015
Environmental rehabilitation

Intibane

15 882

11 672

Khanyisa

Intibane

11 847

5 249

Elandspruit Blesboklaagte
18 632

Total

13 890

60 076

Elandspruit Blesboklaagte

Total

3 467

18 000

38 563

In determining the above provision, the current cost estimates as determined by environmental rehabilitation experts have
been escalated to a future value at an inflation rate of 6% (2015: between 5% and 6%) over a period of between two and
fourteen years (2015: two and fifteen years). The future value was then discounted at a rate of between 8.75% and 9.25%
(2015: between 6.9% and 7.8%) giving a real discount rate of between 2.75% and 3.25% (2015: 1.8%). A 0.5% change in
the real discount rate would change the present value of the liability by R1.5 million (2015: R0.5 million).
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The mine sites are concurrently rehabilitated, of which the major part of the rehabilitation will be conducted at the end of the
life of each mine site. The Group utilised R4.1 million of its provision during the year for the rehabilitation of Blesboklaagte.
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2016
Environmental rehabilitation

Khanyisa

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

The Group's mining and exploration activities are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations. These laws and
regulations are continually changing and are generally becoming more restrictive. The Group has made and expects to make
in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations, but cannot predict the full amount of such future
expenditures. Estimated future reclamation costs are based principally on legal and regulatory requirements. The above is a
reconciliation of the total liability for environmental rehabilitation.
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2 222
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2016
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17. Provisions (continued)
The provision for rehabilitation increase significantly when Elandspruit commenced mining operations during the year. The
acquisition of the Mintirho Mining Right extended Intibane's Life of Mine which further contributed to the incease in the
rehabilitation provision. R23.4 million of the change in estimate was capitalised to mineral properties (2015: R3.4 million) with
the remaining R5.2 million being expensed to profit or loss for the year.

The expected Life of Mine for each mine site as at 31 March 2016 is as follows:

Life of Mine

Khanyisa

Intibane

30 months

24 months

Elandspruit Blesboklaagte
14 years

–

The Group intends to finance the ultimate rehabilitation costs from the money invested in and ongoing contributions to
environmental rehabilitation investments, as well as the proceeds on sale of assets at the time of mine closure. The Group has
guarantees in place relating to environmental liabilities. These guarantees have been issued by third parties on behalf of the
Group.

Net undiscounted obligation
2016
Estimated rehabilitation cost (undiscounted)
Amounts invested in rehabilitation investment (refer to note 11)
Total net undiscounted obligation

2015

71 277
(22 023)

40 926
(14 218)

49 254

26 708

2016

2015

31 339
6 259

27 339
6 259

37 598

33 598

Guarantees

Environmental rehabilitation guarantees issued to the DMR
Environmental rehabilitation guarantees issued to other parties

These guarantees have been issued by third parties on behalf of the Group and are secured by a cession over the Old Mutual
Rehabilitation investment (refer to note 11), together with other Group sureties and indemnities.
Additional guarantees of R17.4 million was issued after year-end, refer post financial year-end events note 38.

18. Interest-bearing borrowings
Group

Held at amortised cost
Investec Bank Limited (business acquisition finance)
Investec Bank Limited (property finance)
Investec Group of Companies – Reichmans (Pty) Ltd*
Muhanga Mines (Pty) Ltd
Pentalin Trading 56 (Pty) Ltd
Coaltoll (Pty) Ltd

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

2016

2015

2016

2015

29 883
13 061
169 933
–
14 308
6 634

66 096
12 312
107 598
18 057
4 480
10 188

29 883
–
–
–
–
–

66 096
–
–
–
–
–

233 819

218 731

29 883

66 096

18 533
215 286

50 837
167 894

–
29 883

30 172
35 924

233 819

218 731

29 883

66 096

* Reichmans (Pty) Ltd is a member of the Investec Group of Companies.

Refer to note 3 for the undiscounted amounts of interest-bearing borrowings.
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Company

The Investec Bank Limited loan of R29.88 million relates to financing provided by Investec to Wescoal Holdings Limited to finance
the MacPhail acquisition. The loan bears interest at the prime overdraft lending rate plus 1% and is repayable in quarterly
instalments. Maturity date of the loan is 28 October 2016. The loan is secured by inter alia properties of Blanford 006 (Pty) Ltd
with a carrying value of R16.7 million and inter alia moveable assets of Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd and Wescoal Trading (Pty) Ltd
with a carrying value of R95.93 million. The Company's shares in subsidiaries have been pledged as security for this loan. The
Directors consider that the carrying value of the loan approximates its fair value, since the interest payable is close to current
market rates.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Investec Bank Limited (business acquisition finance)
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Investec Bank Limited (property finance)

Interest rate
Monthly instalments
Maturity date
Security

MacPhail

Prime overdraft lending rate
60
11 February 2021
Portion 24 of Farm Rietfontein with a
carrying value of R5.1 million

Prime overdraft lending rate less 0.5%
60 with balloon payment at maturity date
31 December 2018
Inter alia properties of Blanford 006 (Pty)
Ltd with a carrying value of R16.7 million
The Company's shares in subsidiaries have
been pledged as securit for the loan

The fair value of the loans are not materially different to their carrying amounts, since the interest payable on these loans are
linked, or close to, current market rates.
Investec Group of Companies – Reichmans (Pty) Ltd
The Reichmans (Pty) Ltd loan forms part of a R180 million working capital facility provided to the Group by Investec Group of
Companies. The financing provided is a revolving credit facility of R90 million to Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd and Wescoal Trading
(Pty) Ltd respectively.
The facility in form of invoice discounting is drawn or repaid based on business funding requirements. The arrangement allows
for the drawdown against factored debtor invoices to a maximum of R180 million or 80% of qualifying debtors.

These loans bear interest at the prime overdraft lending rate plus 1.5% and 2% respectively. The loans are secured by
trade receivables of Wescoal Mining (Pty) Ltd and Wescoal Trading (Pty) Ltd with a contractual value of R193.9 million at
31 March 2016 (2015: R174.4 million).
The fair value of the loans are not materially different to their carrying amounts, since the interest payable on these loans are
close to current market rates.

Muhanga Mines (Pty) Ltd

Muhanga Mines (Pty) Ltd is not a related party of the Wescoal Group.

CoalToll (Pty) Ltd
The Group concluded an agreement with CoalToll (Pty) Ltd for the construction and commissioning of a fines plant, which will
operate in conjunction with the Muhanga Processing plant. The construction of the fines plant is an addition to the Muhanga
Processing plant and does not form part of the business combination (refer note 20).
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The Group financed R21.5 million of the Muhanga Processing plant acquisition as part of the agreement entered into with
Muhanga Mines (Pty) Ltd by Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited in 2015. The loan bore interest at the prime lending rate and
was payable in 12 monthly instalments. The loan was secured by a special notorial bond registered over the plant assets (refer
note 5) and was settled in full during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

At 31 March 2016, R87.70 million (2015: R12.56 million) and R82.23 million (2015: R95.04 million) were utilised against the
facility by Wescoal Mining and Trading respectively.

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Rietfontein

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

The Investec Bank Limited loan of R13.06 million relates to financing provided by Investec to Blanford 006 (Pty) Ltd for the
purchase of property as part of the MacPhail acquisition in 2014 and Portion 24 of Farm Rietfontein 286 in the current year.

The CoalToll (Pty) Ltd loan is unsecured, bears interest at a fixed rate of 13.25% and is payable in 36 monthly instalments of
R387,041. Repayment commenced November 2014.

The fair value of the loan is not materially different to their carrying amounts, since the interest payable is close to current
market rates.
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CoalToll (Pty) Ltd is not a related party of the Wescoal Group.
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18. Interest-bearing borrowings (continued)
Pentalin Trading 56 (Pty) Ltd
The Pentalin 56 (Pty) Ltd loan was entered into to co-finance the construction of the fines plant in conjuntion with CoalToll
(Pty) Ltd. This loan is unsecured, bears interest at a fixed rate of 11.73% and is payable in 36 monthly instalments of R159,546.
Payment commenced January 2015.
During the year, the Company entered into a second loan with Pentalin 56 (Pty) Ltd to finance the ROM plant. This loan is
unsecured, bears interest at a fixed rate of 12.25% and is payable in 35 monthly instalments of R665,000. Payment commenced
May 2015.
Pentalin 56 (Pty) Ltd is not a related party of the Wescoal Group.
The fair value of the loan is not materially different to its carrying amount, since the interest payable is close to current market
rates.

19. Trade and other payables
Group

Trade payables
VAT
Accruals
Payroll accruals
Other payables

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

237 538
2 113
8 651
16 157
8 119

174 865
1 841
7 324
16 226
18 690

961
261
627
4 956
2 823

979
346
3 957
9 508
3 820

272 578

218 946

9 628

18 610

Fair value of trade and other payables
The fair value of trade and other payables approximate its carrying values, given the short-term nature of the payables.

20. Business acquisition
Group

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Property, plant and equipment
Rehabilitation asset
Deferred tax on rehabilitation asset
Rehabilitation liability
Deferred tax on rehabilitation liability

–
–
–
–
–

42 500
3 437
(962)
(3 437)
962

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

Total identifiable net assets
Goodwill

–
–

42 500
–

–
–

–
–

Total consideration

–

42 500

–

–

Net cash outflow on acquisition
Cash consideration paid
Amount payable over twelve months

–
–

21 000
21 500

–
–

–
–

Paid during the year
Outstanding balance

–
–

3 443
18 057

–
–

–
–

Total consideration

–

42 500

–

–

Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2016

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited acquired a coal processing plant from Muhanga Mines Proprietary Limited for a total
purchase price of R42.5 million with effect from 1 November 2014. An initial payment of R21 million was paid in cash, with the
remaining balance of R21.5 million, plus interest calculated at prime interest rate, payable in 12 equal tranches commencing on
the first business day of the third month after the effective date (refer to note 18).

The Group also assumed an existing rehabilitation obligation of R5.18 million, determined through a baseline environmental
study conducted by an environmental expert, which inludes the obligations for the environmental liability and water liability
arising from the conduct of the coal benefication and washing business using the sale assets. The R3.44 million rehabilitation
liability in the financial statements reflects the impact of discounting for the time value of money.
The acquisition gave the Group immediate access to a fully-fledged beneficiation asset that is operational, had all the necessary
regulatory approvals and extensive infrastructure to allow for a multi-product operation whilst approvals were awaited for
the Elandspruit site. This plant operated on a breakeven basis by processing third-party coal as an interim measure until the
Elandsprit Mine becomes fully operational.

21. Share-based payments
Information on options granted during the year
The fair value of options are determined at grant date using the Black-Scholes Model. The expense is recognised on a straightline basis over the duration of the scheme.
The following inputs were used in the valuation of options granted:
2015

111 cents
60%
Five years
0.6
8%

178 cents
57%
Five years
1.4
7%

Middle and senior management qualify to take part in the scheme. The duration of each issue is five years, and one-fifth of
the options vest at each year-end. The only vesting condition is that employees must remain in the service of Wescoal for the
duration of the scheme. The right to exercise the options are relinquished should the employee not remain in Wescoal’s service
for the duration of the scheme. There are no market performance conditions. Volatility is calculated based on the daily share
price history for the preceding five years.

When the options are exercised, the shares held by the Wescoal Share Incentive Trust are issued to the employee. The proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital.
The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is
treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value,
is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity accounts.

SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION
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Service conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Weighted average share price
Expected volatility
Option life
Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rate

2016

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

The purchase price allocation is set out in the table above. The acquisition price did not include any goodwill. Transaction costs
amounting to R284 326 have been expensed.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

The acquisition of the plant comprised of fixed assets in connection with the conduct of the coal benefication and washing
business. These included the coal washing plant, related infrastructure and pumping infrastructure, immovable property situated
on Portion 6 of the Farm Goedenhoop 315 JS, BECSA Servitude and Access Servitude, NEMA authorisations and applicable
Muhanga WUL provisions.
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Acquisition of Muhanga Plant
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21. Share-based payments (continued)
Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average share price at exercise date of
options are as follows:
2016
Average
exercise price
in cents per
share option
At the beginning of the year
Granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited
At the end of the year

2015

Options

Average
exercise price
in cents per
share option

Options

147
111
–
(133)

12 730
1 100
–
(5 430)

120
180
93
181

11 516
4 600
(3 086)
(300)

151

8 400

147

12 730

Of the 8.4 million (2015: 12.73 million) outstanding options, 3.2 million (2015: 4.85 million) options were exercisable at
31 March 2016.
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Grant date
9 June 2010
6 August 2012
29 August 2012
4 November 2013
8 November 2013
22 July 2014
28 August 2014
4 November 2014
17 November 2014
25 November 2015

Expiry date
8 June 2015
5 August 2017
28 August 2017
3 November 2018
7 November 2018
21 July 2019
27 August 2019
3 November 2019
16 November 2019
24 November 2020

Exercise price
in cents per
share

Share
options
2016

Share
options
2015

106
90
86
206
212
181
172
185
196
111

300
340
2 000
240
2 080
740
600
1 000
–
1 100

1 960
1 870
2 000
400
2 200
1 900
1 200
1 000
200
–

8 400

12 730

At fair value
through Non-financial
profit or loss
assets

Total

22. Financial assets by category
Group
Loans and
receivables
2016
Trade and other receivables
Investments*
Cash and cash equivalents

2015
Trade and other receivables
Investments*
Cash and cash equivalents

222 707
–
101 179

–
22 023
–

2 020
–
–

224 727
22 023
101 179

323 886

22 023

2 020

347 929

202 751
–
26 977

–
14 218
–

35 989
–
–

238 740
14 218
26 977

229 728

14 218

35 989

279 935

* This is an investment with Old Mutual and was invested to assist with the payment of rehabilitation at the end of the life of mine.
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Loans and Non-financial
receivables
assets
2016
Trade and other receivables
Loans to Group companies
Cash and cash equivalents

244
250 547
22

118
–
–

362
250 547
22

250 813

118

250 931

949
319 928
21

116
–
–

1 065
319 928
21

320 898

116

321 014

Financial
liabilities at
amortised Non-financial
cost
liabilities

Total

23. Financial liabilities by category
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2015
Trade and other receivables
Loans to Group companies
Cash and cash equivalents

Total

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Company
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2016

Interest-bearing borrowings
Trade and other payables
Instalment sale agreements
Bank overdraft

233 819
272 578
5 763
15 781

509 671

18 270

527 941

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

Non-financial
liabilities

Total

218 731
200 879
5 354
16 827

–
18 067
–
–

218 731
218 946
5 354
16 827

441 791

18 067

459 858

Financial
liabilities at
amortised Non-financial
cost
liabilities

Total

2015

Group
Interest-bearing borrowings
Trade and other payables
Instalment sale agreements
Bank overdraft

2016

Company
Trade and other payables
Loans from Group companies
Interest-bearing borrowings
Bank overdraft

4 411
6 187
29 883
15 769

5 217
–
–
–

9 628
6 187
29 883
15 769

56 250

5 217

61 467
SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION
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233 819
254 308
5 763
15 781

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Group
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23. Financial liabilities by category (continued)
2015

Company

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

Non-financial
liabilities

Total

8 756
67 891
66 096
16 827

9 854
–
–
–

18 610
67 891
66 096
16 827

159 570

9 854

169 424

Trade and other payables
Loans from Group companies
Interest-bearing borrowings
Bank overdraft

24. Revenue
Group

Sale of goods
Administration fees

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

1 589 870
–

1 674 372
–

–
25 890

–
25 602

1 589 870

1 674 372

25 890

25 602

25. Cost of sales
Group

Direct purchases
Royalty expense
Mining contractor cost
Consumables and maintenance cost
Staff cost
Fuel
Amortisation and depreciation of assets
Mining overhead and other cost

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

1 045 930
7 708
141 897
9 201
22 091
48 304
33 217
29 802

1 054 261
6 523
193 925
6 490
19 167
49 271
46 276
78 815

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

1 338 150

1 454 728

–

–

26. Other income/(loss)
Group

(Loss)/profit on property, plant and equipment
Other*
Dividend received from group companies

2016

2015

2016

2015

(154)
1 512
–

696
1 557
–

–
–
64 917

(22)
–
–

1 358

2 253

64 917

(22)

* Includes fair value return of R0.37 million (2015: R0.75 million) on rehabilitation investment.
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Operating profit/(loss) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:
Group

Income from subsidiaries
Administration and management fees

2015

2016

–

–

3 713

3 560

–

–

(154)
1 784
41 064
8 238
1 728
67 412
2 500
11 208
5 562
4 733

696
2 420
53 706
7 184
–
84 567
2 200
7 471
8 577
5 676

–
483
28
–
–
16 635
2 500
6 027
–
461

(22)
1 345
3
–
–
28 791
2 200
3 490
9
328

(25 890)

2015
(25 602)

Employee costs include an amount of R4.49 million (2015: R4.11 million) relating to the medical and provident fund
contributions paid by the Group in the year under review. The Group has no defined benefit pension plans or post-retirement
medical obligations.

28. Interest received
Group

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

833
171
–

1 373
215
–

–
2
23 198

1 261
198
26 800

1 004

1 588

23 200

28 259

Interest received on Group loans for 2016 comprise notional interest calculated at 10%.

29. Finance costs
Group

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Interest revenue
Other
Interest on bank deposits
Interest received on Group loans

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Net (loss)/profit on sale of assets
Share-based payment expense
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Employee costs
Auditor's remuneration
Consulting fees
Repairs and maintenance
Computer expenses

2016

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Operating lease charges
Premises
– Contractual amounts

Company

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

27. Operating profit/(loss)

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Company
2016

2015

Interest-bearing borrowings
Provision for Rehabilitation: Unwinding of discount
Bank overdrafts
Instalment sale agreements
Interest paid on Group loans
Other
SARS

21 618
2 222
1 732
676
–
346
903

16 549
2 343
1 817
502
–
–
778

5 266
–
1 607
–
–
–
–

5 720
–
1 500
–
4 770
–
214

Total finance costs
Less: Amounts capitalised on qualifying assets

27 497
(5 574)

21 989
(11 247)

6 873
–

12 204
–

21 923

10 742

6 873

12 204
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
Figures in Rands (Thousands)(R’000)

30. Taxation
Group
2016

Major components of the tax expense
Current
Local income tax – current period
Local income tax – prior period

11 759
(10 911)

Company
2015

2016

2015

33 375
436

–
–

378
29

–

407

848

33 811

Deferred
Temporary differences – current period
Temporary differences – prior period

13 214
14 177

(24 169)
(1 513)

(3 161)
–

(939)
–

Income tax expense/(recovery)

28 239

8 129

(3 161)

(532)

Reconciliation of the tax expense
The tax on the Group's profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax
rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:
Group

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

Accounting profit/(loss) before tax

80 004

37 083

76 338

(5 325)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2015: 28%)

22 401

10 383

21 375

(1 491)

500
2 221

678
1 230

135
1

377
553

–
–

–
–

Tax effect of adjustment on taxable income:
Non-deductible expenses
– Share-based payment expense
– Penalties, interest and other non-deductible items
Non-taxable income
Dividends received from group companies
Notional interest received on group loans
Deferred tax liability reversed after cancellation of parent entity
shares owned by subsidiary
Deferred tax not recognised as assessed loss
Adjustment in respect of prior periods
Capital gain taxed at lower rate

–
1
3 266
(150)
28 239

(3 028)
–
(1 077)
(57)
8 129

(18 177)
(6 495)

–
–

–
–
–
–
(3 161)

–
–
29
–
(532)

31. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing profit or loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Group

Basic earnings per share
From continuing operations (cents per share)

2016

2015

26.23

15.74

Basic earnings per share was based on earnings of R51.76 million (2015: R28.95 million) and a weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 197.36 million (2015: 183.93 million).
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Profit used to calculate earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent

2016

2015

51 765

28 954

Diluted earnings per share
In the determination of diluted earnings per share, profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Diluted earnings per share
From continuing operations (cents per share)

2016

2015

26.22

15.58

Diluted earnings per share was based on earnings of R51.76 million (2015: R28.95 million) and a weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 197.40 million (2015: 185.81 million).
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Group
2015

197 361

183 929

38

1 881

197 399

185 810

Inventive Trust by the Directors and employees to subscribe to new shares in Wescoal.

Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings per share
Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings are determined by adjusting basic earnings and diluted earnings by excluding
separately identifiable re-measurement items.
Headline earnings and diluted headline earnings are presented before and after tax and non-controlling interest.
2016

Headline earnings per share (cents)
Diluted headline earnings per share (cents)
Reconciliation between earnings and headline earnings
Basic earnings
Adjusted for:
Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment
Impairment of property, plant and equipment

After tax
and noncontrolling
interest

Before tax
and noncontrolling
interest

27.06
27.05

After tax
and noncontrolling
interest
15.36
15.21

80 004

51 765

37 083

28 954

154
1 728

154
1 486

(696)
–

(696)
–

81 886

53 405

36 387

28 258
SHAREHOLDER
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Before tax
and noncontrolling
interest

2015

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

* Diluted earnings reflected showing the potential effect of dilution for 8.4 million (2015: 12.73 million) options held in terms of the Wescoal Share

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Reconciliation of weighted average number of ordinary shares used for earnings
per share to weighted average number of ordinary shares used for diluted earnings
per share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used for basic earnings per share
Adjusted for:
Share options in terms of the Wescoal Share Incentive Trust*

2016
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
Figures in Rands (Thousands)(R’000)

32. Cash generated from/(utilised in) operations
Group

Profit/(loss) before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant, equipment and prepayment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Other non-cash item
Loss/(profit) on sale of assets
Interest received – investment
Finance costs
Dividend received
Movement in provisions
Share-based payment expense
Investment return
Changes in working capital:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

Company

2016

2015

2016

2015

80 004

37 083

76 338

(5 325)

41 064
8 238
1 728
–
154
(1 004)
19 701
–
7 454
1 784
(365)

53 706
7 184
–
37
(696)
(1 588)
8 399
–
2 343
2 420
(748)

28
–
–
–
–
(23 200)
6 873
(64 917)
–
483
–

3
–
–
–
22
(28 259)
12 204
–
–
1 345
–

25 184
14 013
41 635

(22 013)
11 048
(2 671)

–
703
(8 983)

–
14 662
14 651

239 590

94 504

(12 675)

9 303

33. Tax paid
Group

Company

2016
Balance at beginning of year
Charge through profit or loss
Balance at end of year

2015

2016

2015

(39 899)
(848)
27 585

(10 268)
(33 811)
39 899

(407)
–
(787)

–
(407)
407

(13 162)

(4 180)

(1 194)

–

34. Related parties
Relationships
Ultimate holding company

Wescoal Holdings Limited

Subsidiaries

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Exploration Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited
Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited
Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited
JJP Res Gedeelte 2 Van Plaas Vlakvarkfontein
213 Proprietary Limited
JJP Gedeelte 6 (Van Ged 2) Van Vlakvarkfontein
213 Proprietary Limited
JJP Gedeelte 16 (Van Ged 2) Van Vlakvarkfontein
213 Proprietary Limited

Employee share incentive scheme

Wescoal Share Incentive Trust

Members of key management

Directors

Group Executive Committee

Key management personnel who have the authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities
of the Company and subsidiaries.
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Administration fees received from related parties
Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
210 042
(818)
40 505
(1 337)
(4 032)

77 048
190 075
(11 319)
52 804
(28 205)
(28 366)

–

–

244 360

252 037

–

–

12 774

12 774

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

(20 161)
–
(3 037)
–
–
–

(13 166)
970
(3 529)
(10 104)
2 427
1 372

–

–

(23 198)

(22 030)

–
–
–

–
–
–

9 708
15 535
647

10 217
15 325
60

–

–

25 890

25 602

–
–
–

–
–
–

32 000
2 200
30 717

–
–
–

–

–

64 917

–

2 544
15 999
1 101
1 277

2 129
19 724
1 431
12 934

2 544
5 142
315
321

2 129
9 029
691
10 585

20 921

36 218

8 322

22 434

2015
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Compensation to Directors and prescribed officers
Non-executive Directors' fees
Remuneration
Retirement and medical contributions
Fringe benefits and bonus

2016

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Dividends received from related parties
Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited

2015

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Shares held by Trust
Wescoal Share Trust
Related party transactions
Interest paid to/(received from) related parties
Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited
Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Exploration Proprietary Limited
Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited

2016

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Related party balances
Loan accounts – Owing (to)/by related parties
Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited
Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Exploration Proprietary Limited
Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited

Company

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Group

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
Figures in Rands (Thousands)(R’000)

35. Directors’ and prescribed officers’ remuneration
Executive Directors

2016

Medical and
provident
fund
Remuneration contributions

M du Plessis*
W Sulaiman
I van der Walt

Annual
bonus

Fringe
and other
benefits

Cash total

IFRS 2 share
option
expense

1 203
3 000
939

90
225
–

–
36
6

279
–
–

1 572
3 261
945

76
227
3

5 142

315

42

279

5 778

306

Annual bonus

Fringe and
other benefits

Cash total

IFRS 2 share
option
expense

* Morne du Plessis resigned as Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Group with effect from 30 September 2015.

2015

Medical and
provident fund
Remuneration contributions

AR Boje*
WN Khumalo
P Janse van Rensburg**
M du Plessis
W Sulaiman

*

4 905
1 218
406
2 000
500

337
71
95
150
38

409
135
–
117
–

8 541
–
1 237
146
–

14 192
1 424
1 738
2 413
538

1 106
–
–
127
74

9 029

691

661

9 924

20 305

1 307

Andre Boje resigned as Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Group with effect from 14 April 2015. On 31 March 2015, a separation package of
R8.5 million (and termination benefits) was agreed with Mr Boje, included under “Fringe and other benefits”. This amount has been fully provided for in
the financial statements as at 31 March 2015.

** Petrus Janse van Rensburg resigned as Director effective 30 June 2014. His separation package (and termination benefits) of R1.2 million is included
under “Fringe and other benefits”.

Share options in the Company held by Directors
Financial
year granted

Option grant
(strike price)
cents

Balance held
at 31 March
2016

Balance held
at 31 March
2015

AR Boje (resigned 14 April 2015)

2011
2013
2015

106
90
172

–
–
–

1 000
1 300
600

M du Plessis (resigned 30 September 2015)

2015

181

–

1 000

W Sulaiman

2015
2016

185
111

1 000
250

1 000
–

IJ van der Walt

2016

111

75

–

Directors

Non-executive Directors
Fees for services as Directors

JG Pansegrouw
HLM Mathe
MR Ramaite
DMT van Gaalen
KM Maroga
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2016

2015

482
434
546
695
387

311
376
528
594
320

2 544

2 129

2016

Medical and
provident
fund
Remuneration contributions

Fringe
and other
benefits

Cash total

IFRS 2 share
option
expense

3 742
2 109
1 779
2 606
621

272
147
127
195
45

32
24
21
500
–

–
214
–
–
165

4 046
2 494
1 927
3 301
831

245
106
53
448
53

10 857

786

577

379

12 599

905

Annual bonus

Fringe and
other benefits

Cash total

IFRS 2 share
option
expense

* C Mnisi resigned on 15 October 2015.

2015

Medical and
provident fund
Remuneration contributions
249
126
115
171
79

312
115
–
885
106

304
140
109
258
120

4 487
2 212
1 904
3 725
1 456

220
64
47
420
47

10 695

740

1 418

931

13 784

798

Financial
year granted

Option grant
(strike price)
cents

Balance held
at 31 March
2016

Balance held
at 31 March
2015

HP Botes

2013
2015

86
172

2 000
500

2 000
500

E Strydom

2014

206

200

200

M Berry

2014
2016

212
111

2 000
200

2 000
–

C Mnisi (resigned 15 October 2015)

2014

206

40

200

B Siko

2015
2016

181
111

500
100

500
–

Share options in the Company held by Prescribed Officers

Prescribed Officers

The Group had contingent liabilities at 31 March 2016 in respect of:

Claims
On 31 March 2016, the Group received a Statement of Claim, which commenced the pleadings in the Arbitration Proceedings
pertaining to a dispute of certain provisions of a Coal Transportation Agreement concluded on 8 October 2014.
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36. Contingent liabilities

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

3 622
1 831
1 680
2 411
1 151

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

HP Botes
B Siko
E Strydom
M Berry
C Mnisi

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

HP Botes
B Siko
E Strydom
M Berry
C Mnisi*

Annual
bonus

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Prescribed Officer's

GROUP OVERVIEW
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The Group has disclaimed the liability and is defending the action in terms of the arbitration process. The potential undiscounted
amount of the total payments that the Group could be required to make, in addition to amounts already provided for, if there
was an adverse decision related to the arbitration, is estimated to be approximately R3 million.
SHAREHOLDER
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Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
Figures in Rands (Thousands)(R’000)

37. Commitments
Capital commitments
Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:
2016
Property, plant and equipment

21 584

Mintirho Mining Right
The above commitments include capital expenditure of R15.6 million relating to the acquisition of the Mintirho Mining Right
(refer to note 5).

38. Post-financial year-end events
Subsequent to 31 March 2016
The Group announced on 2 June 2016, that the Board of Directors in considering the Group’s financial position and strong annual
performance, has agreed to distribute R10 million to shareholders as a dividend for the period.
Additional rehabilitation guarantees to the value of R17.4 million was issued to the DMR during August 2016.

The board appointed Thivha Tshithavhane on 1 April 2016 as Executive Director Business Development and Bothwell Mazarura as
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer on 1 July 2016.

39. Segment reporting
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and activities and has four
reportable operating segments.
–
–
–
–

The Mining segment is involved in the exploration, benefication and mining of bituminous coal.
The Trading segment buys and sells coal to inland customers.
The Property Rental segment rents property to other segments within the Group.
The Investment Holding segment is the holding company of the Group and also acts as a central treasury function.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments. Group Exco is the Group's
chief decision-maker. Management has determined the operating segments based on the information received by Group Exco.
Annual segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with operating profit or
loss in the consolidated financial statements.
All revenue is generated from customers in Southern Africa and all operating assets are situated in South Africa. The mining
segment generates its revenue mainly from sales to parastatal institutions. The trading segment generates its revenue from sales
to a variety of customers that include private sector, government institutions, mining entities and various small and medium
enterprises.
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Intersegment
eliminations Consolidated

601 152
26 033

988 183
–

535
1 174

–
25 890

–
(53 097)

1 589 870
–

627 185
(485 226)

988 183
(878 957)

1 709
–

25 890
–

(53 097)
26 033

1 589 870
(1 338 150)

141 959
1 508
(55 350)

109 226
(116)
(89 957)

1 709
(34)
(3 116)

25 890
64 917
(30 796)

(27 064)
(64 917)
27 064

251 720
1 358
(152 155)

Operating profit
Interest received
Interest paid

88 117
817
(3 880)

19 153
10
(9 210)

(1 441)
6 355
(1 960)

60 011
23 200
(6 873)

(64 917)
(29 378)
–

100 923
1 004
(21 923)

Profit/(loss) before
income tax

85 054

9 953

2 954

76 338

(94 295)

80 004

Depreciation and amortisation
(Loss)/gain on sale of assets

(36 520)
(49)

(12 681)
(70)

Total assets

712 584

225 284

99 454

381 801

(399 154)

(600 548)

(219 112)

(91 629)

(61 467)

337 848

Revenue
External customers
Inter-segment
Total revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income/(expense)
Operating expenses

Total liabilities

(73)
(35)

(28)
–

–
–

(49 302)
(154)
1 019 969
(634 908)

Revenue
External customers
Inter-segment

557 278
38 298

1 116 958
–

136
1 859

–
25 602

–
(65 759)

1 674 372
–

Total revenue
Cost of sales

595 576
(498 026)

1 116 958
(994 607)

1 995
(393)

25 602
–

(65 759)
38 298

1 674 372
(1 454 728)

Gross profit
Other (expenses)/income
Operating expenses

97 550
1 163
(53 165)

122 351
465
(100 633)

1 602
647
(2 363)

25 602
(22)
(46 960)

(27 461)
–
27 461

219 644
2 253
(175 660)

Operating profit
Interest received
Interest paid

45 548
907
(10 727)

22 183
2 971
(17 002)

(114)
5 227
(6 585)

(21 380)
28 259
(12 204)

–
(35 776)
35 776

46 237
1 588
(10 742)

Profit/(loss) before
income tax

35 728

8 152

(1 472)

(5 325)

–

37 083

Depreciation and amortisation
Gain/(loss) on sale of assets

(48 769)
(43)

(11 950)
100

(168)
661

(3)
(22)

–
–

(60 890)
696

Total assets

502 962

318 772

166 342

357 191

(522 025)

823 242

Total liabilities

(444 853)

(289 296)

(120 671)

(169 831)

481 230

(543 421)

Investment
holding

Inter-segment
eliminations

Consolidated
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Trading

2015

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Mining

Property
rental and
other

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Trading

2016

Investment
holding

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

Mining

Property
rental and
other

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Segments results and reporting is presented below:
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Shareholders
Wescoal Holdings Limited
Analysis of Ordinary Shareholders as at 31 March 2016
Number of
shareholdings

% of total
shareholdings

Number of
shares

% of issued
capital

1 – 1 000
1 001 – 10 000
10 001 – 100 000
100 001 – 1 000 000
Over 1 000 000

553
1 183
632
89
27

22.26
47.62
25.44
3.58
1.09

228 743
5 727 659
19 142 981
27 353 265
185 080 930

0.10
2.41
8.06
11.52
77.92

Total

2 484

100.00

237 533 578

100.00

Number of
shareholdings

% of total
shareholdings

Number of
shares

% of issued
capital

Close corporations
Collective investment schemes
Custodians
Foundations and charitable funds
Hedge funds
Investment partnerships
Managed funds
Private companies
Public companies
Retail shareholders
Share schemes
Stockbrokers and nominees
Trusts
Unclaimed scrip

32
3
1
4
3
11
1
38
1
2 305
1
4
79
1

1.29
0.12
0.04
0.16
0.12
0.44
0.04
1.53
0.04
92.79
0.04
0.16
3.18
0.04

2 837 238
10 279 750
6 655
500 020
4 059 803
88 663
500 000
55 833 411
97
134 243 067
12 774 000
3 062 058
13 348 815
1

1.19
4.33
0.00
0.21
1.71
0.04
0.21
23.51
0.00
56.52
5.38
1.29
5.62
0.00

Total

2 484

100.00

237 533 578

100.00

Number of
shareholdings

% of total
shareholdings

Number of
shares

% of issued
capital

Non-public shareholders
Directors and associates of the company and its subsidiaries*

7
6

0.28
0.24

59 307 892
46 533 892

24.97
19.59

Directors and associates (Direct holding)
Directors and associates (Indirect holding)

6
0

0.24
0.00

46 533 892
–

19.59
0.00

Wescoal Share Incentive Trust
Public shareholders

1
2 477

0.04
99.72

12 774 000
178 225 686

5.38
75.03

Total

2 484

100.00

237 533 578

100.00

Shareholder Spread

Distribution of Shareholders

Shareholder type

* Excludes shares held in Share Incentive Trust.
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Clucas Gray Investment Management

8 270 003

3.48

Total

8 270 003

3.48

Number of
shares

% of issued
capital

44 547 450
30 303 030
13 782 269
12 774 000
8 355 937
8 270 003

18.75
12.76
5.80
5.38
3.52
3.48

118 032 689

49.69

Beneficial shareholders with a holding greater than 3% of the
issued shares
Mr Muthanyi Robinson Ramaite
Simeka Capital Holdings Proprietary Limited
Mr Eric Thuthukani Mzimela
Wescoal Share Incentive Trust
Mr Andre Russell Boje
Clucas Gray Investment Management
Total
Total number of shareholdings

2 484

Total number of shares in issue

237 533 578
PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Share price performance
Opening price 1 April 2015
Closing price 31 March 2016
Closing high for peroid
Closing low for peroid

Non-public breakdown

R1.95
R1.53
R2.14
R0.73
237 533 578
47 388 602
19.95
62 661 903
29
3
–
363 426 374
Holding

%

Directors of the company or any of its subsidiaries

1
1

44 547 450
30 303 030

18.75%
12.76%

1

74 850 480

31.51%

SHAREHOLDER
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Beneficial holders > 10%
MR Ramaite
Simeka Capital Holdings Proprietary Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Number of shares in issue
Volume traded during period
Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%)
Rand value traded during the period
Price/earnings ratio as at 31 March 2016
Earnings yield as at 31 March 2016
Dividend yield as at 31 March 2016
Market capitalisation at 31 March 2016

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

% of issued
capital

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Number of
shares

Fund managers with a holding greater than 3% of the issued shares
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Shareholders (continued)
Count
Director

31 March 2016

27 March 2015

D

I

Direct

Indirect

Direct

Indirect

MR Ramaite
JG Pansegrouw
T van Gaalen
W Sulaiman
K Maroga
I van der Walt
H Mathe

1
0
0
1
0
1
0

0
2
0
0
0
0
0

44 547 450
–
–
1 020 000
–
170 000
–

–
2 040 000
–
–
–
–
–

41 592 520
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
2 040 000
–
–
–
–
–

M du Plessis (Resigned)
A Boje (Resigned)

1
1

0
1

–
–

–
–

25 000
8 058 977

–
3 237 000

5

3

45 737 450

2 040 000

49 676 497

5 277 000

Count
Empowerment holding
Empowerment Holding

Wescoal Share Incentive Trust

27 March 2015

D

I

Direct

Indirect

Direct

Indirect

7

0

97 120 581

–

63 274 789

–

Count
Share schemes

31 March 2016

31 March 2016

27 March 2015

D

I

Direct

Indirect

Direct

Indirect

1

0

12 774 000

–

12 774 000

–

Wescoal defines stakeholders as groups, people, organisations or communities that have a direct interest in the businesses of Wescoal.
Details of the Group’s key stakeholders, the type of engagement, material issues and actions taken are provided on page 30.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

In this Integrated Annual Report, unless the context indicates to the contrary, the following expressions bear the meanings assigned to
them below:
AGM
Annual General Meeting
AMCU
Association of Mine Workers and Construction Union
API#4
Benchmark price reference for coal exported out of Richards Bay
Atlantis
Atlantis Coal Estate CC
BCEA
Basic Conditions of Employment Act
BEE
Black Economic Empowerment
Blanford
Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited
CEO
Chief Executive Officer
Chandler
Chandler Coal Proprietary Limited
CSDP
Central Securities Depository Participant
CSI
Corporate Social Investment
DMR
Department of Mineral Resources
DWS
Department of Water Affairs and Sanitation
EE
Employment Equity
Operational EBITDA
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation excluding Profit on sale of assets
Elandspruit
Elandspruit 291 JS, Portions 4 and 23
EXCO
Executive Committee
Express
Express Technology CC
GTIS
gross tons in situ
IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards
Intibane
Intibane Mine/Colliery
IT
Information Technology
JSE
Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited
Khanyisa
Khanyisa Mine/Colliery
King III
King Code of Governance Principles and King Report on Governance
LTI
Lost Time Injury
LTIFR
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
FIF
Fatal Injury Frequency
MacPhail
MacPhail Distributors Proprietary Limited
Mineral Recoveries
Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited
MoI
Memorandum of Incorporation
MTIS
Minable tons in situ
mtpa
Million tons per annum
NUM
National Union of Mineworkers
Proudafrique
Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited
PwC
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.
Quattro
Quattro Coal Export Scheme – a 200 000 ton per annum allocation through RBCT
Razorbill
Razorbill Properties 269 Proprietary Limited
RBCT
Richards Bay Coal Terminal
REMCO
Remuneration and Nominations Committee
ROM
Run of Mine
SAMREC
South African Code for Reporting Results, Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserves
SHE
Safety Health and Environment
SHEQ
Safety, Health, Environment and Quality
SLA
Service Level Agreement
Wescoal, the Group, WHL or
Wescoal Holdings Limited
the Company
Wescoal Mining
Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited
Wescoal Trading
Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited
WPP
Waterberg Portion Property Proprietary
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of shareholders of Wescoal will be held at the Company’s registered
offices, First Floor, Building 10, Woodmead Business Park, 142 Western Service Road, Woodmead, on Wednesday, 9 November 2016
at 10:00.

Presentation of the annual financial statements
The consolidated annual financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, incorporating the reports of the auditors, the Audit
and Risk Committee and the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2016, have been distributed as required and will be presented
to shareholders as required in terms of section 30(3) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”).
The purpose of the meeting is to propose the following special and ordinary resolutions:

Ordinary resolutions
Ordinary resolution number 1:
“To re-elect, by separate ordinary resolution, the following Directors who retire by rotation in accordance with the Company’s
memorandum of incorporation (“MoI”):
1.1 Mr. RM Ramaite
1.2 Dr. MH Mathe.”

Note:

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Re-election of Directors

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

The record date on which members must be recorded as such in the register maintained by the transfer secretaries of the Company for
the purposes of being entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is 10:00 on Friday, 4 November 2016. All meeting participants will be
required to provide identification reasonably satisfactory to the Chairman of the meeting.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

WESCOAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2005/006913/06)
(JSE Share code: WSL ISIN: ZAE000069639)
(“Wescoal” or “the Company”)

GROUP OVERVIEW
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The retiring Directors are eligible and offer themselves for re-election. Brief biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 17 of
the integrated annual report issued to shareholders and which forms part of this notice to shareholders.

Ordinary resolution number 2:
“To elect, by separate ordinary resolution, the following Directors who have been appointed by the board of directors since the last
annual general meeting:
2.1 Mr. Thiva Tshithavhane
2.2 Mr. Bothwell Mazarura.”

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Not less than fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) (majority vote) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the
meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be adopted.

Note:

Not less than fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) (majority vote) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the
meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be adopted.

SHAREHOLDER
INFORMATION
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Brief biographical details of the directors are set out on page 17 of the integrated annual report issued to shareholders and which forms
part of this notice to shareholders.
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Notice of annual general meeting (continued)
Ordinary resolution number 3:
Appointment of Audit and Risk Committee members
“To confirm, by way of separate ordinary resolutions, the appointment of the following non-executive Directors as members of the Audit
and Risk Committee for the year ending 31 March 2017:
3.1 Mr JG Pansegrouw
3.2 Ms KM Maroga
3.3 Ms DMT van Gaalen.”

Note:
In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, a public company must at each AGM elect an Audit Committee comprising at least
three members who are non-executive Directors and who meet the criteria of section 94(4) of the Companies Act. Brief biographical
details of each of these Directors are set out on page 17 of the integrated annual report.
Not less than fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) (majority vote) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the
meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.

Ordinary resolution number 4:
Appointment of external auditors
“To re-appoint, on recommendation of the Audit and Risk Committee, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as independent auditors to the
Company for the ensuing year.”

Note:
Not less than fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) (majority vote) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the
meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.

Ordinary resolution number 5:
Control of authorised but unissued share capital
“Resolved that the unissued ordinary shares in the authorised share capital of the Company be hereby placed under the control of
the Directors of the Company as a general authority to them in order to allot and issue the same at their discretion in terms of the
Company’s MoI and the JSE Listings Requirements.”

Note:
Not less than fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) (majority vote) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the
meeting must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.

Ordinary resolution number 6:
Remuneration policy
“To endorse, through a non-binding advisory note, and to ascertain the shareholder’s view on the Company’s remuneration policy and its
implementation. A summary of the policy is set out on pages 36 to 39 of the integrated annual report.”

Note:
Not less than fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) (majority vote) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the
meeting must be cast in favour of the resolution for it to be approved.
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Ordinary resolution number 7:
General authority to issue shares for cash
“Resolved that, subject to:
1. The passing of ordinary resolution numbered 5 above; and
2.	No less than 75% of the shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote at the meeting vote in favour of this
resolution;

•

That this authority shall not extend beyond fifteen months from the date of this meeting, or the date of the next Annual General
Meeting, whichever is the earlier date;

•
•

The issue shall be to public shareholders as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not to related parties;

•

That issues in the aggregate in any financial year not exceed 15% of the number of shares of the Company’s issued share capital,
being an equivalent of 33 713 936 ordinary shares (excluding 12 774 000 treasury shares) as at the date of this notice of AGM;

That a paid press release, giving all the details, including the impact on net asset value, net tangible asset value and earnings per
share, be published at the time of any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within one year, 5% or more of the number of
ordinary shares issued prior to the issue;

general authority;

–– In the event of a sub-division or consolidation of issued securities during the period of this general authority, the general authority
must be adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio;

•

The equity securities which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this not the case, must
be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into a class already in issue; and

•

That in determining the price at which an issue for shares will be made in terms of this authority, the maximum discount permitted
be 10% of the weighted average traded price of the shares over thirty business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is in
writing between the issuer and the party subscribing for the securities.”

Non-executive Directors’ remuneration
“Resolved, as a special resolution, that the remuneration of the non-executive Directors until the next AGM be as follows:

2016

2017

23 760
11 880

26 000
13 000

17 820
11 880

20 000
13 000

17 820
11 880

20 000
13 000

17 820
11 880

20 000
13 000

20 000
10 000
15 000

20 000
10 000
15 000
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Fees in Rand

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

Special resolution number 1:

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

–– Any securities issued in terms of this general authority must be deducted from the initial number of securities available under this

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

The Directors are hereby authorised and empowered, by way of a general authority, to allot and issue for cash, without restriction, all or
any of the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company placed under their control as they in their discretion
may deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the Company’s MoI and the provisions of the JSE Listings Requirements, namely:

Type of fees (per meeting)
Board
As Chairman
As Member
Audit and Risk Committee
As Chairman
As Member
Remuneration and Nominations Committee
As Chairman
As Member
Social and Ethics Committee
As Chairman
As Member
Monthly retainer to non-executive Directors
As chairman
As member
Lead independent director

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Notice of annual general meeting (continued)
The reason and effect of this special resolution is to obtain shareholder approval for the remuneration payable to non-executive directors
during the current financial year and until such time as amended by shareholders by way of a special resolution.”

Note:
Not less than seventy five percent (75%) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the meeting must be cast
in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.

Special resolution number 2:
Financial assistance
Background to special resolution number 2
The reason for special resolution number 2 is that the Company does advance loans to subsidiaries and other related companies in its
group. Given that these loans constitute financial assistance for purposes of the Companies Act, shareholders are required to pass special
resolution number 2 to approve the Company advancing such financial assistance. The effect of special resolution number 2 is that the
Company will be authorised to advance loans and provide security to companies in its group, subject to the board meeting the solvency
and liquidity tests and subject further to the financial assistance falling within the category of assistance mentioned in sub-paragraph (c)
of special resolution number 2.
“Resolved that, as a special resolution, in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of the Companies Act, shareholders of the Company hereby
approve of the company providing, at any time during the period of 2 (two) years from the date of passing this special resolution, any
direct or indirect financial assistance as contemplated in section 45 of the Companies Act to any 1 (one) or more related or inter-related
companies or corporations of the Company and/or to any 1 (one) or more members of any such related or inter-related company or
corporation and/or to any 1 (one) or more persons related to any such company or corporation, provided that:
a.	the recipient or recipients of such financial assistance, the form, nature and extent of such financial assistance and the terms and
conditions under which such financial assistance is to be provided, are determined by the board from time to time;
b.	the board may not authorise the Company to provide any financial assistance pursuant to this special resolution unless the board
meets all the requirements of section 45 of the Companies Act which it is required to meet in order to authorise the Company to
provide such financial assistance; and
c. 	such financial assistance to a recipient is, in the opinion of the board, required for the purpose of:
i.

meeting all or any of such recipient’s operating expenses (including capital expenditure); and/or

ii. funding the growth, expansion, reorganisation or restructuring of the businesses or operations of such recipient; and/or
iii.	funding such recipient for any other purpose which, in the opinion of the board, is directly or indirectly in the interests of the
Company.”

Note:
Not less than seventy five percent (75%) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the meeting must be cast
in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.

Special resolution number 3:
General approval to repurchase Company shares
“Resolved, as a special resolution, that shareholders hereby approve, as a general approval, the acquisition by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries from time to time of the issued shares of the Company, upon such terms and conditions and in such amounts as the
directors of the Company may from time to time determine, but subject to the Mol, the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE
Listings Requirements, and provided that the acquisitions by the Company and its subsidiaries of shares in the capital of the Company
may not, in the aggregate, exceed in any one financial year twenty percent (20%) of the Company’s issued share capital of the shares
acquired from the date of the granting of this approval.”

Note:
Not less than seventy five percent (75%) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the meeting must be cast
in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.
Additional requirements imposed by the JSE Listings Requirements
It is recorded that the Company or its subsidiaries may only make a general acquisition of shares if the following JSE Listings
Requirements are met:
a.	Any such acquisition of shares shall be affected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done without any
prior understanding or arrangement between the Company or its subsidiaries and the counterparty, or other manner approved by
the JSE;
b. 	The general approval shall only be valid until the Company’s next AGM or for fifteen (15) months from the date of passing of this
special resolution, whichever period is shorter;
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d. 	In determining the price at which the Company’s shares are acquired by the Company or its subsidiaries in terms if this general
approval, the maximum price at which such shares may be acquired may not be greater than ten percent (10%) above the weighted
average of the market value at which such shares are traded on the JSE, as determined over the five (5) business days immediately
preceding the date of the acquisition of such shares by the Company or its subsidiaries;

f. 	A resolution by the Board of Directors of the Company that they authorised the repurchase, that the Company passed the solvency
and liquidity test and that since the test was done there have been no material changes to the financial position of the Group; and
g. 	The Company and/or its subsidiaries may not repurchase any shares in terms of this authority during a prohibited period, as defined
in the JSE Listings Requirements, unless the Company and/or its subsidiaries has in place a repurchase programme, where dates and
quantities of shares to be traded during the prohibited period are fixed and full details of the programme have been disclosed to the
JSE prior to the commencement of the prohibited period.

Statement by the Board of Directors of the Company

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

e.	In the case of a derivative (as contemplated in the JSE Listings Requirements), the price of the derivative shall be subject to the
limitations set out in paragraph 5.84(a) of the JSE Listings Requirements;

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

c. 	A paid press announcement will be published as soon as the Company and/or its subsidiaries has/have acquired shares in terms of
this authority constituting, on a cumulative basis, three percent (3%) of the number of shares of the class of shares acquired in issue
at the time of granting of this general approval and for each three percent (3%) in aggregate of the initial number of that class of
shares acquired thereafter, which announcement shall contain full details of such acquisitions as required by paragraph 11.27 of the
JSE Listings Requirements;

GROUP OVERVIEW
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Pursuant to, and in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the Board of Directors of the Company hereby states that:

b.	In determining the method by which the Company intends to repurchase its securities, the maximum number of securities to be
repurchased and the date on which such repurchase will take place, the Directors of the Company will only make repurchases if, at
the time, they are of the opinion that:

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

a. 	The intention of the Directors of the Company is to utilise the general authority to acquire shares in the capital of the Company if,
at some future date, the cash resources of the Company are in excess of its requirements or there are other good grounds for doing
so. In this regard the Directors will take account of, inter alia, an appropriate capitalisation structure for the Company, the long-term
cash needs of the Company and the interests of the Company;

b.1.	The Company and its subsidiaries will, after the repurchase, be able to pay their debts as they become due in the ordinary course
of business for the twelve (12) month period following the date of this notice of AGM;

b.3. 	The issued share capital and the reserves of the Company and its subsidiaries will, after the repurchase, be adequate for the
ordinary business purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries for the 12 (twelve) month period following the date of this
notice of AGM; and
b.4. 	The working capital available to the Company and its subsidiaries will, after the repurchase, be adequate for the ordinary
business requirements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the twelve (12) month period following the date of this notice of
AGM.

Note:
Not less than seventy-five percent (75%) majority of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the meeting
must be cast in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The reason and effect of this special resolution is to grant the Company a general authority in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements
for the acquisition, by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, of shares issued by the Company, which authority shall be valid until the
earlier of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the variation or revocation of such general authority by special resolution
by any subsequent General Meeting of the Company, provided that the general authority shall only be valid until the Company’s next
Annual General Meeting, or for fifteen (15) months from the date of passing of this special resolution, whichever period is shorter. The
passing of this special resolution will have the effect of authorising the Company and/or its subsidiaries to acquire shares issued by the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

b.2. 	The consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, fairly valued and recognised and measured in accordance with the
accounting policies used in the latest audited financial statements, will, after the repurchase, be in excess of the consolidated
liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries for the twelve (12) month period following the date of this notice of AGM;

Special resolution number 4:
“Resolved, as a special resolution, that the existing MoI of the Company be substituted in its entirety and replaced with a new MoI as
tabled at the AGM and initialled by the Chairman of the AGM for the purposes of identification, with effect from the date of filing of
the notice of amendment with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission.”
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Shareholders (continued)
Note:
Not less than seventy five percent (75%) of the votes cast by shareholders present and represented by proxy at the meeting must be cast
in favour of this resolution for it to be approved.
The MoI will be available for inspection during normal business hours at the registered office of the Company from the date of this
notice of AGM up to and including the date of the AGM and will also be available on Wescoal’s website,
www.wescoal.com/downloads/2016/shareholder-approval-(2016).pdf
The MoI has been approved by the JSE.

Voting, proxies and attendance at the shareholders meetings
Shareholders who hold their shares in certified form or who are own-name registered shareholders holding their shares in dematerialised
form and who are unable to attend the AGM but wish to be represented thereat, are required to complete and return the attached form
of proxy, which must be received by the Company’s registrars by not later than 10:00 on Monday, 7 November 2016.

Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through a central
securities depository
A participant (CSDP) or broker, other than by own-name registration, who wish to attend the meeting should instruct their CSDP or
broker to issue them with the necessary letter of representation to attend the meeting, in terms of the custody agreement entered into
between such shareholder and their CSDP or broker. Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker, other
than by own-name registration, who wish to vote by way of a proxy, should provide their CSDP or broker with voting instruction, in
terms of the custody agreement entered into between such shareholders and their CSDP or broker. These instructions must be provided
to their CSDP or broker by the cut-off or date advised by their CSDP or broker for instructions of this nature.
Shareholders who have any doubt as to action they should take should consult their CSDP, broker, accountant, attorney, banker or other
professional adviser immediately.
By order of the Board
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WESCOAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2005/006913/06)
(JSE Share code: WSL ISIN: ZAE000069639)
(“Wescoal” or “the Company”)
Form of proxy for the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 10:00 on Wednesday, 9 November 2016 at the registered
office of the Company at First floor, Building 10, Woodmead Business Park, 142 Western Services Road, Woodmead, Gauteng, South
Africa (the meeting) and is for use by registered shareholders whose shares are registered in their own names on the record date of the
meeting, being Friday, 4 November 2016.
of (address)
Telephone (work) 		

(home) 

being the holder/s of 		

ordinary shares in the Company, do hereby appoint

1) 

or failing him/her

2) 

or failing him/her

3) The Chairperson of the Annual General Meeting.

Number of votes on a poll
(one vote per ordinary share)
In favour

Against

Abstain

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REVIEW

To pass ordinary resolutions:
1. To re-elect the following directors:
1.1 Mr. RM Ramaite
1.2 Dr MH Mathe
2. To elect the following directors:
2.1 Mr T. Tshithavhane
2.2 Mr B. Mazarura
3. Appointment of Audit Committee members:
3.1 Mr JG Pansegrouw
3.2 Ms KM Maroga
3.3 Ms DMT van Gaalen
4. Re-appointment of external auditors
5. Control of authorised but unissued share capital
6. Remuneration policy
7. General issue of shares for cash
To pass special resolutions:
1. Non-executive Directors’ remuneration
2. Financial assistance to all related and inter-related companies
3. General approval to repurchase Company shares
4. Adoption of new MoI

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

(Indicate instruction to proxy by way of a cross in the space provided above)
Unless otherwise instructed, my/our proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.
Signed at

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

As my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company which will be held for the
purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, of passing, with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed
thereat and at any adjournment thereof, and to vote in favour of and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of
the ordinary shares registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions. (see notes):

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

I/We (name in block letters) 

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

(for use by certificated shareholders and own-name dematerialised shareholders only)

GROUP OVERVIEW
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on 

2016

day of 

2016

Signature
Please read the notes hereafter.
Dated this
Signature
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Notes to form of proxy
This form of proxy will not be effective at the meeting, unless received at the Company’s transfer office, Computershare Investor Services
(Pty) Ltd, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, by no later than 10:00 on, Monday, 7 November 2016.
If a shareholder does not wish to deliver this form of proxy to that address, it may also be posted, at the risk of the shareholder, to
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107.
This form is for use by registered shareholders who wish to appoint another person (a proxy) to represent them at the meeting. If duly
authorised, companies and other corporate bodies who are registered shareholders may appoint a proxy using this form, or may appoint
a representative in accordance with paragraph 12 below. Other shareholders should not use this form. All beneficial shareholders who
have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instruction. Alternatively,
if they wish to attend the meeting in person, they should request the CSDP or broker to provide them with a letter of representation in
terms of the custody agreement entered into between the beneficial shareholder and the CSDP or broker.
This proxy shall apply to all ordinary shares registered in the name of the shareholder who signs this form of proxy at the record date,
unless a lesser number of shares is inserted.
A shareholder may appoint one person of his own choice as his proxy by inserting the name of such proxy in the space provided. Any
such proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. The shareholder may insert the name(s) of one or more proxies (none of whom
need be a Company shareholder) in the space provided, with or without deleting the words “the Chairperson of the Annual General
Meeting of the ordinary shareholders”. The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and has not been deleted and who is
present at the Annual General Meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. In the event that
no names are indicated, the proxy shall be exercised by the Chairperson.
Unless revoked, the appointment of a proxy in terms of this form of proxy remains valid until the end of the meeting, even if the meeting
or part thereof is postponed or adjourned.
If:

•
•
•
•

a shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that the proxy is to vote in favour of or against or to abstain from voting on any
resolution; or
The shareholder gives contradictory instructions in relation to any matter; or
Any additional resolution/s are properly put before the meeting; or
Any resolution listed in the form of proxy is modified or amended;

The proxy shall be entitled to vote or abstain from voting, as he thinks fit, in relation to that resolution or matter. If, however, the
shareholder has provided further written instructions which accompany this form and which indicate how the proxy should vote or
abstain from voting in any of the circumstances referred to in 6.1 to 6.4 above, the proxy shall comply with those instructions.
If this proxy is signed by a person (signatory) on behalf of the shareholder, whether in terms of a power of attorney or otherwise, this
form of proxy will not be effective, unless:
• It is accompanied by a certified copy of the authority given by the shareholder to the signatory; or
• The Company has already received a certified copy of that authority.
The Chairman of the meeting may, in his discretion, accept or reject any form of proxy or other written appointment of a proxy which is
received by the Chairman prior to the time when the meeting deals with a resolution or matter to which the appointment of the proxy
relates, even if that appointment of a proxy has not been completed and/or received in accordance with these instructions. However,
the Chairman shall not accept any such appointment of a proxy, unless the Chairman is satisfied that it reflects the intention of the
shareholder appointing the proxy.
Any alternations made in this form of proxy must be initialled by authorised signatory/ies.
This proxy form is revoked if the shareholder who granted the proxy:
Gives written notice of such revocation to the Company, so that it is received by the Company by not later than 10:00 on Monday,
7 November 2016; or
Subsequently appoints another proxy for the meeting; or
Attends the meeting himself in person.
All notices which a shareholder is entitled to receive in relation to the Company shall continue to be sent to that shareholder and shall
not to be sent to the proxy.
If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies who are shareholders of the Company having shares registered in their own
names may, instead of completing this form of proxy, appoint a representative to represent them and exercise all of their rights at the
meeting by giving written notice of the appointment of that representative. That notice will not be effective at the meeting, unless it is
accompanied by a duly certified copy of the resolution/s or other authorities in terms of which that representative is appointed and is
received at the Company’s transfer office, Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, by no later than
10:00 on, Monday, 7 November 2016. If a shareholder does not wish to deliver the notice to that address, it may also be posted, at the
risk of the shareholder, to Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107.
The completion and lodging of this form of proxy does not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual General
Meeting and speaking and voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed by the shareholder.
The Chairman of the Annual General Meeting may accept or reject any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than
in accordance with these instructions, provided that he shall not accept a proxy, unless he is satisfied as to the manner in which a
shareholder wishes to vote.
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